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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

A summary of the financial performance and other notable BEZZT_"F+"B=+—HILFEZH
events for the year ended 31 December 2022 include: BEEMEREMBEEZS4EE

A loss attributable to shareholders of the Company
of approximately US$36.43 million, which was mainly
attributable to: (i) a total amortisation charge of
approximately US$24.95 million on the intangible assets,
being a non-cash item; (ii] the Group’s operating and
R&D expenses of approximately US$6.02 million; and
liii] a realised and an unrealised marked-to-market loss
in respect of the Company’'s equity portfolio of FAFVPL
of approximately US$3.78 million and US$0.35 million,
respectively.

Shareholders’ equity was approximately US$2.60 million as
at 31 December 2022, a decrease of approximately 93.30%
as compared with that as at 31 December 2021, with the
decrease being mainly attributable to the loss attributable
to shareholders of the Company. Post year-end and the
completion of the Set Off and Rights Issue, the Company’s
shareholders’ equity increased by approximately US$21.67
million.

In respect of the progress being made with
Senstend™ in the PRC, of the three drug trials
that Wanbang Biopharmaceutical registered in
December 2021 with the Centre of Drug Evaluation
(http://www.chinadrugtrials.org.cn/clinicaltrials.searchlist.dhtml),
the two Phase 1 studies and the Phase 3 RCT were
completed. The Company, its regulatory consultant and
Wanbang Biopharmaceutical have commenced the
preparatory phase for preparing the NDA to NMPA with the
aim of submitting the NDA during Q3 2023 (provided that
the RCT meets its endpoints). If the NDA is submitted and
the NMPA grants an import licence for Senstend™> US$5
million (before deduction of PRC withholding tax] will be
payable to the Group from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical.
In addition, upon first commercial sale of Senstend™ in
China, US$2 million (before deduction of PRC withholding
tax) shall be payable to the Group from Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical.
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In respect of the progress being made with Fortacin™ in the
US, the Company’s clinical research organisation completed
the Phase 3 study protocol and held a “Type C" meeting
with the FDA for the product development of Fortacin™ e
Following positive feedback from that meeting, a roadmap
was set out with the requirements for submitting the NDA
with the team working towards in first the instance the
signing of a special protocol assessment with the FDA in
Q2 2023 followed by the commencement of the Phase 3
studies.

In respect of Europe, our European commercial partner
engaged with an alternative European third-party
manufacturer for manufacturing Fortacin™ over the last
18 months to source alternative commercial supply for
Fortacin™. In this respect, our European commercial
partner submitted a type Il variation to the EMA for adding
the European manufacturer to the marketing dossier as an
alternative manufacturer, which was approved by the EMA
in Q3 2022. The alternative manufacturer started production
in December 2022, with the first two batches being released
to our European commercial partner in February 2023
for Germany and ltaly. We remain hopeful that this new
manufacturer will be able to offer continuous supply of
Fortacin™ to our European commercial partner and our
other commercial strategic partners bringing in royalty
revenue for the Group.

From a business development standpoint, the Group has
continued to implement and integrate Deep Longevity,
acquired in December 2020, with our existing business.
Deep Longevity is continuing its growth journey with
multiple initiatives around building out the team, product,
technology and commercial models. During the year, Deep
Longevity Limited ("DLL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Deep Longevity, has taken the significant step of hiring
a new and experienced CEQ, Deepankar (Deep) Nayak,
to redefine the strategy of the company, and take the
organisation forward. Deep Longevity is committed to
building and commercialising various aging clocks using its
Al led deep learning models.

Pursuant to the Group's stated divestment strategy and,
should the need arise, pursuant to its disposal mandate
obtained from the Shareholders on 14 March 2022, the
Group will divest its remaining shareholding in DVP post
year end. The Group's investment in DVP had a realised
and an unrealised marked-to-market loss of approximately
US$3.78 million and US$0.36 million respectively for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and a marked-to-market
value of approximately US$1.08 million as at 31 December
2022.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Post year end, the Company recapitalised its consolidated
statement of financial position, leaving it debt free by setting
off the then shareholder’s loans together with the accrued loan
interest in aggregate of approximately US$14.84 million from the
Rights Issue that was completed on 12 January 2023 through
the issuance of 2,166,571,194 new shares. The Company has
raised sufficient working capital to achieve its short-term plan
for its business development and operations for the next 12
months. The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the
Set Off and expenses) were approximately US$21.67 million and
the net proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the Set Off and
after deducting expenses of approximately US$0.80 million) were
approximately US$20.87 million.

During 2022 and post year end, the world returned to normality
allowing our business to resume normal operations and
consequently the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided and no
longer had a material impact on our businesses [(including the
Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong].

We are of course monitoring the evolving human tragedy in
Ukraine, where at the moment we are not experiencing any
impact to our business. The Group is also continually monitoring
the sanction measures applied by the European Union, the
UK and the US to ensure we comply with the sanction orders.
However, this is clearly difficult to predict exactly what will
happen as events unfold, the impact of the escalation of conflict
in the region on our business and that of our partner. | would say,
pharmaceuticals from what we've seen historically, is a more
resilient business, than many others, it is typically a sector that is
protected from sanctions, obviously from the interest of patients.
As previously mentioned, we understand that our European
commercial partner does not have any manufacturing facilities
in the conflict area and is not reliant on those markets for supply
into other regions. Of course, the first thought at times like this is
towards the safety and well-being of the Ukrainian people.

With a streamlined focus and a debt free balance sheet, the
Company remains excited about the future prospects for the
Group and the Shareholders and will: (i) continue to pursue the
successful commercialisation of Fortacin™/Senstend™ in the
remaining key markets of the US, China, Asia, Latin America
and the Middle East; (i) commercialise our software as a
service (SaaS)® platform (SenoClock)® and MindAge® offering,
together with partnering with clinics, laboratories and insurance
companies by offering its AgeMetric™ reports and access to its
online platform; and (i) continue with its existing strategy of
pursuing strategic and value-led investments in the healthcare
and life sciences sectors.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders

As we entered 2022, the world was returning to normality as
countries eased the restrictions that resulted from the COVID-19
pandemic. However, the war in Ukraine has presented other
challenges as higher costs (especially the prices of commodities)
and high inflation stoked a cost-of-living crisis within the
European Union, the UK and other developed nations, whereby
these countries are expected to enter into a recession in 2023.
Overall 2022 was a challenging, but rewarding year for the Group
as we achieved a number of significant events during the year.

During the year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to
shareholders of the Company of approximately US$36.43 million,
which was mainly attributable to: (i} a total amortisation charge of
approximately US$24.95 million on the intangible assets, being a
non-cash item; and [ii] the Group’s operating and R&D expenses
of approximately US$6.02 million; and [iii) a realised and an
unrealised marked-to-market loss in respect of the Company’s
equity portfolio of FAFVPL of approximately US$3.78 million and
US$0.35 million, respectively.

With the completion of the Set Off and Rights Issue in January
2023 that was partially underwritten by Galloway, it has increased
my total direct and indirect shareholding to approximately
57.70%, resulted in the Company increasing its shareholders’
equity to approximately US$21.67 million and strengthened the
consolidated statement of financial position leaving it debt free.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EEHRS

The Group’s healthcare and life sciences investments remain
our core focus and the Group believes that investments in this
sector will create substantial returns for our shareholders in the
medium to longer term. As part of this focus, we have worked
diligently to further strengthen our relationships with our key
commercial partners and stakeholders in this sector and, in
2022, | am pleased to report that our team, together with our
commercial partners, made significant progress in this respect
per the following achievements:

e Wanbang Biopharmaceutical has confirmed that it has
completed the randomisation of 295 subjects (10 more
subjects than initially targeted) into the Phase 3 study, with
the last subject having completed treatment at the end of
January 2023. The clinical research organisation is now
collecting all the data and will lock the data base, with the
initial data being made available in early Q2 2023. Based on
Wanbang Biopharmaceutical's timeline, it remains on target
to submit the NDA during Q3 2023 with approval expected
12 months later (depending on the response received
from the NMPA with respect to any deficiencies in the
submission).

J Further progress was made with our US NDA, whereby a
Zoom meeting was held with the FDA where a roadmap was
agreed on the items and steps required to submit the NDA.
The team is working diligently on executing the roadmap.

e  The welcome return to the resumption of manufacturing
and supply of Fortacin™ in Europe, which will in turn lead
to the Group receiving royalty income from its European
commercial partner.

J Launch of SenoClock® by DLI, the longevity's first software

as a service (SaaS)® platform for aging clocks with its first
customers signed up.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

From a business development standpoint, during 2022, the
Group continued to look closely at a number of acquisition and
investment opportunities in the healthcare, life sciences and
wellness sectors, including how best to integrate and further
identify and execute commercialisation opportunities in respect
of Deep Longevity's patented technology to help identify individual
biological aging markers.

The Group has continued to implement and integrate Deep
Longevity, acquired in December 2020, with our existing business.
Deep Longevity is continuing its growth journey with multiple
initiatives around building out the team, product, technology
and commercial models. During the year, we brought on board
Deepankar (Deep) Nayak, to redefine the strategy of the company,
and take the organisation forward. Deep Longevity is committed
to building and commercialising various aging clocks using its Al
led deep learning models.

The past year has been one of intense build and development for
DLI. In-line with its previously outlined strategy of focusing on
its business-to-business ("B2B"] operation, it built SenoClock®,
the longevity industry’s first SaaS® platform for aging clocks.
SenoClock® has been launched with DLI's Blood Age clock.
DLI's efforts will continue as it brings additional aging clocks
into the SaaS® platform, including MindAge®, its mental health
application.

Business development efforts continue as we strive to drive
revenue growth by connecting with various industries, primarily
providers, insurers, software & apps makers, and governments.

OTHER EXISTING INVESTMENTS AND
ACHIEVEMENTS

During the year we sold down our investment in DVP and post
year end we will sell the balance of our shares.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EEHRS

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, with the Hong Kong Government's latest
measures to lift COVID-19 restrictions including quarantine-free
travel and the world returning to normality post the COVID-19
pandemic, we are now more positive on the economic outlook
for our region than we were heading into 2022. However, the war
in Ukraine will continue to impact the European and UK region
in particular with higher costs and inflation having a negative
impact on households but as we start 2023 we are seeing signs
that the economies in the US, the UK and the European Union are
showing unexpected signs of resilience with some economists
saying that we should expect a mild recession while inflationary
pressures should moderate by year end.

With resumption of the manufacturing of Fortacin™ in Europe
and the resupply to our European commercial partner, we
are now more hopeful that the royalty income will
exponential growth from 2023 and beyond. Regarding Senstend™
in China, we are working hard with our commercial partner

experience

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical who are aiming to submit the NDA
to NMPA in Q3 2023. And the same goes for the US, where we
continue to advance our NDA and more importantly have an
agreed roadmap with the FDA for its submission. Both these
NDAs if approved will be game changers for the Group.

We are excited about DLI with the launch of SenoClock® in late
2022 as it has managed to sign its first customers and will
importantly expand its product offering in 2023, with introduction
of MindAge® to its SaaS® platform.

With a streamlined focus, the Company remains optimistic about
the future prospects for the Group and the Shareholders with a
continued emphasis on driving business forward across its key
operating divisions.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our Shareholders for
their continued support and our employees for their hard work in
another challenging but rewarding year.

James Mellon
Chairman

29 March 2023

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

7354

BRERK > BEEBHNFECH2019ERKER
B IBRB N RMIEN SR REIRIT A2
20198 R mBREIBRIRELES  HBLLEE
AR THF RMEMENKE BRI RERLE

B-AM ErMlBFREELEEMNKEE
e CHENALARSEBREEREM
TEEXE BERZTE=F9 KMAEIE
B~ SR R BRER YA BRI R Z SN B E)
M BN EBEERAREENRERFFERRS
BN BERRE NN EEARKAPIEM -

BEE Fortacin™BUM TR 18 &£ B S B BUM i 2
BHMEHRE BMPEEMNERERAEZ
T FREKERHIVE R - #Senstend™
RAENERAE HMETEFERHIIE
BRBEZ ) IS HRBEFEINIZE =
FE-FENBERELEEEERRERINE
s MERNERBLO BRMEEIEENE
B PRAEENEHERNERAEREEE
IERMBREER T BAAB L H - R EIERS
HEER A EAEETREARE

BMEDLIN ZEZ ZFR#EHSenoClock®
B £ H i EEE —#HaEmEr &
EENERN _ZE_=FRBAERHE &
MindAge®5| A HSaaSOF & o

BIERBENER ARARAHAEERKREAR
RARFEFERTEERAREBAIEE
EEFIHEE

FTANEAREZTE BORERRZFTES
ForREE T E—ER AR RERZ FE
USRI PER/NSIE Ok

ZE

James Mellon

TET=F=A"+hH



MAIN ACTIVITIES

We report a loss of approximately US$36.43 million, mainly
due to a large amortisation charge of approximately US$24.95
million on the intangible assets, being non-cash items, the
Group's operating and R&D expenses of approximately US$6.02
million and a realised and an unrealised marked-to-market
loss in respect of the Company’s equity portfolio of FAFVPL of
approximately US$3.78 million and US$0.35 million, respectively.

The financial year ended 31 December 2022 was another
challenging one for the Group, together with the global economy,
being dominated by the continuing impact and uncertainty
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. However, during the latter of
half of 2022 and post year end, we are delighted to see that the
world has returned to more normality allowing businesses to
resume normal operations.

In this respect, | am very proud to report that the Group was able
to achieve a number of significant events. | will report further
on these achievements below. Post completion of the Set Off
and Rights Issue, we remain very optimistic about the direction
the business is taking and in our ability to generate value for
Shareholders going forward.

Shareholders’ equity decreased to approximately US$2.60 million
as at 31 December 2022, a decrease of approximately 93.30% as
compared with that as at 31 December 2021, with the decrease
being mainly attributable to the loss attributable to shareholders
of the Company. Post completion of the Rights Issue in January
2023, shareholders’ equity increased to approximately US$24.27
million, an increase of approximately 833.46%.

US APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS

By way of background, we set out below key data points of the US
regulatory pathway for submission of the NDA:

On 22 December 2021, the Company submitted the Phase 2
study results entitled: “A Pilot, Randomized, Double-Blind Study
Comparing the Proportion of Responders to PSD502 and Placebo
Using the PEBEQ™ in Subjects with Premature Ejaculation” to
the FDA.

On 13 April 2022, the FDA provided Plethora with advice/
information request regarding the Final Qualitative Exit Interview
Report entitled "Qualitative Exit Interviews in a Randomized,
Double-Blind Multicentre Study Comparing the Proportion of
Responders to PSD502 and to Placebo Using the PEBEQ™
in Subjects with Premature Ejaculation” and Psychometric
Evaluation of the PEBEQ™ - ITEM 3 (event - specific bother).
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CEO’S REPORT
ITHARRIERS

US APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS (conTinuED)

On 2 June 2022, Plethora submitted a fulsome response to the
FDA's information request.

On 21 September 2022, Plethora and the FDA participated in a
teleconference. Plethora requested the FDA's feedback regarding
their proposed Phase 3 registration study for Fortacin™.

On 20 December 2022, Plethora submitted a “Type C" meeting
request to gain feedback on its exit interview protocol and
interview guide.

On 22 February 2023, FDA provided Plethora with written
responses to its “Type C” meeting request regarding its exit
interview protocol and interview guide, which was received 5 days
ahead of schedule.

Plethora is working with its regulatory consultants to incorporate
all the FDA's recommendations/suggestions to submit its reply by
the end of March 2023,

Plethora, at the time of submitting its updated exit interview
protocol and interview guide, will request a special protocol
assessment ("SPA”), which is the pathway discussed and
agreed forward with the FDA at its teleconference meeting of 21
September 2022. By way of background information, an SPA is a
process in which Sponsors (e.g. Plethora) may ask to meet with
the FDA to reach agreement on the design and size of its Phase 3
study. An SPA agreement indicates concurrence by FDA with the
adequacy and acceptability of specific critical elements of overall
protocol design [e.g., entry criteria, dose selection, endpoints,
and planned analyses) for a study intended to support a future
marketing application. These elements are critical to ensuring
that the trial conducted under the protocol can be considered an
adequate and well-controlled study that can support marketing
approval. Feedback on these issues provides the greatest benefit
to sponsors in planning late-phase development strategy.
However, an SPA agreement does not indicate FDA concurrence
on every protocol detail. The existence of an SPA agreement does
not guarantee that FDA will file (accept] a NDA, or that the trial
results will be adequate to support approval. Those issues are
addressed during the review of a submitted application and are
determined based on the adequacy of the overall submission.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

REBNEMREXCER @

W __F/;xA_H"’Plethoral X 7T H=E
HeakEREBEERERNAXRNE2HEMD
jjgc

RIEZZ_FAB-+—H>’Plethorak=
HEeRrEREBSEER2 M T BEEE -
PlethoraZREFBERMAELRGEEEERME
M Fortacin™E = BB ARt R o

RZEBE__F+_B_+H’Plethoraig® s
CE GEBE R UENBMAERBBMSE
K iBR1E5 | B R BB o

RIEZ=F"B-_+-H =EAERKEHR
EEEIERREFBFRIZAISAMPlethoralg it
THETCE F&ARNER LB S R RSB
ESINEBBE -

Plethora ETEEHHEBEEBM&SF MAZHE
mkEREEEERNMERES, AR UE
TE T F-ARARREE

PlethorafE IR X E M BB oA /5 B K A
1551 BERETIHHR AT (RHHRAR
) EERNZ®2 A AZ+—HNE
EEE T AEE R EREEEERTHR
THENRE - BEEEEE BHAHETE
BEFEA (FlEPlethora) AJREEREEFH B M
REGEBEEERTEUMES RN
Rt RAREE R R VBRI A B
BRPEEEAMAELEEEERAEER
STRAREHEANAITNRRE SRR
HERRBESR FIMEAZE HSEE K
R E D) MRS MRAESH ZEE
EHRHERRBRESZETHABITUEES
O FEHHFUNTED BEFIRFHMAREE
MEZ HZEMENKEBEAEREARE B
MEHRRERTRANER AM FHAR
FEpEE AR TNEAER A EREEERE
BREIEAZNSEME 5% A KT hiBEN
BHEUEFEREZEELMMEREEEER
TRX B HERD IaAREREUSE
o o B BEEETRINEABIABEER
Fo MIRIEEBIRXNTE D MHEE



US APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS (conTinuED)

For more information shareholders and potential investors can
visit the link https://www.fda.gov/media/97618/download to
understand the SPA process.

Plethora now has a roadmap for submission of the NDA that was
agreed with the FDA on the teleconference of 21 September 2022
on the items required to submit the NDA. The next steps of that
roadmap are submission of the revised exit interview protocol and
guide followed by a request for SPA on the design and size of the
Phase 3 studies.

Once the SPA and exit interview protocol have been agreed
with the FDA, Plethora will request an end-of-phase 2 (EOP?2)
meeting ahead of starting the Phase 3 studies. We estimate that
these studies will commence in the latter half of 2023, but this is
dependent on the completion of the steps mentioned above.

Overall, we view our dialogue with the FDA and the agreed
roadmap for submission of the NDA as a major positive
development in the Company's path for the commercialisation
of Fortacin™ in the US. In particular, the signing of the SPA with
the FDA should allow the Company to advance negotiations to
a final conclusion in respect of “out licencing” the US rights to
Fortacin™ to a US strategic pharmaceutical partner.

CHINESE APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical has confirmed that it has completed
the randomisation of 295 subjects (10 more subjects than initially
targeted) into the Phase 3 study, with the last subject having
completed treatment at the end of January 2023. The clinical
research organisation is now collecting all the data and will
lock the data base, with the initial data being made available in
early Q2 2023. Based on Wanbang Biopharmaceutical's timeline,
it remains on target to submit the NDA during Q3 2023 with
approval expected 12 months later ([depending on the response
received from the NMPA with respect to any deficiencies in the
submission).
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CHINESE APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS (conTinuED)

A brief summary of the key points of the study are:

Registration of study:
FEoHR

Estimated enrolment:

fhET2HEHE !

Primary endpoint:

Secondary endpoint:
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NMPA submission:
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Phase 3 clinical trial, multi-centre, randomised, double-blinded
placebo controlled study
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295 subjects [enrolment completed)
295BATRH R (T2 )

To determine the effects of Senstend™ on the Index of Premature
Ejaculation and the Intra-vaginal Ejaculation Latency Time
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To evaluate the safety and tolerability of Senstend™ in Premature
Ejaculation subjects and their sexual partners
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Q32023
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All costs of the clinical trials, including all other associated
regulatory and submission costs are being met by Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical. If the clinical study meets its endpoints and
the NMPA grants an import licence for Senstend™, US$5 million
(before deduction of PRC withholding tax) will be payable to the
Group from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical. In addition, upon first
commercial sale of Senstend™ in China, US$2 million (before
deduction of PRC withholding tax]) shall be payable to the Group
from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical. To this end, the Company
remains pleased with the progress to date and looks forward
to working together with Wanbang Biopharmaceutical and its
regulatory consultant to achieving these important milestones.
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MANUFACTURING AND RESUMPTION OF
COMMERCIAL SUPPLY

Our European commercial partner received approval from
the EMA on 15 September 2022 for adding an alternative
European manufacturer to the dossier. Following this approval,
our European commercial partner has received its first two
commercial batches of Fortacin™ in February 2023 for sale in
Germany and Italy. We expect sales will also continue in its other
key European markets as supply is resumed over the course of
2023. Our European commercial partner has also submitted the
same Fortacin™ dossier to the MHRA in the UK for the European
manufacturer to be approved as a third-party manufacturer. Our
European commercial partner expects to receive approval from
MHRA by the end of Q1 2023. And once MHRA has approved
the alternative manufacturer, Plethora will submit the same
dossier for Senstend™ [the marketing name for Fortacin™ in
China) to MHRA so that Wanbang Biopharmaceutical can add the
alternative manufacturer to its dossier for submitting the NDA in
China.

We are hopeful that this new manufacturer will be able to offer
continuous supply of Fortacin™ to our commercial strategic
partners bringing in royalty revenue for the Group.

OTHER TERRITORIES

Now that commercial supply has been resumed, our
other commercial partners are at their liberty to negotiate
manufacturing and supply agreements with the alternative
European manufacturer, which we expect will take place shortly.

In Q2 2022, our Israeli commercial partner submitted its
marketing authorisation to the Ministry of Health in Israel and
it is hopeful that it will receive approval by the of Q4 2023. The
Company, its regulatory consultant and our Israeli partner are
now preparing the marketing authorisation for certain countries
in the Balkan region.
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OTHER TERRITORIES (conTINUED)

The Group is in discussions for “out licencing” the rights to
Fortacin™ to (i) a Japanese pharmaceutical company for Japan,
(i) a pharmaceutical company based in the United Arab Emirates
for the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC] region (Saudi Arabia,
Kuwait, the United Arab Emirates, Qatar, Bahrain and Oman) and
(iii) a pharmaceutical company in South Korea.

The Group will continue to work closely and diligently with its
current and prospective commercial partners and will keep
the Shareholders and potential investors informed of any new
developments as and when they occur.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT - DEEP LONGEVITY

Deep Longevity is continuing its growth journey with multiple
initiatives around building out the team, product, technology
and commercial models. During the year, DLL, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Deep Longevity, has taken the significant
step of hiring a new and experienced CEO, Deepankar (Deep)
Nayak, to redefine the strategy of the company, and take the
organisation forward. Deep Longevity is committed to building
and commercialising various aging clocks using its Al led deep
learning models.

The past year has been one of intense build and development for
DLI. In-line with its previously outlined strategy of focusing on
B2B operation, it built SenoClock®, the longevity industry’s first
SaaSe platform for aging clocks. SenoClock® has been launched
with DLI's Blood Age clock. DLI's efforts will continue as it
brings additional aging clocks into the SaaS® platform, including
MindAge®, its mental health application.

Business development efforts continue as we strive to drive
revenue growth by connecting with various industries, primarily
providers, insurers, software & apps makers, and governments.

DLI has decided to delay building its Mind Age app, choosing
to see if we can engage with employers using the Mind Age
clock first, as a white label technology, before it forays into
the expensive and intense activity of building a mental health
application. DLI's technology can be embedded inside existing
employee/customer applications and journeys with minimal up-
front cost.
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DETAILS OF KEY DEVELOPMENTS

1.

SENOCLOCK® SAAS PLATFORM

We are proud to share that DLI has built the industry’s
first SaaS® platform offering aging clocks as a service.
SenoClock® will be home to all Deep Longevity's aging
clocks. DLI has launched SenoClock® with our industry
leading Blood Age clock. The next clock will be our Mind
Age clock that will be made available in Q1 2023.

The SenoClock® platform provides us with an opportunity
to rapidly demo our technology and drive adoption within
providers but also beyond to insurers and employers who
might end up using our technology through application
programming interfaces (APIs] or other methods.

Landing Page: https://www.deeplongevity.com/senoclock

Launch video & demo:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=e46EXIgY7L]0

INSURANCE INDUSTRY PURSUIT

The insurance industry is ripe for transformation, and DLI
believes its Blood Age and Psychological Aging clocks can
help with underwriting as well as preventative health that is
a crucial aspect for the life and health industry.

Additionally, it appears the insurance industry is creating
its own ecosystem to offer value added health services to
customers directly or to employers. Deep Longevity's aging
clocks will sit nicely in such an environment, and we are
exploring those possibilities.

DLI partnered with House of Insurtech of Switzerland
("HITs"), the innovation and start-up incubator arm of
Generali, Europe’s leading insurance company, to pilot
FuturSelf in Europe. This project was a success and we had
about 30,000 users registering for the service with hardly
any marketing resources spent.
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DETAILS OF KEY DEVELOPMENTS (conTiNUED)

2.

INSURANCE INDUSTRY PURSUIT (Continued)

The next step is to explore with HITS if we can apply this
technology in a controlled environment with their employees
or customers as a mental health intervention.

The FuturSelf project tested our Mind Age clock. DLI
learnt a lot about its model and are using this information
to upgrade the model and commercialize it with other
customers.

CUSTOMER ADOPTION

We are now bringing on customers who are positive about
our technology. The technology that DLI is deploying is
nascent and with every customer deployment we are
learning about our limitations and how to overcome them to
get better. This is how SaaS®© evolves DLI feels vindicated in
our strategy through these iterations.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

DLI is looking to use SenoClock® to drive adoption
with the provider community who can download blood
summary reports at the click of a button. Population health
management discussions with governments can be a game
changer for DLI bringing the large volumes it is seeking.

There are several health-oriented apps and platforms that
are consumer focused and have thousands of users. DLI
aims to partner with them to provide our technology in a
white-labelled fashion and enhance their existing customer

journeys.

RESEARCH & PUBLIC RELATION ACTIVITIES

DLI remains active in selecting academic collaborations to
stay relevant, build new aging clocks, prove the efficacy of
its technology in a longitudinal setting and validate its aging
clocks.

DLI recently published two research papers that have been
very popular, helping reinforce its reputation and brand in
the market.

In partnership with Nancy Etcoff from Harvard
University, DLI published its research on FuturSelf -
https://www.aging-us.com/article/204061/text.
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DETAILS OF KEY DEVELOPMENTS (conTiNUED)

5. RESEARCH & PUBLIC RELATION ACTIVITIES (Continued)

DLI's most popular research until now was the paper
that showed poor psychological state accelerates
pace of aging more than smoking. This was
published in collaboration with Stanford University -
https://www.aging-us.com/article/204264.

These initiatives help build the brand in a sustainable
manner that is not driven by marketing but rather by
content.

6. PARTNERSHIP DISCUSSIONS

DLI is building its Microbiomic aging clock in collaboration
with a commercial partner in Australia. Next, DLI aims to
create a Transcriptomic clock in collaboration with a leading
multinational company.

7. TECHNOLOGY UPDATE

DLI took its first steps in shifting its technology stack
towards a hybrid programming approach where it will
maintain a single code base for all our deployments.
SenoClock® is a cloud first, SaaS® platform built on a
highly scalable architecture capable of serving hundreds of
enterprises all over the world.

LEGACY INVESTMENTS

Pursuant to the Group’'s stated divestment strategy and, should
the need arise, pursuant to its disposal mandate obtained from
the Shareholders’ approval on 14 March 2022, the Group will
divest its remaining shareholding in DVP post year end. The
Group's investment in DVP had a realised and an unrealised
loss of approximately US$3.78 million and US$0.36 million
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2022 and a marked-
to-market value of approximately US$1.08 million as at 31
December 2022.

PLETHORA'S FINANCIAL RESULTS

Plethora recorded an operating loss of approximately GBP 0.67
million (or approximately US$0.83 million) for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: an operating profit of approximately GBP
0.68 million (or approximately US$0.94 million)), excluding the
amortization cost of an intangible asset, Fortacin™, and the tax
credit in respect of the deferred tax liability.
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PLETHORA'S FINANCIAL RESULTS (continueD)

The operating loss of Plethora for the year ended 31 December
2022, mainly included: (i) the milestone and royalty income of
approximately GBP 28,000 (or approximately US$35,000] (2021:
approximately GBP 2.37 million (or approximately US$3.25
million) which being offset by: (i}l R&D costs related to the
regulatory and phase 2 validation study in respect of the FDA
approval process of Fortacin™ in the US of approximately
GBP 0.46 million (or approximately US$0.57 million) (2021:
approximately GBP 1.36 million (or approximately US$1.87
million)) and (i) GRA expenses of approximately GBP 0.25 million
(or approximately US$0.30 million) (2021: approximately GBP 0.40
million (or approximately US$0.55 million)).

Plethora had cash resources of approximately GBP 37,000 (or
approximately US$44,000) for the year ended 31 December
2022 (31 December 2021: approximately GBP 122,000 (or
approximately US$166,000]), with ongoing financial support being
provided by the Group.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, with the Hong Kong Government's latest
measures to lift COVID-19 restrictions including quarantine-free
travel and the world returning to normality post the COVID-19
pandemic, we are now more positive on the economic outlook for
our region than we were heading into 2022. However, the war in
Ukraine will continue to impact the European and the UK region
in particular with higher costs and inflation having a negative
impact on households but as we start 2023 we are seeing signs
that the economies in the US, the UK and the European Union are
showing unexpected signs of resilience with some economists
saying that we should expect a mild recession while inflationary
pressures should moderate by year end.

With resumption of the manufacturing of Fortacin™ in Europe
and the resupply to our European commercial partner we
are now hopeful that the royalty income will experience
exponential growth from 2023. Regarding Senstend™ in China,
we are working hard with our commercial partner Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical who is aiming to submit the NDA to NMPA
in Q3 2023. And the same goes for the US, where we continue to
advance our NDA and more importantly have an agreed roadmap
with the FDA for its submission. Both these NDAs if approved
offer game changers for the Group.
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OUTLOOK (coNTINUED)

We are excited about DLI with the launch of SenoClock® in late
2022 as it has managed to sign its first customers and will
importantly expand its product offering in 2023.

With a streamlined focus, the Company remains optimistic about
the future prospects for the Group and the Shareholders with a
continued emphasis on driving business forward across its key
operating divisions.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our shareholders for
their continued support and our employees for their hard work in
another challenging, but rewarding year.

REVENUE AND PROFIT, FINANCIAL POSITION AND
STRATEGY PLAN, FUNDING AND GEARING RATIO

A fair review and/or analysis of the Group’s revenue and profit,
financial position, strategy plan, funding and gearing ratio are set
out in the "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” in this annual report.

Jamie Gibson
CEO

29 March 2023
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERTHRS

The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
and the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Financial
Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding, and the
Group’s principal activities consist of investments in biopharma
companies and other corporate investments. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 37 to the Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on
pages 139 to 140.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil]. No interim
dividends were paid for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).

The Board will evaluate its dividend policy and distributions
made in any particular year in light of its financial position, the
prevailing economic climate and expectations about the future
macro-economic environment and business performance and
may adopt changes as appropriate. Details of the dividend
policy are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of the
2022 Annual Report.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be
held on Thursday, 1 June 2023. For determining the entitlement
to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 29 May 2023 to Thursday,
1 June 2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to
attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar and the transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 25 May 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHE

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY IFEMBHE

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the AEBAFERBENEMBFEZXER
current year and the last four financial years (extracted from the HEHLBRHE  NHERBEEZYHTERE
audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate) are W EBEEME/HRDENMT ¢

set out below:

Results: 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ES B B T T-NE ZEF-N\F
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000

FEr FER FER FE7 FER

Total revenue and fair value BRAKRERTA

gain/(loss) on AREE

financial instruments W, (F518) (4,020) 18,235 2,149 (313) 2,843
Revenue less expenses before WA R,

reversal/(impairment losses) (REBE &

and provision BHERIZZH (34,995) (13,873 (24,880] (38,114) (33,971)
Reversal of impairment B = = 6,126 - -
Impairment losses HERBE - - (5,700) (26,000) -
Operating loss after #D/ (REBE &

reversal/limpairment loss) BErzEERSE

and provision (34,995) (13,873) (24,454) (64,114) (33,971)
Finance costs &R A (1,013) (1,218) (1,706) (620) -
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—EBE T2

Wan - - - - 209

Share of results of associates RIS A 2 24 - = = S S
Loss before taxation PRI AN S 1R (36,008) (15,091) (26,160) (64,734) (33,762)
(Taxation)/Tax credit (RE\ MR R (419) 2,493 1,764 (1,265) 2,669
Loss for the year REERE (36,427) (12,598) (24,396 (65,999) (31,093
Non-controlling interests el g - - 1 (49) 6
Loss attributable to shareholders KRB EREMLEE

of the Company (36,427) (12,598) (24,395) (66,048) (31,087)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTHE

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (conTINUED) IFEMBHEE ®
Assets and liabilities: 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
BEREE: - B ZEZE “ZE-hE —N&E
US$'000 USs$’000 USs$’'000 US$’000 US$’000
FEr FE=7w FE=r FE=7w F=71
Property, plant and equipment U E WY E 303 784 1,208 397 77
Intangible assets B EE 23,702 48,654 72,418 83,037 137,084
Interests in associates MENEER 1 1 1 1 1
Financial assets at fair value through A RBEFTAEM
other comprehensive income 2ABAZEREE - - - - 282
Available-for-sale financial assets AR ESREE - =
Current assets TMEEE 2,312 12,790 6,683 2,846 7318
Total assets BEHSE 26,318 62,229 80,310 86,281 144,762
Current liabilities nEas (18,316) (10,923) (9,105) (7,967 (4,487)
Non-current liabilities FERBER (5,405) (12,537) (20,900} (15,810 (13,708)
Total Liabilities EEERICEE] (23,721) (23,460 (30,005) (23,777) (18,195)
Net assets BEFE 2,597 38,769 50,305 62,504 126,567
BUSINESS REVIEW E¥%[O1EE
A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a AEBEFRNEHFHNATEIE - REBFRE

discussion and analysis of the Group’s business development and
performance during the year and any significant events since the
end of the financial year, the principal risks and uncertainties that
the Group maybe facing, an analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators, the
material factors underlying the results and financial position,
and the likely future development of the business of the Group
“CEQ’s Report”,
and "Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” of the 2022 Annual Report. The financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in

are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”,

note 30 to the Financial Statements.

Discussions on the Group's environmental and social policies
and performance, relationships with its key stakeholders and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group are set out in the "Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” and the “Corporate Governance
Report” of the 2022 Annual Report.

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT

BERRRRENI#REDOMURBMBEE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (conTinueD)

The Group has complied in all material aspects with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
operations of the Group. Policies and practices are regularly
reviewed to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and
regulations, in particular, those with significant impact on the
Group.

The Group believes that Directors, senior management and
employees are instrumental to the success of the Group. The
Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by the Company for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants who contributed to the success of the Group. The
Group also provides a safe and pleasant working environment
and facilitates trainings for career development of employees
to encourage improvement. To value the health and well-being
of employees, the Group also provides employees with medical
insurance benefits.

The Group also believes that maintaining good relationships with
key stakeholders including customers and suppliers is one of the
key contributors to the success of its businesses. The Group is
satisfied that a stable and long-term relationships with a number
of key customers and suppliers is maintained.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set
out in "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” of the 2022 Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set out
in note 37 to the Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the Financial
Statements.

GOODWILL

Goodwill of the Group was fully impaired in prior years.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTHE

SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS

There was no movement in the authorised share capital of
the Company during the year. Details of the authorised issued
share capital, Convertible Notes and Options of the Company
for the year are set out in notes 20, 24 and 35 to the Financial
Statements.

(1)

Share capital

As at 1 January 2022, the total issued ordinary share capital
of the Company consisted of 2,399,421,215 Shares.

On 14 July 2022, the Company issued and allotted 926,666
new Shares under general mandate by way of consideration
for consulting services under the relevant consulting
agreements to two consultants, namely Dr Eric Verdin,
MD and Dr Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD for the entire term of
services, subject to certain vesting conditions. Full details
are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 14 July
2021 and 26 July 2021 and note 35(2) to the Financial
Statements.

On 12 January 2023, the Company issued and allotted
2,166,571,194 new Shares under the Rights Issue by way of
rights on the basis of one (1) rights share for every one (1)
existing share at the subscription price pursuant to the
prospectus documents. Full details are disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 26 September 2022,
17 October 2022, 31 October 2022, 24 November 2022,
3 January 2023 and 11 January 2023, the circular dated 31
October 2022 and the prospectus dated 13 December 2022
respectively and note 35(2) to the Financial Statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the total issued ordinary share
capital of the Company consisted of 2,400,347,881 Shares.
Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2022 and prior
to the date of this report, the total issued ordinary share
capital of the Company consisted of 4,566,919,075 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended
31 December 2022 and prior to the date of this report, there
were no changes in the authorised share capital of the
Company and no Shares were repurchased by the Company.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnuED)

(2)

Convertible Notes

As detailed in the announcement and shareholders’ circular
issued by the Company on 29 May 2019 and 11 July 2019
respectively, the announcement issued on 23 August 2019
on the updates and note 24 to the Financial Statements,
on 23 August 2019, the Company issued and allotted 4%
coupon unlisted convertible notes due 2022 in the principal
amount, in aggregate, of US$6.45 million, as reduced
(being the “Convertible Note(s)”
to the Financial Statements), pursuant to two conditional
subscription agreements entered into by the Company on
29 May 2019 with various subscribers (including certain
Directors) (being the “Subscription Agreement(s)” referred
to in note 24 to the Financial Statements).

referred on in note 24

The Convertible Notes were convertible into a maximum of
265,163,294 new Shares as at 23 August 2019 (assuming
that all Convertible Notes were converted on the maturity
date (being 23 August 2022) and that any and all
that would accrue was capitalised] at the conversion
price of HK$0.2125 per share, representing approximately

interest

14.43% of the then issued share capital of the Company
and approximately 12.61% of the issued share capital of the
Company as to be enlarged by the issue and allotment of
the said maximum number of new shares.

As at 1 January 2022, the maximum number of new
Shares to be issued and allotted upon full conversion
of the Convertible Notes (assuming that all Convertible
Notes were converted on the maturity date and that any
and all interest that would accrue was capitalised for
the remaining period from 1 January 2020 to 23 August
2022) was 103,677,159 Shares, representing approximately
4.32% of the then issued share capital of the Company
and approximately 4.14% of the issued share capital of the
Company as to be enlarged by the issue and allotment of
the said maximum number of new Shares.
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EFTHE

SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnUED)

(2)

(3)

Convertible Notes (Continued)

Prior to the maturity of the Convertible Notes on 23 August
2022, the maximum number of new Shares to be issued
and allotted upon full conversion of the Convertible Notes
in the principal amount, in aggregate, of US$2.65 million
(assuming that all Convertible Notes were converted on
the maturity date and that any and all interest that would
accrue was capitalised on the maturity date) was 99,786,335
Shares, representing approximately 4.16% of the then
issued share capital of the Company and approximately
3.99% of the issued share capital of the Company as to be
enlarged by the issue and allotment of the said maximum
number of new Shares.

The Convertible Notes (principals and accrued interests) of
the Company due in the amount of approximately US$2.72
million (or approximately HK$21.35 million) were fully
repaid by the Company on 23 August 2022. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, none of the Convertible Notes
were converted into Shares.

Further details of the Convertible Note(s) are disclosed
at note 24 to the Financial Statements. Details of the
Subscription Agreements and the principal terms of the
Convertible Notes were set out in the shareholders’ circular
issued on 11 July 2019 with updates in the announcement
dated 23 August 2019, a summary of which is set out in note
24 to the Financial Statements.

Share Option Scheme (2016)

The Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by the
Company on 10 June 2016, followed by the grant of listing
status of Shares to be granted under the Scheme by the
Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 10 June 2076.
The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Options to be granted under the Scheme
shall not exceed 173,725,118 Shares, representing 10% of
the total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company
at the date of adoption of the Scheme, being 10 June 2016.
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing from 10 June 2016 and will
on 9 June 2026. The Company has no other share option
scheme currently in force.

expire

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

A TR EERBRE @
(2) ATRERE @
REIBMBEERN _ZSZ__4F/)\A

(3)

—+=H |Hﬁﬁu N&HARE 2,650,000
ENZ2BRRERTHEREBE TE
TREZEZHRMHEHE LR (BRERA#
CEBEREAATHERBENRESER
2R RE2HEFNEHXHEREL) &
99,786,335 10 G AR AB ERF B 31T
BEA44.16% » AR AR 3897 R B 8% 4L
RIDEE LRMEFBBAZEALABEE
1TREA#93.99% ©

AABHBPZABRBRER (KE R
FEStHFB) 82,720, 0009%-75 (&
21,350,000 ERZEZZ2FN\A
Z+ZHHEARBATZHEE - REE
TE T _HF+ZA=+—HLEE
mO MR EREIR ARG

BJRBIBOVE D SF BN M B REM
FE2LPINE - RBW R ZF B R AR
EREZIBHRRENR _ZE-NEFLA
T—BFEZRFER LR BEHRS

E—NENBZ+=B2Z2MHHE
o HEE SR M B A 5240

BRiEsE (C2—70)

ERESEH (ZCE—XR)Bax23R
:g—ﬁEﬁH+EH% ) 7 B R PR
EmEZEEER —NERB+HHEE
HIRBETE R FERLRMD 2 EHMALo
RFBHERTFTREZMEBRERTE
BOEETZRNBE LIRFEESE
173,725,118 iz 17 > BN A2 8 i 5T &I %
MEREP=ZE /\fﬁ/\ﬁ+5) BE1T
ERRAMZ10% stRIK B - —RF
Aﬁ+5tﬁ+imﬁﬁﬂﬁ&$ﬂf
MRRRZEZRERAABEmR AR
B BRIt mE M R 2 RS E o

\_7



SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnuED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the Company with
a flexible means of either retaining, incentivising, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to
the eligible participants (including Directors, executives,
employees, consultants and service providers of the Group).
The Scheme may, at the discretion of the Directors, be used
in conjunction with any cash-based compensation, incentive
compensation or bonus plan. Please refer to note 23 to the
interim financial report of the 2022 Interim Report and note
35 to the Financial Statements for further details of the
Scheme.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Options to be granted under the Scheme,
when aggregated with any Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of Options to be granted under other
schemes of the Company, shall not exceed 10% of the total
issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at the
commencement date of the Scheme (or such proportion
of the issued share capital of the Company as from time
to time specified in the Listing Rules). Accordingly, the
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Options to be granted under the Scheme
shall not exceed 173,725,118 Shares, being:

(] 10% of the total issued Shares as at the
commencement date of the Scheme (being 10 June
2016);

(i) 7.24% and 3.80% of the total issued Shares as
at 31 December 2022 and the date of this report
respectively; and

(i) 6.75% and 3.66% of the enlarged issued Shares as
at 31 December 2022 and the date of this report
respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnUED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

The number of Options available for grant under the
Scheme as at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and the
date of this report was 94,507,118 Options, 107,507,118
Options and 107,718,677 Options respectively.

The Company may seek Shareholders’ approval at a general
meeting for “refreshing” the 10% limit under the Scheme
and subject to the requirements as specified in the Listing
Rules from time to time.

The number of Shares issued or issuable upon exercise of
the Options granted to any individual eligible participant
(including both exercised and outstanding Options) in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
proposed offer of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue, subject to the restrictions on grants to the
Directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders or
their associates of the Company as set out in the Listing
Rules.

Each grant of Options to any of the Directors, chief executive
or substantial shareholders of the Company, or any of
their respective associates, under the Scheme must be
approved by the INEDs (excluding the INED(s) who is/are
the grantee(s) of the Option(s)). Where any grant of Options
to a substantial shareholder or an INED, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all Options already granted
and to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of the proposed offer of such
grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares
in issue such further grant of Options must be subject to
Shareholders” approval in the manner set out in the Listing
Rules.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnuED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

No individual participants were granted with Options in
respect of an aggregate number of Shares which was in
excess of the 1% individual limit referred to in the Listing
Rules at any time during the year ended 31 December 2022
or prior to the date of the 2022 Annual Report.

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned for a period
of 28 days inclusive of and from the date on which such
offer is made to that eligible participant or such shorter
period as the Directors may in their absolute discretion
determine. An offer which remains capable of acceptance
shall be deemed to have been accepted upon the date when
the duly completed and signed form of acceptance together
with a remittance for HK$10, being the consideration for
the grant thereof, are received by the Company. The Option
shall, following such acceptance, be deemed to have been
granted and to have taken effect on the date of offer.

The vesting period for Options shall not be less than
12 months. Options granted under the Scheme entitle
the holders to exercise one-third of the Option at each
of the first, second and third anniversary dates after the
date of grant, whether or not subject to fulfilment of the
various targets as specified in the offer letters in relation
to the grant of the Options, provided that the Option holder
remains as an eligible participant. Any entitlements
unexercised in any prior period may be carried forward to
the following periods but, in any event, must be exercised
within 10 years from the date of offer of the relevant Option.
All entitlements of the Option then remain unexercised will
lapse.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnUED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

The exercise price is to be determined by the Directors
at their absolute discretion when the Option is offered,
provided that in no event shall such price be at least the
highest of:

(] the nominal amount of the Shares;

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
offer, which must be a business day; and

liii)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of
offer.

As at 31 December 2022, there were 66,218,000 Options
outstanding, representing approximately 2.76% of the then
issued share capital of the Company and approximately
2.68% of the issued share capital of the Company as to be
enlarged by the issue and allotment of the said number of
new Shares upon full exercise of the outstanding Options.

All Options granted are not subject to fulfilment of
performance targets, except for the 18,000,000 Options
granted to an employee, formerly a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group at the time of the grant, that
those share options are exercisable after one year but not
exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant and subject
to fulfilment of the various targets. The first exercise date of
one-third of the options granted is after the first anniversary
date of the date of grant, provided that the FDA has
approved the start of the Phase 3 clinical trial for Fortacin™.
The second exercise date of one-third of the options granted
is after an “out-licencing deal” for the United States has
been signed and announced. The third exercise date of one-
third of the options granted is on the successful completion
of Study 008 (defined to mean it meets its primary and
secondary end points) and the FDA has granted the new
drug approval for Fortacin™.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnuED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

After the financial year ended 31 December 2022, on
12 January 2023, the Company completed the Rights Issue.
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Scheme and
the Listing Rules, the subscription prices on the exercise of
the Options and/or number of Shares related to the Options
under the Scheme have been adjusted immediately after
the completion of the Rights Issue. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 11 January
2023.

As a result of the Rights Issue, the Company has
calculated the necessary adjustments (the “"Share
Options Adjustment’) to the exercise prices of, and the
number of Shares falling to be issued upon exercise of,
the outstanding Options in accordance with the relevant
terms of the Scheme, Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules,
the Supplementary Guidance on Main Board Listing Rule
17.03(13) and the Note Immediately After the Rule attached
to the Frequently Asked Question No. 072-2020 issued by
the Stock Exchange on 6 November 2020.

Immediate upon the Share Options Adjustment, there were
66,006,441 Options outstanding, representing approximately
1.45% of the then issued share capital of the Company
and approximately 1.42% of the issued share capital of the
Company as to be enlarged by the issue and allotment of
the said number of new Shares upon full exercise of the
outstanding Options after adjustment.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnUED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Details of the Share Options Adjustment, which took effect
from 12 January 2023, being the date on which the fully-
paid Rights Shares were allotted and issued, are set out
below and disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 January 2023:
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BREREEE - ZE_=F—HF+_H
B ERmEREAEERETZH)
AR HBHNN T RIFEREA
BHRA S =F—A+—HHNAMH:

Immediately before Completion Immediately after Completion
of the Rights Issue of the Rights Issue
SR SRR E

Adjusted number

Number of Shares of Shares to be
to be issued upon Exercise price issued upon  Adjusted exercise
exercise of the per Share exercise of the price per Share
Date of grant Expiry date Options (HKS) Options (HK$)
RiTERRE ki RiTERRE slgik{n
) M FETZ TR R F & RRBEE
it A fEim A8 k¥ E (Bm)  SRERGHE (A7)
14.10.2020 30.04.2023 6,000,000 0.149 5,980,831 0.150
14.10.2020 13.10.2030 39,718,000 0.149 39,991,105 0.150
17.12.2020 16.12.2030 18,000,000 0.183 17,942,492 0.184
07.06.2021 06.06.2031 2,500,000 0.185 2,492,013 0.186

66,218,000 66,006,441

Save for the above adjustments, all other terms and
conditions of the outstanding Options granted under the
Scheme remain unchanged.

The Company’'s independent financial adviser, Maxa Capital
Limited, has certified in writing to the Company that the
Share Options Adjustments are in compliance with the
requirements set out in the relevant terms of the Scheme,
Rule 17.03(13] of the Listing Rules and the Stock Exchange
Supplementary Guidance.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHE

SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND feds AT AR IR R B AR HE )
OPTIONS (conTiNUED)
(3) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued) (3) BBRESE (CE—N @
A summary of the movements of the Options for the year BE_Z__F+_RB=1+—HLFE
ended 31 December 2022 with the adjustments made to the Z2EREEHERN _ZE_=F—F8
exercise price and Options outstanding after completion of T+ B EREHTEERERITE
the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023 is set out below: BREEL AR BZEHIIWT
Number of Options
RREHE
Exercise Vested/ Vested/
Price per (unvested) (unvested)
Share at Options Granted Exercised Lapsed Options
Name or Category Date of the date Vesting Expiry date asat during during during asat
of participants grant of grant date (note 2) 01.01.2022 the year the year the year 31.12.2022
RIE_ZE
REBHZ k- +ZR
sk —-A-HZ =+-B2
b=k %8 E5E/ FRRL Enf ERRN EER/
(note 1) (HKS) % B (REE) (note 3) (note 4) (note 5) (REE)
BEEHRHER (f3E1) (B7) FERH (H£2) FliE (Ht5E3) GED) (FtEs) FleiE
Directors
S
James Mellon 16102020 0.149 16102021 13.10.2030 412333 = = = 412333
16102022 13.10.2030 (612.333) = = = 412333
16102023 13.10.2030 (612,334) - - = (612,334)
1837000 1,837,000
Jamie Gibson 14102020 0.149 14102021 13102030 6,123333 = = = 6,123,333
14102022 13102030 (6,123,333) = - = 6,123333
14102023 13102030 (6,123,334) - - - (6,123,334
18,370,000 18,370,000
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OPTIONS (conTinUED)
(3) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued) (3) BBRESE (CE—N @
Number of Options
EREYE
Exercise Vested/ Vested/
Price per (unvested) (unvested)
Share at Options Granted Exercised Lapsed Options
Name or Category Date of the date Vesting Expiry date asat during during during asat
of participants grant of grant date (note 2) 01.01.2022 the year the year the year 31.12.2022
g
EGil=Eivd g 128
sk —-A-B2 =+-H2
iR R BRE/ ERRL Emfy EREN EHE/
(note 1) (HKS) %A (RER) (note 3) (note 4) (note 5) (RER)
SEEHRIER (H3E1) (B7) FERE (Ht2) i (H3£3) (Hi3t4) (H3t5) i
Directors (continued]
E2(®
Julie Oates 14102020 0.149 1610.2021 13102030 412333 = — — 412333
16102022 13102030 (612333 = = = 412333
14102023 13102030 (612,334 = - = (612,334
1,837,000 1,837,000
Mark Searle 14102020 0149 16.10.2021 13102030 412333 - - - 412333
14102022 13102030 (612333 = = = 412333
14102023 13102030 (612,334 = - = (612,334
1,837,000 1,837,000
Jayne Sutcliffe 14102020 0149 16102021 13102030 412333 - - - 812333
14102022 13102030 (612333 S = = 812333
14102023 13102030 (612,334 = - = (612,334
1,837,000 1,837,000
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnuED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)
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Number of Options
EREYE
Exercise Vested/ Vested/
Price per (unvested) (unvested)
Share at Options Granted Exercised Lapsed Options
Name or Category Date of the date Vesting Expiry date asat during during during asat
of participants grant of grant date (note 2) 01.01.2022 the year the year the year 31.12.2022
g
EGil=Eivd g 128
Sk -A-B2 =+-g7
b=k b4 BRE/ ERRL Emf EREH EHE/
(note 1) (HKS) %A (RER) (note 3) (note 4) (note 5) (RER)
SEEHRIER (H3E1) (B7) FERE (t32) i (t33) (t3zs) (it325) e
Employees 14102020 0.149 1610.2021 13102030 12,999,998 = = (4,33333) 8,666,606
&
16102022 13102030 (6.999.999) = = (4333333 2,666,666
14102023 13102030 (7,000,003 = = (4,333 339) (2,666,668
27,000,000 14,000,000
Employees 17122020 0.183 Note 1(o] 16.122030 (18,000,001 = - = (18,000,001
fe& HEEE o]
18,000,000 18,000,000
Other [note 4al 14102020 0.149 01.05.2021 30.06.203 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
5t (W5t4a)
6,000,000 6,000,000
Other [note 6] 07.06.2021 0.185 07.06.2022 06.06.2031 (833333 = = = 833333
5t (W6)
07.06.203 08.06.2031 (833333 = - = (833333
07.06.2024 08.06.2031 (833334 = - = (833,334
2,500,000 2,500,000
Total #t 79,218,000 = = (13,000,001 46,218,000
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTINUED)

(3)

Notes:

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

1. The consideration for the grant of Options as disclosed above
was HK$10.

(a)

(b)

On 14 October 2020, the Company granted 62,718,000
Options to Directors and employees with an exercise price
of HK$0.149 per Share [comprising 25,718,000 Options
for Directors and 37,000,000 Options for employees). The
closing price immediately before the date on which the
Options were granted was HK$0.156 per Share. Further
details are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 15 October 2020 and 20 October 2020 respectively.

On 17 December 2020, the Company granted 18,000,000
Options to an employee, formerly a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group at the time of the grant, with an
exercise price of HK$0.183 per Share. The Options granted
are exercisable after one year but not exceeding 10 years
from the date of the grant and subject to fulfilment of the
various targets. Upon vesting and within such exercise
period, the option holder is entitled to exercise:

(] as to one-third after the first anniversary date of
the date of grant, provided that the Food and Drug
Administration of the United States has approved the
start of the Phase Ill clinical trial for Fortacin™;

(i} as to one-third after an “out licencing deal” for the
United States has been signed and announced; and

(i) as to one-third on the successful completion of
Study 008 (defined to mean it meets its primary
and secondary end points) and the Food and Drug
Administration of the United States has granted the
new drug approval for Fortacin™.

As at 31 December 2022, the targets were not fulfilled
and no Option was vested. The closing price immediately
before the date on which the Options were granted was
HK$0.183 per Share. Further details are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2020
and 30 December 2020 respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnuED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1. (Continued)

(c)] On 7 June 2021, the Company granted 2,500,000 Options to
a consultant of a subsidiary of the Group, namely Leverage
1Q Iberica SL, of which Mr Lars Gehrmann is a director as
well as the only and ultimate shareholder and who is not
a director of the Group, for the services rendered pursuant
to the terms of the consulting agreement, with an exercise
price of HK$0.185 per Share. The closing price immediately
before the date on which the Options were granted was
HK$0.179 per Share. Further details are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 8 June 2021 and
15 June 2021 respectively.

2. Except for 4(a) below, the exercise periods of the Options start

from the respective vesting dates and end on the respective
expiry dates.

. Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December

2022 and up to the date of this report, no Options were granted
to or held by (i) any Directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of the Company, or their respective associates;
(i) any participants in excess of the 1% individual limit referred
to under the Listing Rules; (i) any related entity participant
or service provider in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of
the relevant class of shares in issue; or (iv] other employee
participants, related entity participants and service providers.

. Except for 1(b) above, the Options shall vest over a period of

three years starting from the date of the grant, entitling the
holders to exercise one-third of the Options at each of the first,
second and third anniversary dates after the date of grant.
The Options granted are exercisable after one year but not
exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. Any entitlements
unexercised in any prior period may be carried forward to the
following periods but, in any event, must be exercised within
10 years from the date of grant of the Options. All entitlements
then remain unexercised will lapse.

(a] On 1 May 2021, 6,000,000 Options were fully vested upon
retirement of an employee in accordance with the rules of
the Scheme and as approved by the Board. The 6,000,000
Options are exercisable at any time during the period from
1 May 2021 to 30 April 2023, being the expiration date of a
three-year adjusted vesting period for the Options. None
of the above Options were exercised during the year ended
31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNnUED)

(3) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

4. (Continued)

(b) On 14 October 2022, 26,478,662 Options granted to
Directors and employees were fully vested and exercisable
in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. None of
the above Options were exercised during the year ended
31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report.

(c] On 7 June 2022, 833,333 Options granted to a consultant
of a subsidiary of the Group, who is not a director of the
Group, were fully vested and exercisable in accordance with
the rules of the Scheme. None of the above Options were
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this report.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were vested or exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this report.

. On 17 January 2022, 7 June 2022 and 31 December 2022,

5,000,000 Options, 4,000,000 Options and 4,000,000 Options
were lapsed respectively upon resignation of three employees in
accordance with the rules of the Scheme.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were lapsed or cancelled
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this report.

. Besides Directors, chief executive and employees, other eligible

participants of the Scheme include consultants and service
providers of the Group.

. On 12 January 2023, the exercise price and the number of

outstanding Options have been adjusted in the following
manner following the completion of Rights Issue:
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTiNUED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHE
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(3) FERRMHESTE (TT—7%) @

Exercise Price Per Share Number of Options
SRR TEE BREYE

Outstanding after

After completionof ~ Outstanding before completion of

Before completion Rights Issue on completion of Rights Issue on

Name or Category of Rights Issue on 12.01.2023 Rights Issue on 12.01.2023

of participants Date of grant 12.01.2023 (Adjusted) 12.01.2023 (Adjusted)

RZBZ=%

RZIEZ=% —B+ZH RZEZ=%

—B+ZH iR RZZZ=% -—-B+_Atk%H

AR TE AR (&h%) —R+ZH &

(HKS$) (HK$) iR 5T AAl RARITE

2HRERANER RS (#7) (#7) W ARITE (h%)
Directors E%

James Mellon 14.10.2020 0.149 150 1,837,000 1,831,131

Jamie Gibson 14.10.2020 0.149 150 18,370,000 18,311,310

Julie Oates 14.10.2020 0.149 150 1,837,000 1,831,131

Mark Searle 14.10.2020 0.149 150 1,837,000 1,831,131

Jayne Sutcliffe 14.10.2020 0.149 150 1,837,000 1,831,131

Employees [E& 14.10.2020 0.149 150 14,000,000 13,955,271

17.12.2020 0.183 184 18,000,000 17,942,492

Others Hfth 14.10.2020 0.149 150 6,000,000 5,980,831

07.06.2021 0.185 186 2,500,000 2,492,013

Total 485t 66,218,000 66,006,441

Note: For details of Employees and Others, please refer to page 35
of this report.

Details of the adjustments to the Options following
completion of the Rights Issue of the Company are set out in
this report and the announcement of the Company dated 11
January 2023.

After the financial year ended 31 December 2022, on
29 March 2023, the Company proposed to implement the
capital reorganisation involving the share consolidation,
the capital reduction and the share sub-division. Further
announcement(s) on the possible adjustments to the
exercise price and/or the number of Shares falling to be
issued upon exercise of the outstanding Options under
the Scheme pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Scheme and the Listing Rules as a result of the proposed
capital reorganisation will be published by the Company in
due course.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders by paying out of share premium
account, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act (Revised) of the Cayman Islands and subject to
the provisions of the Company’s Article of Association, amounted
to approximately US$294 million (2021: approximately US$294
million), which may be distributed provided that immediately
following the date on which a dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business, in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in note 21 to the Financial
Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules

THE CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code
regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant
employees on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code. Reminders are sent to Directors and
relevant employees that they should not deal in the securities
of the Company during the blackout periods as specified in the
Securities Dealing Code.

Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Securities Dealing Code and the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
applied all of the principles of the CG Code and complied with the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code. Further details of the
corporate governance practices of the Company are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of the 2022 Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended
31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Director:

Jamie Gibson (Chief Executive Officer)

NEDs:

James Mellon [Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INEDs:

David Comba
Julie Oates
Mark Searle

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in section
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management”
of the 2022 Annual Report.

Pursuant to Article 87 of the Articles of Association at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation and, pursuant to Code
Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules, every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Thus, James Mellon and David Comba
shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming 2023 AGM,
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Board has considered the opinion of the Nomination
Committee and agreed with the Nomination Committee’s
recommendation for re-election of David Comba, an INED, at the
2023 AGM. Details of the opinion of the Board and the Nomination
Committee required to be disclosed under Code Provision B.2.3
of the CG Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules will be
set out in the Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023.
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DIRECTORS (conTINUED)

Pursuant to Rule 13.74 of the Listing Rules, the biographical
details of the Directors who are proposed to be re-elected at
the AGM will be set out in the Company’s circular dated 27 April
2023. All retiring Directors have confirmed that there is no other
information to be disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and there are no other matters that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all INEDs
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election
at the 2023 AGM] has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation), except that: (i) the advisory agreement
of James Mellon specifies that his appointment as an adviser
of the Company may be terminated by either party giving one
year's written notice (as detailed in the paragraph headed “Non-
Executive Directors” in the “Corporate Governance Report” of
the 2022 Annual Report); and [ii] the service agreement of Jamie
Gibson may be terminated by either party giving one year’s
written notice.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the
INEDs in regard to their independence to the Company under
the independence criteria referred in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers that each of the INEDs is independent
to the Company. As at the date of this report, all INEDs have
served more than nine years. Further appointment of each of the
INEDs should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by the Shareholders. The circular containing such resolution
should include the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still
independent and should be elected and list out the tenure of each
INED by name.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors had the following
beneficial interests in the shares and underlying shares (in
respect of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) of the
Company or of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFOJ, which were recorded in the Register of
Directors” and Chief Executive's Interests and Short Positions
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or which were otherwise notified to the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
those interests which the Directors were deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules:

a. Shares as at 31 December 2022 and after completion of
the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023
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As at 31 December 2022 As at 12 January 2023
RZBZ”E+ZR=1-H RZBZ=%#-B+ZH
Approximate % Approximate %
of issued of issued
Number of share capital Number of share capital
shares held of the Company shares held of the Company
Name of Director Capacity (note 1) (note 2) (note 1) (note 2)
AR A AT
BEN B&iTkEz AN BEfikaz
L E! Boast LB E! BaEat
BEfty &7 (Mizk1) (Rt£2) (MzE1) (MzE2)
James Mellon (note 3] (#f3E3) Beneficial owner 807,612,142 18.04% 807,612,142 17.68%
BEAEA
Interests held by controlled ~ 1,775,49,562 39.66% 1,775,459 562 38.88%
corporations
ERATME 2 B
Jamie Gibson (note 4) (Ft5E4) Beneficial owner 89,396,748 3.72% 138,793,496 3.04%
BEAEA
David Comba = = = = =
Julie Oates (note 5) (H5E5) Interests held jointly with 1,000,000 0.04% 2,000,000 0.04%
another person
HEMATHEREZ
a3
Mark Searle note ) (Fff3E6) Beneficial owner 471,228 0.02% 471228 0.01%
BEAEA
Family interest 628,304 0.03% 628,304 0.02%
REER
Beneficiary of a trust 2,070,760 0.09% 3275579 0.07%
EEREA
Jayne Sutcliffe Beneficial owner 1,716,046 0.07% 1,716,046 0.06%
BEAEEA
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTinuED)

a. Shares as at 31 December 2022 and after completion of
the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023 (Continued)

Notes:

1. Directors” personal interests in Shares as stated above are long
positions interests. There are no short position interests held by
any Director.

2. These numbers do not include the number of Shares to be issued
upon exercise of Options held by the Directors as disclosed below.
As at 31 December 2022, the total number of issued Shares
was 2,400,347,881 Shares. As at the completion of Rights Issue
on 12 January 2023, the total number of issued Shares was
4,566,919,075 Shares.

3. An aggregate of 1,775,459,562 Shares are held by Indigo and
Galloway which are beneficially wholly-owned by James Mellon,
each holding 51,583,810 Shares and 1,723,875,752 Shares
respectively. These numbers took into account: (i) the aggregate
number of Rights Shares subscribed by James Mellon (together
with the subscription by Indigo and Galloway to be procured by
James Mellon) under the Irrevocable Undertakings; and (i) the
number of all Underwritten Rights Shares under the Underwriting
Agreement taken up by Galloway as the Underwriter, assuming
that there is no acceptance of the Rights Shares by the Qualifying
Shareholders and no Rights Shares are placed. The approximate
percentage shown here reflects the approximate percentage held
by James Mellon, Galloway and Indigo, further illustrations are set
out on page 32 of the circular of the Company dated 31 October
2022 (the “Circular”) and on pages 34 and 35 of the prospectus
of the Company dated 13 December 2022 (the “Prospectus”).
Capitalised terms herein refer to the context of the Circular and
the Prospectus unless expressed otherwise.

4. As at 31 December 2022, 89,396,748 Shares are beneficially
wholly-owned by Jamie Gibson. Subsequent to the year ended
31 December 2022 and upon completion of the Rights Issue on 12
January 2023, 138,793,496 Shares are beneficially wholly-owned
by Jamie Gibson following the subscription of 49,396,748 Rights
Shares.

5. As at 31 December 2022, 1,000,000 Shares are held by Julie Oates
for the beneficial interests jointly with her spouse, Alan Clucas
Oates. Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2022 and upon
completion of the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023, 2,000,000
Shares are held by Julie Oates for the beneficial interests jointly
with her spouse, Alan Clucas Oates, following the subscription of
1,000,000 Rights Shares.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTinuED)

EERTETBHASKERM - HEAR
PREFZEZREE @

a. Shares as at 31 December 2022 and after completion of

the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023 (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

6. As at 31 December 2022, 2,070,760 Shares are held to the order
of a pension fund, of which Mark Searle is the sole beneficiary
and the 628,304 Shares are held by his spouse, Juliet Mary
Druce Searle. Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2022
and upon completion of the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023,
3,275,579 Shares are held to the order of a pension fund, of
which Mark Searle is the sole beneficiary and the 628,304 Shares
are held by his spouse, Juliet Mary Druce Searle, following the
subscription of 1,204,819 Rights Shares.

b. Options

Details of the Directors’ interests in the Options under the
Share Option Scheme (2016) are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme (2016)" and note 35 to the Financial
Statements.

. Convertible Notes

Details of the Directors’ interests in the Convertible Notes are
set out in note 24 to the Financial Statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022:

James Mellon (and his associate) and Jamie Gibson, among
all the other noteholders, elected to receive cash in respect of
the accrued interest on the Convertible Notes for the period
from 1 January 2022 to 23 August 2022, being the maturity
date, which, if it was capitalised on the maturity date, would
be convertible into an aggregate of 2,496,001 Shares, being:

(i) 734,118 Shares for James Mellon and 1,321,412 Shares for
his associate; and

(ii) 440,471 Shares for Jamie Gibson.

From 1 January 2022 and up to the maturity date on
23 August 2022, pursuant to the relevant subscription
agreement, the following Directors had the following
beneficial interests in the shares to be issued and allotted
upon full conversion of the Convertible Notes in the principal
amount, in aggregate, of US$1.70 million:
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTinuED)
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Convertible Notes (Continued) c. THHMERER®
Number of
shares
to subscribe
for upon
Principal ~ full conversion
amount of of the
Convertible Convertible Subscription ~ Conversion
Name of Director Capacity Notes held Notesheld  price per Share  period
PRI R
sl BHERERS ki
REzAEE AWZROUE AR
(US$) (note 2) (HK$)
EEitR g (E7) (Mzk2) (Bm) AR
James Mellon Beneficial owner 500,000 18,827,621 02125 23.08.2019 - 23.08.2022
BmEAA
Interests held by controlled 900,000 33,889,697 02125 23.08.2019 - 23.08.2022
corporation
ERABMRE 2k
Jamie Gibson Beneficial owner 300,000 11,296,565 02125 23.08.2019 - 23.08.2022
BnEAA
Notes: 5T
1. The Convertible Notes in the principal amount of 1. AZEAR900,000=THTHRHE ARFR

US$900,000, which entitles the holder to subscribe for an
aggregate of 33,889,697 new Shares upon full conversion,
are held by a private limited liability company which is
indirectly wholly-owned by James Mellon.

2. The number was calculated on the assumption that all
Convertible Notes were converted on the maturity date
(being 23 August 2022) and that any and all interest that
would accrue was capitalised for the remaining period from
1 January 2022 to 23 August 2022.

The Convertible Notes (principals and accrued interests)
of the Company in the amount of approximately US$2.72
million (or approximately HK$21.35 million) were fully
repaid by cash by the Company on its maturity on 23 August
2022. From 1 January 2022 and up to the maturity of the
Convertible Notes on 23 August 2022, none of the holders
of the Convertible Notes, including the above Directors,
had converted their Convertible Notes to subscribe for the
Shares.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Connected Transactions in relation to the Underwriting
Agreement and the Set Off

Reference is made to the Circular of the Company dated
31 October 2022 (the “Circular”]). On 26 September 2022,
the Company entered into the Underwriting Agreement with
Galloway as the Underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo. Pursuant
to the Underwriting Agreement, up to 1,569,711,046 Rights
Shares, being all the Underwritten Rights Shares excluding
the 506,680,329 Shares under the Irrevocable Undertakings
would be partially underwritten by Galloway as the Underwriter
in accordance with the terms of the Underwriting Agreement,
with the underwriting commission being approximately HK$1.23
million (or approximately US$0.16 million), being 1% of the
aggregate subscription amount in respect of the maximum
number of Underwritten Shares committed to be underwritten,
subscribed for or procured subscription for by the Underwriter.

The terms of the Underwriting Agreement were determined after
arm’s length negotiations between the parties with reference
to the financial position of the Group, the size of the Rights
Issue, the current and expected market conditions, taking
into consideration the prevailing market rates of underwriting
commission in over 10 rights issue exercises undertaken by
listed issuers in Hong Kong during the six months prior to the
announcement of the Company dated 26 September 2022 (the
“Announcement”) which were underwritten with an average
commission at 3.0% and rates ranging from 1.0% to 7.1%,
trading liquidity and risks associated with the underwriting,
the intention of the Underwriter to facilitate the Company's
fundraising efforts for its business development and working
capital requirements, and the relationship between the
Underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo.

The Directors (other than the members of the Independent
Board Committee whose opinion is set forth in the Letter
from the Independent Board Committee in the Circular after
considering the advice from the Independent Financial Adviser)
are of the view that the terms of the Underwriting Agreement
are fair and reasonable as far as the Independent Shareholders
are concerned, and the transactions contemplated under the
Underwriting Agreement are on normal commercial terms and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS (conTINUED)

Connected Transactions in relation to the Underwriting
Agreement and the Set Off (Continued)

The principal amount of the Shareholder’s Loans owed by the
Company to Galloway (as creditor], which is also the Underwriter,
was in the principal of approximately US$13.40 million (or
approximately HK$105.19 million] and accrued interests of
approximately US$1.25 million [(or approximately HK$9.81
million) as at 30 September 2022, which in aggregate amounting
to approximately US$14.65 million (or approximately HK$115.00
million).

The Company decides to use part of the proceeds from the Rights
Issue to Set Off the Shareholder’s Loans held by Galloway in light
of: (i) the Set Off in the Rights Issue was one of the key factors
affecting the willingness of Galloway to act as the Underwriter
for the Rights Issue; (ii] the maturity dates of the Shareholder’s
Loans, which shall fall due within 10 months from the expected
completion date of the Rights Issue in February 2023; and
(iii) saving of any related financing costs.

Pursuant to the Set Off under the Underwriting Agreement, the
Underwriter, James Mellon, Indigo and the Company agreed
that the total amount of subscription monies payable by the
Underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo for the Rights Shares to
which they are entitled to and/or are required to subscribe for
(if any) under the Rights Issue and the Underwriting Agreement,
respectively, would be set off on a dollar-to-dollar basis against
the equivalent amount of the Shareholder’s Loans and accrued
interest thereon on the completion date of the Rights Issue.
On 12 January 2023, HK$39,774,405.82, being the subscription
money paid by Galloway as the Underwriter, James Mellon and
Indigo, has been used to set off against the equivalent amount of
the Shareholder’s Loans owed by the Company to Galloway.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS (conTINUED)

Connected Transactions in relation to the Underwriting
Agreement and the Set Off (Continued)

As James Mellon is a substantial shareholder of the Company
and both Galloway as the Underwriter and Indigo are wholly-
the
Underwriter and Indigo are regarded as connected persons
of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under the Underwriting Agreement and the Set Off constitute

owned by James Mellon, therefore James Mellon,

connected transactions for the Company under the Listing
Rules which are subject to the reporting, announcement and
Independent Shareholders” approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Shareholders with a material interest
in the transactions contemplated under the Underwriting
Agreement and the Set Off had abstained from voting on the
relevant resolution at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 24 November 2022. As James Mellon and
Jayne Sutcliffe who is a concert party of James Mellon were
materially interested in the Rights Issue, the Placing Agreement,
the Underwriting Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, they had also abstained from voting at the Board
resolutions approving such matters. The Independent Board
Committee comprised all INEDs including David Comba, Julie
Oates and Mark Searle held two Independent Board Committee
meetings on 13 September 2022 and 3 October 2022 respectively
to approve, among other matters, the proposed Rights Issue.

Capitalised terms herein refer to the context of the Circular and
the Prospectus unless expressed otherwise.

Save as disclosed above, no connected transactions,
arrangement or contract of significance in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director is or was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, were conducted or subsisted during
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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INTENDED USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Upon completion of the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023, the
Company issued 2,166,571,194 new Shares. As disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 11 January 2023,
the gross proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the Set Off
and expenses) were approximately HK$170.08 million (or
approximately US$21.67 million) and the net proceeds from the
Rights Issue (before the Set Off and after deducting the estimated
expenses of approximately HK$6.28 million (or approximately
US$0.80 million)) were approximately HK$163.80 million (or
approximately US$20.87 million). As disclosed in the Prospectus,
the Company intends to apply the net proceeds from the Rights
Issue as to (i) approximately 63.63% (up to approximately
HK$104.23 million, or approximately US$13.28 million) for the
Set Off upon completion of the Rights Issue; [ii] approximately
26.37% [up to approximately HK$43.19 million, or approximately
US$5.50 million] for implementation of business development
plan as described under the paragraph headed "Business
development” in the Prospectus; and [iii) the remaining 10.00%
(up to approximately HK$16.38 million, or approximately US$2.09
million) as general working capital of the Group following
completion of the Rights Issue. Capitalised terms herein refer to
the context of the Circular and the Prospectus unless expressed
otherwise.

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue were received by the
Company on 12 January 2023 which was after the financial year
ended 31
proceeds will be disclosed in the interim report of the Company
for the six months ending 30 June 2023 pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

December 2022. Further details on the use of net

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had certain
related parties transactions under the applicable accounting
standards, while there were no related parties transactions
disclosed in note 32 to the Financial Statements which
constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to Rules 14A.49
and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors” and senior management’'s emoluments
and of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
note 7 to the Financial Statements.

The remuneration payable to Directors will depend on
their respective contractual terms under their employment
contracts or service contracts as approved by the Board on the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’'s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. Key employees will be rewarded
by a combination of salaries, profit related discretionary bonuses
and Share Options, where appropriate. For employees below
Board level, remuneration will be determined by the Director(s)
responsible for the division whilst, for Directors, remuneration
is determined by the Remuneration Committee. No Directors
should be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration. In all
cases, profit related discretionary bonuses and grants of Share
Options will be agreed by the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme (2016)" and “Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” of this report, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of the Shares in or
debentures of the Company and none of the Directors, their
spouses or children under 18 years of age, had any rights to
subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors and
officers liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors and officers of the Group
against their potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be
incurred in the course of performing their duties. The level of the
insurance coverage is subject to review annually.
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MANAGEMENT’S CONTRACT

Save for contracts of service with any Director or any person
engaged in the full-time employment of the Company, no other
contracts of the Company were entered into or subsisted during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this report, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) had an
interest in any business that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group,
save that the following companies may pursue investment
opportunities that may compete against the Company:

(1) Compedica Holdings Limited (“Compedica”)

Compedica is a private single product medical device
company based near Oxford, in the UK, focusing on the
treatment of diabetic foot ulcers, which are a comorbidity of
diabetic mellitus.

James Mellon and through his associate hold approximately
47.6% of the total issued share capital of Compedica. As a
non-executive director and chairman of Compedica, Jamie
Gibson holds approximately 8.2% of the total issued share
capital of Compedica. The Company does not hold any
interests in the total issued share capital of Compedica.

(2) Juvenescence Limited (“Juvenescence”)

Juvenescence is a private and multinational healthcare
science company based in the Isle of Man that focuses in
human ageing and longevity, aiming to build a platform and
pipeline of affordable quality products targeting ageing, age-
related issues and cell regeneration.

As a director and chairman of the board of Juvenescence,
James Mellon and through his associate hold approximately
18.60% of the total issued share capital of Juvenescence.
The Company does not hold any interests in the total issued
share capital of Juvenescence.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (conTiNuED)

(3) Portage Biotech Inc (“Portage Biotech”)

Portage Biotech (CSE: PBT.U and OTCBB: PTGEF] is dually
listed on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board of NASDAQ
of the US and the Canadian Securities Exchange, focusing
on discovering and developing innovative cell permeable
peptide therapies and developing drug therapies.

As a non-executive director of Portage Biotech, James
Mellon and through his associates hold approximately
17.89% of the total issued share capital of Portage Biotech.
The Company does not hold any interests in the total issued
share capital of Portage Biotech.

Currently, the existing businesses of the above companies do not
compete against the Company's existing businesses. Should the
Company and any of the above companies come into competition
in the future, no Director of the Company shall vote on any
board resolution of the Company approving any contract or
arrangement or any other proposal in which they or any of their
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material
interest, nor shall they be counted in the quorum present in the
meeting, in each case if, and to the extent, required under Rule
13.44 of the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2022, the
following entity or person (other than James Mellon, being a
Director), whose interests are set out in the section "Directors’
and Chief Executive’'s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this report, had any
interest or short positions in the Shares or the underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Stock Exchange and the Company pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (conTINUED)
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Class of Shares are Long/Short (Number of percentage (Number of
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Galloway Limited Ordinary shares  Beneficial Owner  Long position 1723875792 38.51% Nil

(note 1) (#fE1) BiEk BmEAA i -
Note: B 5T -

1. As at 31 December 2022, an aggregate of 1,723,875,752 Shares
are held by Galloway which is beneficially wholly-owned by James
Mellon. These numbers took into account: (i) the aggregate
number of Rights Shares subscribed by James Mellon (together
with the subscription by Galloway to be procured by James Mellon)
under the Irrevocable Undertakings; and (i} the number of all
Underwritten Rights Shares under the Underwriting Agreement
taken up by Galloway as the Underwriter, assuming that there is
no acceptance of the Rights Shares by the Qualifying Shareholders
and no Rights Shares are placed.

After completion of the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023,
the aggregate number of Shares held by Galloway remains
1,723,875,752 Shares, or approximately 37.74%. Galloway had
performed its obligations to subscribe for the Rights Shares under
the Underwriting Agreement and the Irrevocable Undertaking.
Given there were subscriptions of the Rights Shares by other
shareholders, the interest of Galloway has been diluted. Further
illustrations are set out on pages 34 and 35 of the Prospectus and
on page 3 of the announcement of the Company dated 11 January
2023 (the “Announcement’). Capitalised terms herein refer to
the context of the Prospectus and the Announcement unless
expressed otherwise.

Save for such interests, the Directors are not aware of any other
persons, who, as at 31 December 2022 or as at the date of this
report, had any interest or short positions in the Shares or the
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Stock Exchange and the
Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group's major customers (i.e. the distributors/licensees)
order the medical products directly from the manufacturers, and
then sell the medical products by themselves, the amount of
“cost of goods sold” or “purchase” will only be recorded in the
books of the major customers. Thus, there are no cost of goods
sold and major suppliers of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the percentage of revenue
of milestone and royalty income accounted for by the largest
customer amounted to 68.57%.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the percentage of revenue
of milestone and royalty income accounted for by the five largest
customers amounted to 100%.

At no time during the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company's issued shares) had any interest in these customers.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been audited by BDO Limited. BDO Limited, which has
indicated its willingness to continue in office, shall retire at the
2023 AGM and, being eligible, offers itself for re-appointment.
An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the 2023 AGM to re-
appoint BDO Limited as the independent auditor of the Company.
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022

(1)

Completion of Rights Issue

On 26 September 2022, the Board proposed to conduct
the Rights Issue. The proposed Rights Issue was duly
approved by the independent shareholders by the way of
poll at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
on 24 November 2022 and completed on 12 January 2023.
A total of 2,166,571,194 Rights Shares had been issued and
allotted at the subscription price of HK$0.0785 per Rights
Share.

The Directors consider that the Rights Issue would be
in the best interests of the Company and Shareholders
as a whole because it: (i} offers certainty as to the fund
raising size by the Company as it is partially underwritten;
(i) allows the Group to recapitalise its balance sheet by
repaying in full the Shareholder’'s Loans from the proceeds
received and the Set Off to be implemented:; (iii] significantly
improves the financial position and gearing ratio of the
Group by turning the Company into an essentially debt
free enterprise; (iv) facilitates the Group in reducing its
future financing costs by early repayment of its outstanding
debts; (v) provides sufficient working capital to the Group
for its on-going requirements and business development
requirements; and (vi] gives the qualifying shareholders
the opportunity to maintain their respective pro-rata
shareholding interests in the Company and to continue to
participate in the future development of the Company.

Details of the above Rights Issue are set forth in the
announcements dated 26 September 2022, 17 October
2022, 31 October 2022, 24 November 2022, 3 January
2023 and 11 January 2023, the circular dated 31 October
2022 and the prospectus dated 13 December 2022 of the
Company.
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022 conTinueD)

(2)

Proposed Change of Company Name

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated
29 March 2023, subject to certain conditions as set out in

sub-paragraph (a) below, the Directors proposed:

(1)

(2)

to change the name of the Company from “Endurance
RP Limited” back to "Regent Pacific Group Limited”;
and

to adopt a foreign name in Chinese of "B & K Fi¥5E
EBFRAE]" to replace the existing Chinese name of
the Company, "EREEBARAE", which is currently
used for identification purposes only.

(collectively, the “Change of Company Name").

(a] Conditions of the Change of Company Name

The Change of Company Name is subject to the
fulfilment of the following conditions:

(]  the passing of a special resolution by the
Shareholders approving the Change of Company
Name at the 2023 AGM: and

(i) the approval of the Registrar of Companies in
the Cayman Islands having been obtained for the
Change of Company Name.

Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set
out above, the Change of Company Name will take
effect upon the date of the issue of a certificate of
incorporation on change of name by the Registrar of
Companies in the Cayman Islands confirming that
the new names, in English and Chinese, have been
registered. The Company will then carry out the
necessary filing and registration procedures with the
Companies Registry in Hong Kong pursuant to Part
16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). A further announcement will be
made by the Company subsequent to the Change of
Company Name becomes effective.
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022 conTinueD)

(2)

Proposed Change of Company Name (Continued)

[b] Reasons for the Change of Company Name

[c]

The Board considers that the change of Company
name back to "Regent Pacific Group Limited”, is more
appropriate as the current name has led to confusion
of the Company’s image and brand among its key
stakeholders, and furthermore the current name is
failing to stand out. The Board, therefore, considers
that reverting back to its original name will more
accurately reflects its business and future direction.

Effects of the Change of Company Name

The Change of Company Name will not affect the
rights of any Shareholder or the Company's daily
business operation and its financial position. Once
the Change of Company Name becomes effective, all
new certificates to be issued for the Shares will bear
the new name of the Company and the Shares will be
traded on the Stock Exchange under the new name.
However, all existing share certificates for the Shares
in issue bearing the existing name of the Company
will, upon the Change of Company Name becoming
effective, continue to be valid evidence of legal title to
the Shares and will continue to be valid for trading,
settlement, registration and delivery purposes.

Accordingly, there will not be any arrangement for the
free exchange of the existing share certificates for
the Shares for new share certificates bearing the new
name of the Company.

In addition, subject to the confirmation of the Stock
Exchange, the English and Chinese stock short names
of the Company for trading in the Shares will also be
changed after the Change of Company Name becomes
effective.

Details of the Change of Company Name, together
with the notice of the 2023 AGM, are set out in the
accompanying circular to the Shareholders dated
27 April 2023.
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022 conTinueD)

(3) Change of Memorandum and Articles of Association

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated
29 March 2023, the Board proposes to make certain
amendments (the "Amendments’] to the Memorandum
and Articles of Association of the Company [the
“Memorandum and Articles of Association”) in order to,
among other things, (i) align them with the core standards
for shareholder protections as set out in Appendix 3 to the
Listing Rules and the applicable laws and regulations of the
Cayman Islands; (i) allow general meetings of the Company
to be held as electronic meetings or hybrid meetings where
Shareholders may attend and vote by electronic means
in addition to or in place of attending physical meetings
in person; and [(iii] incorporate various housekeeping
amendments and corresponding consequential changes.
The Board also proposes to adopt the new set of amended
and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company (the “Amended and Restated Memorandum
and Articles of Association”] incorporating the
Amendments in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the

existing Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the adoption of the Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association are subject to the
approval of the Shareholders by way of a special resolution

at the 2023 AGM.

Details of the Amendments and the adoption of the new
set of Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association, together with the notice of the 2023 AGM, are
set out in the accompanying circular to the Shareholders

dated 27 April 2023.
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022 conTinueD)

(4)

Capital Reorganisation

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated

29 March 2023, the Board proposes to implement the

Capital Reorganisation involving the following:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the Share Consolidation whereby every twenty (20)
issued and unissued Shares of par value of US$0.01
each will be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated
Share of par value of US$0.20 each:

the Capital Reduction whereby the par value of each
issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from
US$0.20 to US$0.001 by cancelling the paid-up capital
to the extent of US$0.199 on each issued Consolidated
Share;

the Share Subdivision whereby immediately following
the Capital Reduction, each of the authorised but
unissued Consolidated Shares with par value of
US$0.20 each be subdivided into 200 Adjusted Shares
with par value of US$0.001 each. Forthwith the
Share Subdivision becoming effective, the authorised
share capital of the Company be increased to
US$143,550,000.00 by the creation of such number
of additional Adjusted Shares as shall be sufficient to
increase the authorised share capital of the Company
to US$143,550,000.00 divided into (a) 143,000,000,000
ordinary Adjusted Shares and (b) 550,000,000
unclassified Adjusted Shares; and

the credit arising from the Capital Reduction will be
applied towards offsetting the Accumulated Losses in
a manner as permitted by all applicable laws and the
Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Assaciation and as the Board considers appropriate.
The balance of the credit (if any) of the Share Premium
Account after offsetting the Accumulated Losses
will be applied by the Company in any manner as
permitted by all applicable laws and the Amended and
Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association.
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022 conTinueD)

(4) Capital Reorganisation (Continued)

The proposed Share Consolidation, Capital Reduction and
Share Subdivision are subject to, inter alia, the passing of
resolutions by the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM and a
court order being made by the Grand Court of the Cayman

Islands confirming the Capital Reduction.

Details of the proposed Capital Reorganisation, together
with the notice of the 2023 AGM, are set out in the
accompanying circular to the Shareholders dated 27 April

2023.

Capitalised terms herein refer to the context of the
announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2023 unless

expressed otherwise.

On Behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

29 March 2023
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREERBZEEXTE

UTARAREAPZEEEFTREREE

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
who hold office as at the date of this report are as follows:

DIRECTORS

1.

James Mellon (alias: Jim Mellon), NED and Chairman
of the Board, aged 66, British, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in July 1991, and was
re-designated as a NED in May 2002, and is currently Non-
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. He holds a
Master’s degree in Politics, Philosophy and Economics from
Oxford University and, since graduating in 1978, his entire
career has been spent in asset management. Mr Mellon
worked for GT Management Plc from 1978 to 1984. In July
1984, he joined the Thornton Group where he was Managing
Director of the Asian operation. From 1988 to 1990, he was
an executive director of Tyndall Holdings Plc responsible for
business expansion and corporate development. In 1990,
Mr Mellon co-founded and became Chief Executive of the
Company. In 1994, he became Chairman of the Company.
Mr Mellon has over 20 years’ investment experience in
Asia. He specialises in the development and restructuring
of international investment vehicles, and travels extensively
across the region on company visits and fact-finding
missions. He is also director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr Mellon is also: (i] the non-executive director
of Agronomics Limited (having stepped down as the
chairman of its board on 31 May 2019 and remaining as a
non-executive director), a non-executive director of Condor
Gold plc and the executive chairman of the board of Manx
Financial Group plc, all of which are listed on the London
Stock Exchange AIM ("AIM"); (i) a non-executive director
of Bradda Head Holdings Limited (which was de-listed
from AIM on 6 October 2017 and readmitted to trading as
of 19 July 2021); and [iii) the non-executive chairman of the
board of Speymill Deutsche Immobilien Company plc (which
was de-listed from AIM on 31 May 2011). He was formerly:
(i) the non-executive chairman of the board of FastForward
Innovations Limited (an AIM-listed companyl; (i) the
non-executive chairman of the board of Rivington Street
Holdings Limited (which was delisted from ICAP Securities
and Derivatives Exchange (ISDX) in the United Kingdom on
3 April 2014 and was dissolved on 20 October 2017); (iii] the
non-executive chairman of the board of SalvaRx Group Plc
(which was de-listed from AIM on 9 January 2020), which,
following a group re-structuring in March 2017, disposed of
all its investments and business interests to its subsidiary,
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREEEZERE#E

DIRECTORS (conTiNUED)

namely SalvaRx Limited; (iv) the executive chairman of the
board of Speymill plc (which was de-listed from AIM on 2
February 2015 and was dissolved on 20 October 2017); [v) a
non-executive director of West African Minerals Corporation
(then an AIM-Llisted company, and now listed on the London
Stock Exchange Standard as Okyo Pharma Limited],
resigned on 13 November 2017; and (vi) a non-executive
director of Portage Biotech (which is dually listed on the
Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board of NASDAQ of the United
States and the Canadian Securities Exchange), resigned on
14 August 2020. Mr Mellon re-joined the board of Portage
Biotech on 15 February 2022.

Jamie Alexander Gibson, Executive Director and CEO, aged
57, British, joined the Group in April 1996 and was appointed
as an Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of the
Company in January 2002. In May 2002, he became CEO of
the Company. Mr Gibson has spent most of his professional
career with the Company specialising in corporate finance,
direct equity investments and structuring emerging market
investment products. Prior to joining the Company, he
worked at Clifford Chance, Coopers & Lybrand and KPMG.
Mr Gibson has a law degree from Edinburgh University.
He is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company, including: (i} Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding
Company Limited, which in turn holds a 25% equity interest
in West China Coking & Gas Company Limited; (ii] Plethora;
and [iii) Deep Longevity. Mr Gibson is a non-executive
director and chairman of Compedica, a private company of
which he holds approximately 8.2% interest and Galloway is
the major shareholder.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

DIRECTORS (conTiNUED)

S

Charles David Andrew Comba, INED, aged 79, Canadian,
has been an INED of the Company since October 2005. Until
his retirement in May 2005, he held senior staff positions as
Director Issues Management and more recently as Director
of Regulatory Affairs with the Prospectors and Developers
Association of Canada. Mr Comba obtained two geological
degrees from Queen’s University, Kingston, Ontario, Canada,
an MSc (1975) and a Hon BSc (1972). He served on or led
mineral exploration teams that have made eleven significant
discoveries of base and precious metals, primarily for
Falconbridge Group companies. Five discoveries were taken
to production. Mr Comba was formerly a director of CR
Capital Corp, a Canadian company listed on the NEX board
of Toronto Venture Exchange.

Julie Oates [former name: Julie Nixon; and maiden name:
Julie Wild), INED, aged 61, British, has been an INED
of the Company since September 2004. She trained with
PKF (Isle of Man) LLC and qualified in 1987 as a member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mrs Oates later joined the international firm
of Moore Stephens, and was appointed partner in the
Isle of Man firm in 1997. In 2002, she joined a local trust
company as Managing Director and in 2003 established
her own accountancy practice. Mrs Oates has experience
in both the general practice areas of accounting and
business assurance as well as offshore corporate and trust
administration. Mrs Oates acts as director for a number of
regulated financial services companies.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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DIRECTORS (conTiNUED)

ot

Stawell Mark Searle (alias: Sam Searle), INED, aged 79,
British, has been an INED of the Company since October
2001. He has over 30 years’ experience in the investment
management industry. Having trained with Jardine
Matheson, the Far Eastern trading house in London, he
was seconded to Samuel Montagu where he worked for
two years in their Investment Department. Subsequently,
Mr Searle joined Investment Intelligence Limited becoming
Investment Director responsible for management of a
stable of open ended funds. Between 1982 and 1987, he was
Managing Director of Richards Longstaff Limited, a privately
owned investment consultancy. In the following ten years,
he was Investment Director of Gerrard Asset Management.
Mr Searle has been a director of a number of closed-ended
funds during his career.

Jayne Allison Sutcliffe [maiden name: Jayne Allison
Wigley], NED, aged 59, British, was appointed as the
Group Corporate Finance Director in August 1991 and
was re-designated as a NED, in June 2000. Mrs Sutcliffe
has spent most of her professional career in the fund
management industry specialising in sales and marketing
initially at Thornton Management and then at Tyndall
Holdings Plc. Mrs Sutcliffe co-founded the Group in 1990
where she established, and was responsible for, the
Group’'s corporate finance activities. She has a Master's
degree in Theology from Oxford University. Mrs Sutcliffe is
a non-executive director and chairperson of WHEB Asset
Management LLP, which is a boutique asset management
company. She was formerly the Group Chief Executive of
Charlemagne Capital Limited ("CCL", which was de-listed
from the London Stock Exchange AIM on 15 December 2016
upon completion of the 100% acquisition of CCL by Fiera
Capital Corporation (which is listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange) by a scheme of arrangement on 14 December
2016).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

1.

Paul Eric Jones, Investment Director, aged 58, Canadian,
has 30 years of experience in the energy industry and
corporate finance. This has included various professional
disciplines encompassing fund management, banking and
business development. Before joining the Group in April
2011, Mr Jones was employed for six years with a Canadian
private equity fund, where he was principally engaged in
evaluating investment opportunities on behalf of the firm's
investors and managing a portfolio of public and private
securities. Prior thereto, Mr Jones was a Director in the
energy group at the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
(CIBC) where he specialised in debt financing and providing
advisory services to oil and gas producers. Previous to his
banking career, Mr Jones was a financial analyst with TC
Energy Corp. (a Canadian power generation and energy
transmission company), where he was responsible for
initiatives related to bond issuance, project finance, capital
budgeting and investor relations. Mr Jones holds a Bachelor
of Arts and a Master of Business Administration (Finance),
both from the University of Calgary.

Professor Michael Grant Wyllie (alias: Mike Wyllie),
Chief Scientific Officer, aged 72, British, has particular
responsibility for the process of securing approvals of
the product, regulatory compliance and assisting the
Chief Executive Officer in the commercial development
of Fortacin™ of Plethora. Prof Wyllie is a co-founder of
Plethora. He has over 30 years of experience in senior
management level positions within the pharmaceutical
industry, with Wyeth and Pfizer. He has considerable hands-
on experience in all aspects of the drug discovery and
development process, and has been involved with new
project inception, drug discovery and safety testing, early
and late stage clinical development, regulatory filing, and
the successful commercialisation of products, including
Cardura® (doxazosin), Enablex® (darifenacin) and Viagra®
(sildenafil). Prof Wyllie sits on the Clinical Trial Design and
Future Therapies in BPH Committees of the World Health
Organisation International Consultations on Urological
Disease and the International Advisory Panel to The
University of Strathclyde. He is an assistant editor of the
British Journal of Urology in the Sexual Medicine Section.
He has over 200 publications and is the named inventor of
over 80 patents.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

S

Wong Yui Fui, Frankie, Chief Financial Officer, aged 48,
Chinese, joined the Group in July 2000 and was promoted as
Chief Financial Officer in 2011. Mr Wong is a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in UK. He has the degree
of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Prior joining the Company, he has
gained extensive experience in auditing and accounting with
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Lui Mei Yan Winnie, Company Secretary, aged 48, Chinese,
joined the Group in May 2021. Ms Lui is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional, and a
Fellow of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in UK.
She holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
and a Master’s degree in Business Administration. Ms Lui
has extensive experience in the company secretarial field
and corporate governance practices with listed companies.
Ms Lui formerly acted as the company secretary of a
number of listed companies on the Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

EERHSERESZwmED

REVENUE AND PROFIT

The Group recorded a loss attributable to the shareholders of the
Company of approximately US$36.43 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: approximately US$12.60 million).

The main elements of the loss are analysed as follows:

Wiy 2k B2 i 1

HE_T- __F+_HBA=+—HLEE &&E
iR E A AR EELEIE436,430,000E 7T
(ZZBZ—4H : £912,600,0005%7T) ©

BRZETBZEESRAT :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+CAS+-BLEE nerease]
(decrease) in
2022 2021 absolute value
BHfE
-%-= ZEC-F 2/ ()
Notes US$ million US$ million %
Mzt BEET BEER
Milestone and royalty income ERBRENERERA 0.04 3.5 (98.77)
Other income HA 0.19 048 (60.42)
Exchange loss [EREE (0.11) (0.29) (62.07)
Fair value (loss}/gain on EMIEZARER
financial instruments BR) s i (4.13) 1479 N/A TEF
Amortisation of intangible assets BV BEEH (24.95) (23.76) 501
R&D expenditure Mm% i (1.22) (2.40) (69.17)
G&A expenditure —RRTHER iv (4.82) (5.94) (18.86)
Finance costs AERA v (1.01) (1.22) (17.21)
(Taxation)/Tax credit (78 /1R vi (0.42) 249 N/A R
Total loss attributable to FATRREEEAE
shareholders of the Company (36.43) (12.60] 189.13

(i)

(ii)

The Group did not record a milestone payment for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: US$3.20 million) as no milestones were
triggered pursuant to its licence agreements. However, the Group
recorded royalty income of approximately US$35,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately US$54,000), which
was lower due to no supply of Fortacin™ during the year as certain
manufacturing issues were experienced by the manufacturer.

The Group recorded a realised and an unrealised marked-to-
market loss on FAFVPL of approximately US$3.78 million and
US$0.35 million respectively for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: gain of approximately US$4.85 million and US$8.74 million
respectively), which resulted from the decrease in the share price
of DVP during the year.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE
ERRNFSEEFERZRR AN

REVENUE AND PROFIT (conTinuED)

(i)  The R&D expenditure decreased by 49.17% to approximately
US$1.22 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately US$2.40 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, which was a result of the completion of the Phase 2 study in
2021 and the delay in the start of the Phase 3 study in the US.

(iv)  The G&A expenditure decreased by 18.86% to approximately
US$4.82 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately US$5.94 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. The decrease was mainly due to the reduction in salaries and
fees during the year.

(v The finance costs decreased by 17.21% to approximately US$1.01
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately
US$1.22 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. This is
mainly because the principal amount of the Convertible Notes of
US$2.65 million were redeemed for cash at their maturity date of
23 August 2022 Consequently, the interest expenses on Convertible
Notes for the year ended 31 December 2022 was less when
compared with the year ended 31 December 2021.

(vl The Group recorded a deferred tax charge of approximately
US$0.42 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: tax
credit of approximately US$2.49 million). It is because the Group
has elected out of the UK Patent Box Regime, which has the
effect of increasing the tax earned on any income from its patent
Fortacin™ from the Patent Box tax rate of 10% to 19% in 2022 and
23.5% in 2023. The Group’s deferred tax liabilities related to its
patent Fortacin™ had to be accordingly adjusted to these tax rates
(further details set out in note 9 to the financial statements).

FINANCIAL POSITION

Shareholders” equity decreased by 93.30% to approximately
US$2.60 million as at 31 December 2022 from approximately
US$38.77 million as at 31 December 2021. The decrease was
mainly due to the loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company of approximately US$36.43 million for the year ended
31 December 2022.

(i) intangible assets of
approximately US$23.70 million, being Fortacin™ and the

The Group’'s assets comprised:

IP (Deep Longevity); (ii] listed and unlisted investments of
approximately US$1.10 million; [iii) cash and bank balances
of approximately US$0.34 million; and (iv) property, plant and
equipment and receivables of approximately US$1.18 million.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

S ap S JEIES - PANE Y-S i)

FINANCIAL POSITION (conTINUED)

The Group's liabilities comprised: (i) deferred tax liabilities
of approximately US$5.39 million; (i) payables and accruals
of approximately US$4.60 million; (iii) shareholder’'s loans

of approximately US$13.40 million; (iv] lease liabilities of
approximately US$0.30 million; and (v} long-term and short-term
bank borrowings of approximately US$26,000.

Post year end, the Company recapitalised its consolidated
statement of financial position, leaving it debt free by setting
off the then shareholder’s loans of approximately US$13.40
million together with the accrued loan interests of approximately
US$1.44 million from the Rights Issue that was completed on 12
January 2023 through the issuance of 2,166,571,194 new shares.
The Company has raised sufficient working capital to achieve its
short-term plan for its business development and operations for
the next 12 months. The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue
(before the Set Off and expenses) were approximately US$21.67
million and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the
Set Off and after deducting expenses of approximately US$0.80
million) were approximately US$20.87 million.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

Upon the completion of the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023,
the Group received the gross proceeds [before the Set Off
and expenses) of approximately US$21.67 million or the net
proceeds (before the Set Off and after deducting expenses) of
approximately US$20.87 million. As disclosed in the prospectus
of the Company dated 13 December 2022 (the “Prospectus”], the
Company intends to apply the net proceeds from the Rights Issue
as to (i) approximately 63.63% (up to approximately US$13.28
million] for the Set Off upon completion of the Rights Issue (post
year end this was completed in January 2023); (i) approximately
26.37% [up to approximately US$5.50 million) for implementation
of its business development plan as described under the
paragraph headed “Business development” in the Prospectus;
and (i) the remaining 10.00% (up to approximately US$2.09
million) as general working capital of the Group.

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue were received by the
Company on 12 January 2023 which was after the financial year
ended 31
proceeds will be disclosed in the interim report of the Company
for the six months ending 30 June 2023 pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

December 2022. Further details on the use of net
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE
EREHSERERZARRDH

STRATEGIC PLAN

The Board and the Company’'s senior management play an
active role in the Company’s strategy development and planning
process. The CEO regularly interacts with the Board in respect
of the strategic plan and direction of the Company, during which
an agreed approach for the Company to generate and preserve
its long-term value was determined, while agreeing shorter
term priorities and objectives. In addition, the risks associated
with the current operations and strategy of the Company are
currently being tested by way of an internal audit process
conducted through an independent service provider, with the aim
of identifying ways in which the Company can better identify and
manage its risks.

In order to generate or preserve value over the longer term, the
Group is committed to:

o the divestment of non-core assets and investments to
enable the Company to pursue growth and opportunistic
investments in the life sciences sector;

e utilising international and local expertise to tackle difficult
markets, deliver results and achieve global recognition; and

e employing the Company's Hong Kong listing through
strong liquidity and access to international capital markets,
together with maintaining our corporate governance and
social responsibility standards in line with the policies set
down by the Stock Exchange and best practice.

The Company is committed to creating Shareholder value and
returns through accretive acquisitions and returning surplus
capital to Shareholders by way of an effective dividend policy and
share repurchase programme.

FUNDING

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately US$0.34
million in cash that represented approximately 13.13% of its
total shareholders’ equity, which does not take into account
the Group’s holding of securities of FAFVPL that amounted to
approximately US$1.10 million. On completion of the Set Off and
Rights Issue post year end, cash increased to approximately
US$7.04 million.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE
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GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio (being long-term
debts over total equity and long-term debts) was approximately
0.69% (31 December 2021: 16.36%). Post year end, the gearing
ratio was reduced to nearly zero on completion of the Set Off
by way of issuance of new shares under the Set Off and Rights
Issue.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2022 (2021: nill.

CHANGES SINCE 31 DECEMBER 2022

Save as disclosed in this 2022 Annual Report, there were no
significant changes in the Group’s financial position and from
the information disclosed under Management's Discussion and
Analysis of the Group’s Performance in the annual financial
report for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, a bank deposit amounting to US$32,000
is a deposit held by the bank as security for the corporate credit
cards provided to a subsidiary of the Company (2021: nil).

MANAGEMENT OF RISK

In 2022, the most significant risk affecting the profitability and
viability in respect of the Group is in respect of the Group's
interest in Plethora and the continued success and revenue
derived from its listed equity portfolio. Key risks relating to the
Group’s interests include:

Equity Markets

Global financial markets are continuing to experience significant
levels of volatility, driven largely by the Russian-Ukrainian
war, the rapid increase in the price of commodities and other
macro-economic imbalances stemming from the sovereign
debt problems in Europe and the credit tightening in developing
countries. As such, the future returns from the Group’s equity
portfolio are linked to the health of the macro environment for
which the Group cannot control.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE
EREHSERERZARRDH

MANAGEMENT OF RISK (conTiNnUED)

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates using US dollars. As such, the Group is
exposed to foreign currency fluctuations arising from operations
of its subsidiaries and associate. This exposure relates mainly to
the translation between US dollars and non-US dollar currencies.
Currency fluctuations may affect the revenues which the Group
realises from its subsidiaries and associate and, in particular,
its interest in Plethora. This exposes the Group to increased
volatility in earnings as reported in US dollars due to fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates. While foreign currencies are generally
convertible into US dollars, there is no guarantee that they will
continue to be so convertible or that fluctuations in the value of
such currencies will not have an adverse effect on the Group.

Interest Rate Risk

Other than the bank borrowings and shareholder’s loans with
fixed interest rates, the Group does not have any other operating
lines of credit, bank facilities or shareholder’s loans [post year
end). Therefore, the Group was not exposed to interest rate risk in
the financial year under review.

Risks Inherent to Plethora (the Company’s most significant
investment)

The timing and quantum of receipt of upfront, milestone and
royalty income from strategic commercial marketing partners,
which in itself is dependent on the successful partnering and the
commercial launch of Fortacin™/Senstend™:

The management of Plethora’s cost base and maintaining
adequate working capital and ensuring sufficient funds are made
available to complete the ongoing clinical work and regulatory
approval processes in the US and bringing Fortacin™/Senstend™
to market;

The retention of key employees to complete the
commercialisation process;

Delays and other unforeseen disruptions to the manufacturing
and regulatory approval projects which could have an adverse
impact on the commercial launch of Fortacin™/Senstend™ and
future revenues; and

The exposure to competition from new generic entrants into the
market.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

S ap S JEIES - PANE Y-S i)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group will operate both equity market and currency
hedges from time to time. Investment is carefully controlled,
in accordance with parameters set by the Board, in short-term
situations where physical assets may be inappropriate. There
Is strict segregation between the investment management and
settlement functions.

In term of the total operations of the Group, activities of this
nature are of limited materiality.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Group had not taken out any currency hedge as the
management is not aware of any material foreign currency risk
against its investments in financial assets. Currently, the Group
has no material financial liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies other than US dollars.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

There were no material acquisitions or disposals for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

For details of the segment information, please refer to note 5 to
the Financial Statements.

EMPLOYEES

The Group, including subsidiaries but excluding associate,
employed 17 employees and 5 consultants at 31 December 2022
(2021: 18 employees and 13 consultants). The remuneration
policy is to reward key employees by a combination of salaries,
profit related discretionary bonuses and Share Options, where
appropriate. For employees below Board level, remuneration
will be determined by the Director(s) responsible for the
division whilst, for Directors, remuneration is determined by the
Remuneration Committee. No Directors should be involved in
deciding his or her own remuneration. In all cases, profit related
discretionary bonuses and grants of Share Options will be agreed
by the Remuneration Committee.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERELHRS

THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Company has complied with the Code
Provisions set out in the CG Code.

THE CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code
regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant
employees on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code. Reminders are sent to Directors and
relevant employees that they should comply with the restriction
on dealing of the securities of the Company as specified in the
Securities Dealing Code. The Securities Dealing Code is available
on the Company's website.

Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Securities Dealing Code and the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD

Board Leadership

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives,
overseeing the management of the business of the Company,
establishing the Company’s purpose, values and strategy, and is
satisfied that these and the Company’'s culture are aligned. All
Directors must act with integrity, lead by example, and promote
the desired culture. Such culture should instil and continually
reinforce across the organisation values of acting lawfully,
ethically and responsibly. The Board is also responsible for
performing the corporate governance functions as set out under
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Board Leadership (Continued)

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business of
the Group and ensures that the Directors devote sufficient time
and make contributions to the Group. Each Director has the
character, skill, experience, integrity and diverse expertise and is
able to demonstrate a standard of competence commensurate
with his/her role as a Director for discharging his/her duties in
the best interests of the Company.

The CG Code provides that the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separated and performed by different
individuals. The Chairman leads and is responsible for running
the Board. The CEO leads the management team and is
responsible for running business and daily operations of the
Company. The two roles are separate and performed by different
individuals. The Board may delegate aspects of its management
and administration functions to the management by giving clear
directions as to the management’s power. In particular, the day-
to-day management of the Company is delegated to the CEO and
his management team.

Board Composition

The Board currently consists of six Directors. The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set
out as follows:

Executive Director:
Jamie Gibson (Chief Executive Officer]

NEDs:
James Mellon [Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INEDs:

David Comba
Julie Oates
Mark Searle
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRS

THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Board Composition (Continued)

All Directors, including INED, are clearly identified in all
corporate communications of the Company. A list of Directors
is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The biographical details of Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of the 2022 Annual Report and are available on the
Company’s website.

Under Code Provision B.2.4(b) of the CG Code set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules, the Company is required to appoint a new
INED on the board at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Announcement on the appointment of a new INED will be
published by the Company as and when appropriate.

The updated list of the Directors identifying their roles and
functions is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company and is set out below:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Independence of the INEDs

During the year ended 31 December 2022, in compliance with
the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Board
consisted of three INEDs, representing at least one-third of the
Board, with at least one of the INEDs possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the INEDs has confirmed by an
annual confirmation that he/she (including his/her “immediate
family members”, as defined under Rule 14A.12(1)(a) of the
Listing Rules) complies with the independence criteria under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and has undertaken to inform
the Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable
if there are any changes of circumstances which may affect
his/her independence. None of the INEDs held cross-
directorships or had significant links with other Directors through
involvements in other companies. The Board considered that
individual independence should not be determined solely by
the length of service. Despite David Comba, Julie Oates and
Mark Searle have served the Board as INEDs for more than
17 years, 18 years and 21 years respectively, the Nomination
Committee and the Board have assessed the independence
of David Comba, Julie Oates and Mark Searle based on their
annual confirmation of independence and were satisfied with
their independence with reference to the criteria as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As each of the INEDs has
not been involved in the daily operation of the Company nor in
any relationship or circumstances which would affect his/her
independent judgment and he/she has been able to provide
independent and professional views to the Company’s affairs, the
Board is not aware of any circumstances that might influence
the independence of INEDs and considers that all INEDs are
independent.

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by Shareholders
at annual general meetings. In accordance with Article 87 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election of
retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by
separate resolutions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRS

THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors (Continued)

All INEDs have served more than nine years, such Directors’
further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the Shareholders. The papers to the Shareholders
accompanying that resolution should state why the Board (and
the Nomination Committee) believe that the Director is still
independent and should be re-elected, including the factors
considered, the process and the discussion of the Board (and the
Nomination Committee) in arriving at such determination. Also,
the length of tenure of each existing INEDs on a named basis was
disclosed in the circular to the Shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the 2023 AGM.

At the 2022 AGM held on 26 May 2022, each of Jamie Gibson and
Jayne Sutcliffe retired by rotation in accordance with Article 87
of the Articles of Association of the Company and was re-elected
as Directors by the Shareholders by a separate resolution. The
papers to Shareholders accompanying that resolution included
the reasons why the Board believes he/she should be re-elected.
The Board considers that Jamie Gibson and Jayne Sutcliffe have
the required character, skill, experience and integrity and are able
to demonstrate a standard of competence commensurate with
his/her position as a Director for discharging his/her duties in the
best interest of the Company.

At the 2023 AGM, James Mellon and David Comba shall retire
by rotation in accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of
Association of the Company. All the retiring Directors, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election by a separate resolution
in the 2023 AGM. The papers to Shareholders accompanying
that resolution included the reasons why the Board and the
Nomination Committee believe that David Comba is still
independent and should be re-elected. It is the opinion of
the Directors that David Comba continues to be independent
under the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13(1) to (8)
of the Listing Rules and has proved to be capable of efficiently
exercising independent judgement. The Board considers that
the long service of each of James Mellon and David Comba
has provided valuable contributions to the Company and has
demonstrated abilities to provide balanced and objective view
to the Company's affairs. The Board is also of the view that
James Mellon and David Comba would bring to the Board their
own perspective, skills and experience, as further described
in their biographical details as set out in the 2022 Annual
Report, and can bring an invaluable insight to the Board. Their
extensive experience and expertise continue to provide invaluable
contribution and diversity to the Board. The Board believes
that the re-election of James Mellon and David Comba as
Directors would be in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors (Continued)

The Company has in place a Nomination Policy which sets out,
inter alia, the selection criteria and the evaluation procedures
in nominating candidates to be appointed or re-elected as
Directors. The Nomination Committee has considered the skills,
regional and industry experience, background, race, gender and
other qualities of James Mellon and David Comba in accordance
with the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. Details on the
factors considered by the Board and the Nomination Committee
are set out in the circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the 2023 AGM.

When casual vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will
be identified and proposed to the Board by the Nomination
Committee as set out in the paragraph headed “Nomination
Committee” of this report. Any Director so appointed shall
retire at the next annual general meeting but shall be eligible
for re-election at that meeting in accordance with Article 86(3)
of the Articles of Association of the Company. There was no
appointment of new Director during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Non-executive Directors

All NEDs including the INEDs were not appointed for a specific
term but are subject to re-election by the Shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least every three years on a rotational
basis in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the CG Code, and there are sufficient measures
to ensure the Company complies with the same level as that
required under this provision.

The letter of appointment of James Mellon (for the position
as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board) does not specify a
term for his appointment, however his appointment may be
terminated by either party giving 30 calendar days’ notice,
and he is also subject to the directors’ retirement provisions
as set out in the Company’'s Articles of Association. Further,
Mr Mellon’s advisory agreement specifies that his appointment
as an advisor of the Company may be terminated by either party
giving one year's written notice. The letter of appointment of
each of the remaining four NEDs (including the INEDs] provides
that his/her appointment may be terminated by either party
giving 30 calendar days’ notice and he/she is also subject to
the directors’ retirement provisions as set out in the Company’s
Articles of Association and the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRS

THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Directors’ Attendance at Meetings

Each of the Directors ensured that he/she gave sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company. Directors’ attendance
at the Board meetings, the Board Committee meetings and the
general meetings held during the year under review is set out

ERHETHRER
REFHRARACHRBRBENEEELAR
AEF - BEENLBEFENRTHNESES Y
F EFELECERMNRRARGHEFERR
WM :

below:

Directors’ meeting attendance during the year (Meetings attended/eligible to attend)

FERESHEGHZER HEZEHE SERTLE)
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration

Directors Board Committee Committee Committee 2022 AGM 2022 EGM
EE Exg BRZEEE RYZEET HHEEET RFEEFXET REBHIAE
James Mellon o 22 11 - 1/1 22
Jamie Gibson 5/5 NARER NAREBR - 1/1 22
David Comba 5/5 NATRER NATER - /1 2/2
Julie Oates 5/5 212 11 - 1/1 112
Mark Searle 5/5 22 11 -© 0/1 22
Jayne Sutcliffe 3/5 NARER NATBR - 1/1 22
Number of meetings held
FTEERY 5 2 1 0 1 2
C: Chairman € FE
Notes: FfEE
1. Article 116(2) of the Company's Articles of Association provides 1. $@E%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ$ﬁ%ﬁ,ﬁﬂ%ﬂé (2) FRRE EEH

that Directors may participate in any meeting of the Board by
means of a conference telephone or other communications
equipment through which all persons participating in the
meeting can communicate with each other simultaneously and
instantaneously and, for the purpose of counting a quorum, such
participation shall constitute presence at a meeting as if those
participating were present in person.

2. James Mellon and Jayne Sutcliffe were materially interested in the
Rights Issue, the Placing Agreement, the Underwriting Agreement,
the Set Off and the transactions contemplated thereunder and the
Whitewash Waiver, they were required to abstain from voting at the
Board meeting approving such matters. They did not attend such
Board meeting held in the year.
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THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Directors Training

All Directors have confirmed that they have undertaken
continuous professional development and training programmes
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as well as to
keep themselves abreast of the latest developments relevant to
their respective expertise and professions to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company has arranged seminars conducted by professional
organisations and circulated reading materials to Directors to
provide them with the latest development and update relating to
the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and relevant
legal and regulatory requirements relating to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities in the discharge of their duties. A summary
of the records of continuous professional development provided
by the Directors during the year under review is set out below:

Directors
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Attending seminars/training courses/
Reading materials
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James Mellon
Jamie Gibson
David Comba
Julie Oates
Mark Searle
Jayne Sutcliffe
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Board Process

The Board is responsible for setting up the overall strategy and
reviewing the operation and financial performance of the Group.
The Board meets reqularly and at least four times a year with
at least 14 days notice. Additional meetings with reasonable
notice will be held as and when the Board considers appropriate.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board held five
Board meetings and also approved matters by way of written
resolutions.
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Board Process (Continued)

Draft agenda for each Board meeting is circulated to all
Directors such that all Directors are given the opportunities to
include maters for discussion in the agenda. Meeting agenda,
accompanying Board meeting papers, are given to Directors
in a timely manner and at least three days before the date
of the regular Board/Board Committee meetings (as so far
as practicable for such other Board and Board Committee
meetings).

Draft and final versions of minutes of the Board/Board
Committee meetings were circulated to Directors for their
comments and records respectively within a reasonable
time after the meetings were held. Minutes of Board/Board
Committee meetings recorded in detail the matters considered
by the Board/Board Committees and decisions reached at
meeting, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting
views expressed. All minutes of Board/Board Committees
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary or duly appointed
personnel. Such minutes will be made available by the Company
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.

Resolutions were also passed by way of written resolutions
circulated to and signed by all Directors from time to time when
necessary. Except for those circumstances permitted by the
Articles of Association of the Company and the Listing Rules, a
Director who has a material interest in any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution and such Director is not counted for the purpose of
determining quorum.

All Directors, especially NEDs (including INEDs) are provided with
sufficient resources to assist them perform their duties as Board/
Board Committee members, including access to independent
professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expenses.
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THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Board Process (Continued)

Physical Board meetings, as opposed to written resolutions, will
be held to consider matters in which a substantial shareholder
or Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material.
At these physical Board meetings, INEDs who, and whose close
associates, have no material interest in the transaction will be
present. Directors who have a conflict of interest shall abstain
from voting on any Board resolution and shall not be counted
in the quorum on any resolution of the Board in respect of any
contract or arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she
or his/her close associates is materially interested in accordance
with Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

The NEDs (including INEDs) actively participated in Board
meetings and Board Committees meetings. The Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination

Committee comprise a majority of INEDs.

Time Commitments of Directors

All Directors have demonstrated a strong commitment to the
Board affairs and devoted sufficient time performing their
responsibilities to the Company effectively. All Directors have
also disclosed any changes in their number and nature of offices
held in public companies and organisations and other significant
commitments to the Company.

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and Input Available
to the Board

The Board is committed to assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors annually and ensuring that
independent views and input are made available to the Board.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board considered
and established the mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are made available to the Board. A summary of which is set
out below:
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Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and Input Available
to the Board (Continued)

1.

Structure of the Board and Board Committees

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least
three INEDs and to appoint INEDs representing at least
one-third of the Board as required by the Listing Rules from
time to time and the INEDs will be appointed to other Board
committees of the Company as far as practicable to ensure
independent views are available. There is a separation of the
role of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer to ensure balance of power and authority.

Annual Review of Independence and Commitment

The Nomination Committee and the Board must strictly
adhere to the Nomination Policy and the guidelines for
assessing independence as set out in the Listing Rules with
regard to the nomination and appointment of INEDs.

The Nomination Committee and the Board assess the
independence of all INEDs at least on an annual basis
by reference to the independence criteria as set out in
the Listing Rules to ensure that they can continually
exercise independent judgement. Each INED is required to
confirm his/her independence on a half-yearly basis in the
Director’s confirmation and inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal
particulars that may materially affect his/her independence.

If an INED has served more than nine years, such INED’s
further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders of the Company.
The papers to shareholders of the Company accompanying
that resolution should state why the Nomination Committee
and the Board believes that the INED is still independent
and should be re-elected, including the factors considered,
the process and the discussion of the Nomination
Committee and the Board in arriving at such determination.
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THE BOARD (conTiNUED)

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and Input Available
to the Board (Continued)

3. Sufficient Resources and Decision Making

All INEDs should be provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties. They can have direct access to the
company secretary and management of the Company and
should have access to independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense if necessary.

AL INEDs shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement in
which such Director or any of his/her close associates has a
material interest.

4. Review of this Policy

The Board shall review such mechanisms and monitor its
implementation as appropriate from time to time so as to
ensure its effectiveness.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of INED and most INEDs were appointed to the
Board committees of the Company to ensure independent views
were available. Independent views and input from INEDs are
available to the Board during discussions at physical Board and
Board committees meetings as well as effective contribution and
exchange of views from time to time.

Board Evaluation

There is a strong independent element on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgement. During the year
under review, an annual Board performance evaluation was
conducted to conclude that the Board and the Board committees
had performed well with good processes. A culture of openness
and debate is also promoted by facilitating the effective
contribution of non-executive Directors in particular and ensuring
constructive relations between Executive Director and NEDs.
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance policy in respect of legal action against the
Directors and officers of the Company. Such permitted indemnity
provisions are in force during the year under review and at the
time of approval of this report.

CHAIRMAN AND CEO

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO are
segregated with written terms of reference. James Mellon has
been the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board since October
2005 to provide leadership for the Board and ensure that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities and
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner. Jamie Gibson has been the CEO since May
2002 and is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business. The Chairman has delegated to the CEO to
draw up and approve the agenda for each Board meeting taking
into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by other
Directors for inclusion in the agenda.

All Directors were properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings. Any enquiries or requests from the Directors were
followed up and responded to by the management of the
Company in a timely manner. The Board papers in sufficient
details were circulated to Directors on a timely manner so that all
Directors were able to receive adequate information, which must
be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, prior to the meetings.

The Chairman takes primary responsibility for ensuring that
good governance practices and procedures are established. The
Chairman encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and takes the lead to ensure
that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. The
Chairman also encourages Directors with different views to voice
their concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

The Chairman held a private meeting during the year under
review with all the INEDs without the presence of other Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In the course of overseeing management and business
performance, the Board is assisted by the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, with
each operating under written terms of reference as approved
and reviewed from time to time by the Board. There are also an
Investment Committee and an Inside Information Committee
under the authority of the Board to oversee various matters,
including but not limited to compliance and disclosure.

Details of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, including the composition,
duties and work performed during the year under review, are set
out in the following paragraphs of this report. The Investment
Committee, comprises the Board Chairman and the CEO,
primarily oversees the investments of the Group. During the year
under review, the Investment Committee held no meetings and
resolved matters by circulation of written resolutions. The Inside
Information Committee, comprising the CEO and other members
who are not Directors, reviews and monitors the compliance
of the Company with its statutory disclosure obligations under
Part XIVA of the SFO, the Listing Rules and other applicable
laws and regulations in respect of disclosures of the Company
on an ongoing basis. During the year under review, the Inside
Information Committee held no meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions as set out under Code Provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code. During the year under review, the key corporate
governance functions performed by the Board included, but not
limited to, the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and the compliance with the Model Code, the CG Code and
disclosures in this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is comprised of three members with the
current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Audit Committee:
Julie Oates (INED)

Members of the Audit Committee:
James Mellon (NED)
Mark Searle (INED)

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
which requires that the Audit Committee must comprise a
minimum of three members, at least one of whom is an INED
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise, and a majority of the
members being INEDs and must be chaired by an INED.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for providing
an independent review of the effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting process, evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks the Board is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems; and
overseeing the audit process and performing other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee
is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.
Where necessary, the Audit Committee may seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to perform
its responsibilities. The Audit Committee is chaired by Julie
Oates, who has the appropriate professional qualifications and
accounting and related financial management expertise required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Details of the duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its
terms of reference, which is subject to reviewed regularly and
updated where necessary and is made available at the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (conTiNUED)

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and met with the external auditor twice in the absence
of the management of the Group. Duties performed included
the review of the audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and the interim financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
the semi-annual and annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and
significant financial matters, the annual evaluation of the external
and internal auditors of the Company, the annual evaluation of
the Audit Committee, the annual review of adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget for the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting
functions of the Group and those relating to the Group’s
Environmental, Social and Governance performance and
reporting, the annual review of the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee and the recommendation of the Whistleblowing Policy
and Anti-Corruption Policy. The attendance of each member
of the Audit Committee is set out in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Attendance at Meetings” of this report.

A separate paragraph headed "Risk Management and Internal
Control” is set out below in this report.

Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy

At the July 2022 Board meeting, the Board adopted the
Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti-Corruption Policy for
compliance with Code Provisions D.2.6 and D.2.7 of the CG
Code respectively. Employees of the Group can raise to the
Audit Committee, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or any other
matters related to the Group. For reported possible improprieties
accepted for investigation, reports of possible improprieties will
be kept confidential to the extent possible, consistent with the
need to conduct an adequate investigation. The Audit Committee
should inform the Board of the reports of possible improprieties
and make recommendations on the disciplinary and remedial
actions to be taken. The Whistle-blower should be communicated
with the decision or investigation results in a timely manner
wherever possible. For reported possible improprieties not to be
investigated further, the reasons should be reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (conTiNUED)

Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy (Continued)

In support of anti-corruption laws and regulations, the Company
reminds employees to observe the requirements of the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and relevant anti-corruption
laws. All Directors, officers and employees of the Group, and
the Group’'s joint venture partners, associated companies’
representatives, consultants, contractors, customers and
suppliers are encouraged to abide by the principles of the
Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti-Corruption Policy, both
policies are available at the website of the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is comprised of three members with
the current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Nomination Committee:
James Mellon (NED)

Members of the Nomination Committee:
Julie Oates (INED)
Mark Searle (INED)

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, assessing
the independence of INEDs, and nominating candidates for
appointment and re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Board Chairman
and the CEO. The Nomination Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. Where necessary,
the Nomination Committee may seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense to perform its responsibilities.

Nomination Policy

Nomination of candidates to stand for election as Board
members must go through formal, prudent and transparent
procedures. The Company has adopted the Nomination Policy
which sets out the selection criteria in the determination of the
suitability of a candidate and nomination procedures and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee
regarding selection and recommendation of appointment of
new Directors, re-election of Directors and nomination from
Shareholders.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTiNUED)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Nomination Committee shall identify and nominate
potential candidates to the Board for consideration and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning as it considers
appropriate. The Nomination Committee shall have regard to the
selection criteria which include but is not limited to qualifications,
experience, skills, expertise, independence and diversity of
perspectives which contribute to the effective carrying out of the
Board responsibilities, time commitment and Board diversity. The
Nomination Committee shall conduct a review of the Nomination
Policy and monitor its implementation from time to time to
ensure its effectiveness.

The overall composition of the Board and the skills of each
Director shall be reviewed and evaluated on a regular basis
to maintain Board efficiency and facilitate smooth succession
planning. Potential Board appointment identified will be put
forward to the Nomination Committee for consideration. The
recommendation of the Nomination Committee will be put
forward to the Board approval. According to Article 86(3) of the
Articles of Association of the Company, all newly-appointed
Directors have to retire for re-election by Shareholders at the first
annual general meeting following his/her appointment. Induction
to new Directors will be arranged to ensure they are updated.
During the year under review, the Board composition remained
unchanged.

The Nomination Committee shall also review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring Directors
and make recommendation to the Board in respect of the
proposed re-election of Directors at the general meeting.
During the year under review, Jamie Gibson and Jayne Sutcliffe
had retired by rotation pursuant to Article 87 of the Articles
of Association of the Company and offered themselves for re-
election at the 2022 AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRS

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTiNUED)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

Details of the duties of the Nomination Committee are set out in
its terms of reference, which is subject to reviewed regularly and
updated where necessary and is made available at the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting. Duties performed included the review of the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board, the
independence of the INEDs, the review of the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy, and the
recommendation of the nomination of Directors retiring by
rotation and their re-election for Board approval. The attendance
of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ Attendance at Meetings” of this
report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity on
the Board. The Board will consider the benefits of all aspects
of diversity including, but not limited to the skills, regional
and industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities of Directors. All Board appointments are made on merit,
in the context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole
requires to be effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board comprises
of six Directors, of which 4 are male and 2 are female. The Board
considers that it has maintained a good and balanced gender
diversity at the Board level by having at least one member of
either gender on the Board in view of the current Board size.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTiNUED)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

The Company noted that a significant majority of the members of
the senior management of the Company are males and will make
its best endeavour to achieve a more balanced gender diversity
across the workforce (including senior management) when
opportunities arise. Currently, the senior management team
comprises of four members, of which 3 are male and 1 is female.
The Board considers that it has maintained a good and balanced
gender diversity at the senior management level by having at
least one member of either gender in view of the current size
of the senior management team. As of 31 December 2022, the
Company maintains a high gender diversity in workforce, 73 %
of our staff were male and 27 % were female. The Company will
continue with its endeavour to increase female representation in
our workforce. Further details on gender ratio in the workforce
are disclosed under the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this 2022 Annual Report.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given
time the Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of
its diversity and measure progress accordingly. In order to set
meaningful objectives, the Nomination Committee will assess its
current diversity levels and identify where gaps exist. Measurable
objectives will then be developed which are tailored towards
improving diversity in areas where most improvement is needed.
The Company acknowledges that there are a number of different
types of measurable objectives which may be implemented to
assist in meeting its diversity goals, including:

- procedural and structural objectives: for example,
implementing internal review and reporting procedures
or ensuring that candidates are interviewed by a diverse
selection/interview panel;

- diversity targets: setting specific diversity targets, for
example setting targets for the number of women on the
Board and implementing timeframes for this to occur by;
and
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTiNUED)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

S initiatives and programs: for example, identifying
appropriate initiatives and programs and determining
how the initiative will operate, who will be responsible for
implementing it and setting a timetable for its introduction.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy
and its effectiveness annually and recommends revisions to
the Board for approval as appropriate. During the year under
review, the Nomination Committee and the Board reviewed
and considered the Board Diversity Policy, in particular gender
diversity, was suitable for the size of the Company.

Nomination Procedures and Process

The Nomination Committee identifies or selects potential
candidates for Board succession with consideration given to
the diversity of the Board, by engaging external independent
professional agencies if needed. The Nomination Committee
may use any process it deems appropriate to evaluate the
candidates, which may include personal interviews, background
checks, presentations, written submissions by the candidate or
third-party reference, then provides all relevant information and
makes recommendation to the Board, including the terms and
conditions of the appointment.

The Board approves the appointment of new Directors based
upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.
A circular accompanying the notice of the general meeting
containing all relevant information would be sent to the
Shareholders where applicable. A newly-appointed Director shall
retire at the next annual general meeting but shall be eligible for
election by the Shareholders.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is comprised of three members
with the current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee:
Mark Searle (INED)

Members of the Remuneration Committee:
James Mellon (NED)
Julie Oates (INED)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (conTinuED)

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for
reviewing and approving the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the employees. The Remuneration Committee has
adopted the model referred to in Code Provision E.1.2(c] of the
CG Code where it should determine, with delegated responsibility,
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and
senior management. No Directors or any of their associates are
involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties. Where necessary, the Remuneration Committee may seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to
perform its responsibilities.

Details of the duties of the Remuneration Committee are set out
in its terms of reference, which is subject to reviewed regularly
and updated where necessary and is made available at the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
did not hold any meeting but dealt with matters by way of
written resolutions. Duties performed included the review of
remuneration packages of the employees including the Executive
Director for Board approval.

INSIDE INFORMATION REPORTING

The Company has adopted a policy and procedures on reporting
of Inside Information which set out the proper standards and
procedures for the handling, reporting and dissemination
of Inside Information in accordance with the Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the SFC. Potential
inside information is escalated to the Inside Information
Committee, comprising the CEO who is the Executive Director
and other members who are not Directors, as soon as possible,
which reviews and monitors the compliance of the Company with
its statutory disclosure obligations under Part XIVA of the SFO,
the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations. In
the event that the Inside Information Committee considers that
certain possible or potential inside information is in fact inside
information, it will escalate the matter to the Board for approval
of appropriate disclosures. Any public communication may only
be made, or authorised to be made, by the CEQO or the Company
Secretary and must be limited to what information is already in
the public domain. In addition, Company presentation materials
must not be released to the market without formal and written
approval from the CEQO.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets, on an ongoing basis. The
Board acknowledged that management continues to allocate
resources for the internal control and risk management systems
which are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board has delegated responsibility to
the Audit Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters semi-annually.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems as set
out in Code Provision D.2.1. The Audit Committee engaged an
internal audit and business consulting firm to undertake a review
of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems on all material controls for the year, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. The Board and
the Audit Committee considered the Group's risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate.

Risk management

Risk management is a standing process of the Group
which assists management and the Board in enhancing
the transparency and accountability of the major business
risks encountered. During the year under review, the Group
conducted formal risk assessment by the management on
a semi-annual basis to identify and assess enterprise risks
(including environmental, social and governance risks] with
reference to the Group's business objectives and strategies. A
risk assessment questionnaire prepared, based on the Group's
risk model, was circulated to senior management of the Group,
together with reviews of existing risk mitigation measures and
follow-up interviews as necessary, to facilitate the assessment.
Management then developed action plans to further enhance
the risk management capabilities of particular key risks as
appropriate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(CONTINUED)

Internal control

The Group ensures internal controls are designed and
implemented in all major aspects of the Group’s operations and
details of internal control activities are included in the operating
policies and procedures of the Group. The Board reviews the
policies and procedures of the Group on an annual basis and
approves updates as and when necessary.

Internal audit function

The Group maintains an internal audit function assisting the
Board in maintaining an effective risk management and internal
control systems by evaluating its effectiveness and efficiency
and by promoting continuous improvement. The internal audit
function of the Group, which is independent of management,
reports directly to the Audit Committee regularly and has access
to the Chairlady of the Audit Committee if appropriate during the
year.

To enhance the objectivity and competency of the internal audit
function, the Group outsourced the internal audit function to
an internal audit and business consulting firm. The internal
audit function performs regular reviews of the Group’s internal
controls based on a risk-based internal audit plan approved by
the Audit Committee. The annual audit plan is arrived at using a
risk-based approach to determine the priorities of the internal
audit activities. Findings and recommendations on internal
control deficiencies are communicated with management and
action plans are developed by management to address the issues
identified. Post-audit reviews are scheduled to ensure the action
plans are executed as designed. Key findings of each internal
control review assignment are reported to and reviewed by the
Audit Committee on a timely basis.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the accounts of the Group to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment in annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required by the Listing
Rules and in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and other statutory requirements. The Directors draw
Shareholders’ attention to note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately US$36,427,000, for the year ended 31 December
2022 and, as at that date, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately US$16,004,000. Together with other matters set
forth in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, these
events or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. The Directors note the Auditors have not
qualified their opinion on this matter but have included a material
uncertainty on going concern paragraph in their audit opinion.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee,
in conjunction with the Company’s independent auditor, BDO
Limited. An explanation of the basis on which the Company
generates or preserves value over the longer term (the business
model] and the strategy for delivering the Company’s objectives
are set out in the paragraph headed “Strategic Plan” under
section "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” of the 2022 Annual Report.

A report of the independent auditor with respect to the
Company’s financial statements for the year under review is
included in the 2022 Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been audited by the independent
auditor, BDO Limited. The independent auditor declares its
independence and objectivity and presents the scope of audit to
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews and monitors
the independent auditor’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process. The Audit Committee also
reviews and approves the independent auditor’s fee on the basis
that it was fair and reasonable for the size and operations of
the Group and in the best interests of the Group. The fees in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group
by the independent auditor for the year under review amounted
to approximately US$204,000 and US$95,000 respectively. The
non-audit services mainly consist of agreed-upon procedures on
interim review and tax services.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR (conTINUED)

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the independent
auditor. BDO Limited shall retire at the 2023 AGM and, being
eligible, offers itself for re-appointment. More information
about the independent auditor’s responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor's Report” of the 2022 Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is a full-time employee
of the Group and reports to the Board and the CEO. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules
and regulations are followed. The Company Secretary had taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training which
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopts a dividend policy, pursuant to which it
will make semi-annual distributions in an aggregate amount
per year not to exceed 35% of the anticipated consolidated
annual profits of the Company, subject to certain criteria. The
Company may also declare special distributions from time to
time in addition to the semi-annual distributions. The Company
will evaluate its financial position, the prevailing economic
climate and expectations about the future macroeconomic
environment and business performance. The determination to
make distributions will be made at the discretion of the Board
and will be based upon the Company’s operations and earnings,
investment requirements, cash flow, financial condition, future
prospects, capital and other reserve requirements and surplus,
general financial conditions, contractual restrictions and any
other conditions or factors which the Board deems relevant. Any
distribution is also subject to compliance with all applicable laws,
rules, regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.
Dividends will be declared and paid in Hong Kong dollars, with
an election offered to the Shareholders to receive the dividends
in US dollars. The Board will continually review its dividend policy
and adopt changes as appropriate.
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CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME AND
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no
significant changes to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles
of Association, which is made available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

On 29 March 2023, the Board approved the proposed change
of Company name and the proposed amendments to the
Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the
adoption of the new set of amended and restated Memorandum
and Articles of Association. Further details are set out in the
Company’'s announcement dated 29 March 2023, the section of
“Directors’ Report” of the 2022 Annual Report and the circular to
Shareholders dated 27 April 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

General Meetings

The Company held its 2022 AGM on 26 May 2022. All Directors,
except Mark Searle who was unable to attend the AGM due to
his other business commitments, attended the 2022 AGM by
video conference. The Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, acted as the scrutineers at the
2022 AGM for the purpose of vote-taking. Representatives of the
independent auditor, BDO Limited, also attended the 2022 AGM
to answer questions relating to its audit and the auditor’s report
(if any). Procedures for conducting a poll and answered questions
arising therefrom (if any) were explained at the meeting. All
proposed resolutions were approved by the Shareholders. The
poll voting results of the meeting were published to the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

General Meetings (Continued)

The Company held an EGM on 14 March 2022 for approval of the
possible major transaction regarding the disposal mandate in
relation to the possible future disposal of the Company’s entire
holding in DVP. All Directors, except Julie Oates who was unable
to attend due to her other business commitments, attended the
EGM by video conference. The Company's branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, acted as the scrutineers at
the EGM for the purpose of vote-taking. The proposed resolution
was passed as ordinary resolution by the Shareholders. The poll
voting results of the meeting were published to the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Company held another EGM on 24 November 2022 for
approval of, among other matters, the Rights Issue, the Set
Off, the Underwriting Agreement, the Placing Agreement and
the Whitewash Waiver. All Directors attended the EGM by video
conference. The Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, acted as the scrutineers at the EGM for
the purpose of vote-taking. James Mellon and parties acting
in concert or presumed acting in concert with him [namely,
Galloway, Indigo, James Mellon’s parents, Jamie Gibson, Julie
Oates, Mark Searle, Jayne Sutcliffe and Anderson Whamond) are
interested in an aggregate of 603,793,415 Shares, representing
approximately 25.15% of the total number of issued Shares, and
they abstained from voting on the Resolutions at the EGM. The
proposed resolutions were passed as ordinary resolutions and
special resolution respectively by the Shareholders. The poll
voting results of the meeting were published to the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General Meeting
and Putting Forward Proposals at a General Meeting

The Shareholders” Communication Policy (including the
procedures for Shareholders: (i) to requisition an extraordinary
general meeting; or (ii] to put forward proposals at the
Company's general meetings; or [iii] to put enquiries to the
Directors) is available under section “Corporate Documents” of
the website of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General Meeting
and Putting Forward Proposals at a General Meeting (Continued)

Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that the Board may whenever thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings, and (i) a member or members of the Company (acting
together) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than 10% of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company; or [ii] any
one Member which is a clearing house shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by
the Company.

Shareholders who wish to communicate with the Company,
including: (i) to requisition an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company; lii] to put forward proposals at the Company’s general
meetings; or [iii) to put enquiries to the Directors, should write
to the CEO or the Company Secretary at info@endurancerp.com,

accompanied by the details of their proposals. The Company’s
address and telephone and facsimile numbers are set out on its
website.

During the year under review, the Board had conducted an
annual review of the Shareholders” Communication Policy and
was of the view that the Company had in place a compliant and
effective means of communication with the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director

The Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are available under section “Corporate Documents”
of the website of the Company.

Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person other than a retiring Director shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election as a Director at any general meeting unless during the
period commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch
of the notice of the meeting and ending no later than seven days
prior to the date of such meeting, provided that such period
shall be at least seven days, there shall have been lodged at
the registered office or the head office of the Company a notice
signed by a member of the Company (other than the person to
be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his willingness to be elected.

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person
to stand for election as a Director at the AGM, the following
documents must be validly served on the CEO or the Company
Secretary at the Company's principal place of business in Hong
Kong within the period specified under Article 88 of the Articles
of Association of the Company, namely, (i} the shareholder’s
notice of intention to propose a resolution to elect a nominated
candidate as a Director at the AGM; (i) a notice signed by the
nominated candidate of the candidate’s willingness to be elected;
(iii) the nominated candidate’s biographical details as required to
be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iv] the
nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/
her personal data at the corporate documents of the Company.
The shareholder’s proposal will be forwarded to the Nomination
Committee as soon as practicable for consideration. Upon
recommendation by the Nomination Committee, the Board will
further resolve to approve or decline the proposed election of the
candidate as a Director as appropriate.

On Behalf of the Board
James Mellon
Chairman

29 March 2023
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIR-HHERERHRS

OVERVIEW AND SCOPE

The Group prepares the Environmental, Social and Governance
(the "ESG") Report in accordance with Appendix 27 to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

BOARD OVERSIGHT AND ESG MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

It is of the Group’s significant priority in promoting sustainable
practices in daily business operations with the aim to minimize
unfavourable impact on the environment and society in which it
operates. The Board has been aware of its overall responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting and has ensured the
Management has implemented relevant measures during the
reporting period. The Group has established an ESG Working
Group, which reports to the Board, comprising members of
senior management and other staff members of relevant
departments. The ESG Working Group is delegated to perform
various tasks in relation to implementation of ESG strategies as
well as reporting. The major responsibilities for the ESG Working
Group include the following activities:

- Conducting the annual ESG materiality assessment;
- Defining scope of work and resources for the ESG reporting;

- Collecting and compiling information and ESG data;

- Preparing the annual ESG report; and
- Monitoring the ongoing compliance in relation to ESG
matters.

The Board works closely with the ESG Working Group to
regularly evaluate the Group's ESG-related exposure with the
consideration of changes in internal and external business
environment and monitor the Group’s ESG-related performance
as well as achievement of ESG-related targets that are set at
the management level. The ESG Working Group is responsible
to compile the ESG-related performance data for the Board's
review. Annually, the Board reviews ESG-related performance
against targets, and assesses appropriateness and effectiveness
of risk management and internal control system during the board
meeting. The Board has ensured that all relevant ESG principles
are being adhered to when conducting business. In addition,
the Group maintains the ESG policies to govern the respective
processes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

As part of the ESG management approach, a materiality
assessment is conducted annually to identify the material
ESG-related issues to the Group. The identified ESG-related
issues were rated in terms of their relative likelihood, impact,
adaptability and recovery and rank-ordered. The results are
reviewed and approved by the ESG Working Group and the ESG-
related issues with the highest materiality to the Group are
included in the ESG Report and reviewed and approved by the
Board. According to the results of the materiality assessment,
the items below are the top 6 ESG-related issues, including:

No. ESG-related Issues

1 Exposure to litigation due to faulty or nonperforming
products

2 Difficulty in talent attraction and retention

g Unqualified/unethical suppliers and business partners

4 Infringement of Intellectual property rights and data
leakage

5 Violation of anti-corruption policies and whistle-blowing
procedure

6 Unsuccessful investment in new technologies

REPORTING BOUNDARY

Based on the Materiality Assessment result, the Board
considered the office area, the number of employees of each
operation, the relevant financial materiality of each operation
and their correspondence with the top 6 issues identified to
determine the scope of disclosure in this ESG Report.

The scope of this ESG Report covers the operations of the
headquarters in Hong Kong (covering “Endurance RP Limited”
and "Regent Financial Services Limited” and "Deep Longevity
Limited”), and the operations of Plethora (covering “Plethora

Solutions Holdings plc”, "Plethora Solutions Limited” and
“Plethora Pharma Solutions Limited”) in the United Kingdom for

the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “reporting period”).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERELRHRS

REPORTING BOUNDARY (conTiNuED)

This ESG report covers the overall performance of the Group
in terms of the KPIs, policies and compliance in two subject
areas, namely, Environmental and Social. We are not involved
in producing air, water, land pollutants or hazardous wastes,
and have limited emission of greenhouse gas (‘GHG"), which is
generated indirectly from the electricity consumption and paper
usage for daily office administration purpose.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES APPLIED

Principles The Group’s Application

Materiality The Group has assessed the materiality of the
key ESG issues associated with its business
and operations. Details are disclosure under
“Materiality Assessment” section.

The Group has made quantitative disclosure
about environmental and social Key

Quantitative

Performance Indicators ("KPIs"], and reported
on the emission factors used to compile the
KPlIs.

The Group has ensured the consistency
in preparing this ESG report including the
reporting and calculation methods whenever

Consistency

possible and will detail changes to the
methodologies adopted when such changes
arise to allow meaningful comparisons of the
ESG data.

ENVIRONMENTAL

We are committed to conducting our business in an
environmentally responsible manner. In particular, all employees
are required to comply with all applicable environmental laws and
regulations and to conduct business in a manner that protects
the environment, conserves resources and promotes sustainable
development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)

The Group continues to monitor ESG related issues, including
the climate-related issues, which may impact the operation by
performing materiality assessment on an annual basis. The
identified ESG-related issues were rated in terms of their relative
likelihood, impact, adaptability and recovery. Given our relatively
small operational size, the Management has considered that the
impact of any climate-related issues on our current business
operations to be very low. In case of extreme weather events, the
Group has developed the emergency guidelines and measures in
accordance with the relevant extreme weather guidelines issued
by the local government to ensure the safety of all employees.
The Group reviews its policies on climate change regularly to
ensure their relevancy and effectiveness.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong
occupied 5,479 square feet, while Plethora’s office in the United
Kingdom occupied 344 square feet. Deep Longevity adopts home-
working practice and does not have a physical office. Relevant
environmental KPls in connection to our business are disclosed
below (Note 1):
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KPls 2021 2022
FRRMIER —E-—F b Samfant:-
A1 Air Pollutants Emission N/A [Note 1]
A1.1 ERSRMBEN B (eE)
A1.2 GHG Emission
A1.2 AERAEHS
Direct emission of GHG N/A [Note 1]
ERRERE B (eE)
Indirect emission of Carbon Dioxide {"CO2") resulting from:
RENTHEREFRN a1tk (ZaEHK)
> Electricity purchased (Note 2] 31.52 tonnes 29.56 tonnes
> BEEN (W2 315208 29.56M
> Paper waste disposed at landfills /Note 6/ - tonnes - tonnes
> IR EEER (W) - - W
> Business air travel by employees 8.60 tonnes 7.88 tonnes
> REBHRITRE 8.60M 7.880
40.12 tonnes 37.44 tonnes
40,1208 37.44ME
CO2 emission per employee 1.82 tonnes per employee 2.50 tonnes per employee
BHLESHN ALK ShES18208 S4B E2.500
CO2 emission per square feet of office premises 0.01 tonnes per sg. ft. 0.01 tonnes per sq. ft.
(SRDlSYNERYE 3213y @K i ¥ AR0.01ME S 7IR0.010
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RIF-HERELIRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED) RiE @
KPls 2021 2022
FRENIER ;3 —2_C

A13 Hazardous waste produced N/A (Note 1]

A13 ELHEREN B (H3E1)

Al4 Non-hazardous waste produced

A4 ELREREN
Paper waste disposed at landfills [Note 3 & 6/ - tonnes - tonnes
THIRREERAR (1523K¢) - W8 -
Paper waste produced per employee [Note 6/ - tonnes per employee - tonnes per employee
SLESELER (126 BLES - W ShiES - W

A2.1 Energy consumption

A2.1 HFERER
Direct energy consumption N/A [Note 1]
ERHERR TEA (M)
Indirect energy consumption from electricity purchased [Note 3/ 44,400 kWh 41,638 kWh
REBEBNNRMEHEER Waz3) 44 A00TF FLES 41,638 F R B
Energy consumption per employee 2,018 kWh per employee 2,776 kWh per employee
SRREEHELR 52RE2018TRE  BHER2TCTREE
Energy consumption per square feet of office premises 8 kWh per sq. ft 8 kWh per sq. ft
Y HRMAEYEHFEER BT HRSTRE ST HRTRE

A2.2 Water consumption N/A (Note 4]

A2.2 £k B (f5E4)

A2.5 Packaging material used for finished products N/A [Note 5)

A2.5 R mERALENH B (M)

Notes: PEE

1.

The Group does not have production or involve in activities that:
> Emit air pollutants;
> Directly generate GHG;

> Generate hazardous wastes as defined by national
regulations; or

> Directly consume energy.

Unless otherwise specified, the environmental emission and
energy consumption data only includes the headquarters in
Hong Kong and Plethora’s operations in the United Kingdom.
The emission and energy consumption data for Deep Longevity
operation is not available since this business adopts home-
working practice and does not have a physical office.

The figures only include the headquarters in Hong Kong. Electricity
consumption data in Plethora's office is not available since
electricity supply is managed by the Landlord.

With consideration of limited paper waste volume, the Group
disposes of the waste to landfills through the waste disposal
channel managed by the building’s management service provider.

The water consumption data is not available as our business
operates in leased premises with the supply and discharge of
water controlled by building management. The Group has not
encountered any issues in water sourcing.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

3} Commercialization partners of the Group are responsible for the
marketing, distribution and manufacturing of all products. The
Group is not directly involved in the use/purchase of packaging
materials and does not have a physical office.

6. All paper consumed for the reporting year was recycled through
the recycling disposal channel managed by the qualified third-
party service provider.

Due to the nature of the business operations, the major source
of greenhouse gas emissions generated by the Group is mainly
from the consumption of the purchased electricity and paper.
Various measures have been undertaken to manage and reduce
the greenhouse gas emissions. Detailed procedure of reducing
electricity consumption, paper usage and waste management are
further discussed below.

As purchased electricity accounts for the major source of energy
consumption, the Group implemented measures in energy
conservation and pollution reduction, for example, switching
from the use of florescent light to energy efficient lightbulb and
switching off the lights and air-condition when not in use.

Paper waste is the main non-hazardous waste generated from
the ordinary course of business. In order to reduce the use of
paper, the Group encourages its employees to adopt double-sided
printing, use recycled paper for internal documents and use
digital copies rather than hard copies.

Although the waste generated by the Group is limited to the
minimal amount of general office consumables, the Group still
attaches great importance to the management of solid waste.
We dispose of the toner cartridges and paper waste by recycling
them through the recycling disposal channel managed by the
qualified third-party service provider.

The Group understands that precious water resources are crucial
to the earth and the environment, and continue to improve the
awareness of saving water via internal communication. During
the reporting period, there was no difficulty in sourcing water
during operation. The water consumption data is not available
as the business operates in leased premises with the supply and
discharge of water controlled by building management.
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RIE-HERELRHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)

We have been adhering to ESG principles in the way we conduct
our business. We are pleased to report that we have achieved
the FY2021 environmental targets in this reporting period.
Considering our small operation size and the various measures
adopted by the Group to keep the impacts on the environment
minimal, in continuation of our FY2021 targets, we strive to
maintain the current level of emissions, non-hazardous wastes
produced and energy consumption in the coming three years.
The three-year target is also consistent with the latest risk
assessment result where the climate-related risk is considered
low to the operations. The Group will continue to assess, record
and disclose greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental
data on an annual basis, which will help to formulate further
emission reduction targets in the future.

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the level of business travel
and its associated CO2 emission remains low. Throughout the
reporting period, there was no reported case of non-compliance
with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, Climate
Change Act 2008 of the United Kingdom and other applicable
environmental laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group.

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

The Group strictly complies with applicable labour standards,
health and safety and employment laws and regulations
of its respective major operating locations. We believe an
inclusive culture is critical to running a sustainable and
successful business. The Group is committed to providing equal
opportunities throughout recruitment and employment and
combating all forms of discrimination in the workplace.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Employment (Continued)

The Group has developed internal policies and guidelines on
employment, dismissal, working hours and leave entitlement,
working conduct, safety, welfare and benefits as well as
training and development. Employee handbook is distributed
to all employees as a vital communication medium between
the company and the employees. During the reporting period,
there was no reported case of non-compliance with the
Employment Ordinance, Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance, and Race Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Equality Act 2010 of the United Kingdom, as well as other
relevant employment regulations or violation of employees’ rights
during the reporting period.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the engagement of any child and
forced labour. The Group has observed the requirements of
the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom, including the Employment of Children Regulations of
Hong Kong, Modern Slavery Act 2015 of the United Kingdom, and
other applicable regulations.

We conduct stringent employee due diligence as part of the
onboarding procedure to ensure the age verification is performed
and the candidates are coming to work on their own free will.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
related to recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.
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RIE-HERELRHRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Labour Standards (Continued)

HET @

BiERS TER @
HTEA @)

KPI B1.1 The distribution of workforce are as follows (Note 1 & 2} BASBEMIGEEBIV 1 EZEB N MUT (Wi 1R

Number of Employee by Gender
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IRIF-HERERKRS

SOCIAL (conTiNUED) g w
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) BERS TER @
Labour Standards (Continued) B THEL @

KPI B1.2 The employee turnover rate are as follows Note 2 & 3/:

FREMIERBI2EERKERIN T (WHE2E

3):
Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate by
by Gender by Age Group Geographical Region /Note 4/
3:3 ] 1P BEBERIBI S B ER 5
! BEREE BEREE B8Rk E (H:24)
above United Kingdom o |
++ o
Femal o o o 63% 40 years old [t o e
et ] el % st (el o R
ussia o o o o
P ll;.-'THHlL,. TTHI;. THHR" TH 100%
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B .b silee® ee LT hot® HllLes" lee l&‘. 9 éfﬁg ol.‘....n'l:l‘ 33%
0% 50% 100% 0% 50% 100% 0% 50% 100%
Notes: B 5T
1. Asat 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 15 employees. 1. RIBZZHF+ZA=+—H £EE&H#AE

Employee representation data includes regular employees and 2.
consultants who are in a direct employment relationship with

the Group. The following types of workers are excluded from this
disclosure due to the nature and scale of work they perform:

> Consultants, agents, contractors and vendors hired to deliver
work or services and their employment decisions, including
compensation and benefits, are made by the third-party
employer;

> Directors who act in an advisory or mentorship role or who
are solely the office holders.

Employee turnover rate data covers the number of employees who 3.
leave employment voluntarily or due to dismissal, retirement or
death in service during the reporting period.

The employee turnover was mainly attributable to the planned exit 4.
of employees due to a change in the Group’s business strategy.
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RIE-HERELRHRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide a safe work environment, and
all employees will get assistance from the Group to succeed.
The Group has implemented practical safety management
to eliminate occupational hazards and has provided health
and accidental insurance coverage to eligible employees.
Our approach to occupational health and safety relies on the
implementation of the following policies in the workplace,
including:

Personal Health

J Demand the management company to clean the air-
conditioner system regularly;

° Provide daily office cleaning service; and

J Prohibit smoking in all indoor areas of workplaces and
public places

Work Safety
J Provide adequate and neat sanitary facilities; and

J Develop a management system with procedures for
employee to voice opinions and file complaints effectively

Fire Safety

J Demand the management company to check the fire exits
frequently; and

J Perform fire drill every year.

The Group has adopted a series of prevention and control
measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. According to
the suggestions of local government departments, the Group has
provided anti-pandemic supplies such as surgical masks and
hand sanitisers for the employees to use.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Health and Safety (Continued)

During the reporting period, there was no material accident or
labour dispute with employees, and no reported case of non-
compliance with Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
of Hong Kong, Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 of United
Kingdom, as well as other relevant laws and regulations relating
to employees’ health and safety.

IRIF-HERERKRS
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KPI B2.1 & 2.2 2020 2021 2022
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Development and Training BRRIZE

Staff training and enhancement guidelines are in place to
ensure appropriate support to enhance their knowledge, skills
and competencies needed for their work duties. Education
allowances and leaves are offered to the employees for attending
training courses, conferences and examinations organized
by recognized professional institutions. Relevant Social Key
Performance Indicators ("KPIs") in relation to Aspect B1, B2 and
B3 are disclosed below:

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained classified by different
categories are as follows:

Percentage of employees
trained by Gender

RUENBIZIEETSL

@ Male
Bt

Female

gogis
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Percentage of employees
trained by Employee Category
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RIE-HERELRHRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Development and Training (Continued)

B3.2 Average training hours completed per employee are as
follows:

Average training hours per
employee by Gender

RiENBDERES
FI9IF R R
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Gt Il""ﬂHIh 3400
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Average training hours per
employee by Employee Category
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Supply Chain Management HEEEE

The Group engages with its suppliers and business partners
on a fair and ethical basis and expects that they adhere to high
sacial, ethical and environmental standards. Our management
takes reasonable efforts to understand and ensure the Group's
business partners comply with environmental protection
regulations and advocate good manufacturing practices
and quality standards on a continuous basis. The Group
lays emphasis on promoting efficient communications and
cooperation with business partners to jointly maintain the quality
and safety of products and services. The Group firmly believes
that the solid business relationship with its suppliers can
facilitate long-term business development and growth.

In addition, the Group has developed a set of well-defined
standard procurement management procedures on evaluating,
screening and monitoring suppliers to ensure that the
environmental and social risks associated with the supply chain
are identified and mitigated. A series of audit procedures are
conducted to comprehensively examine prospective suppliers’
performance in terms of quality, environment and safety before
engagement.
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RIF-ttERERERS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Supply Chain Management (Continued)

The Group also selects suppliers based on the principle of
environmentally preferable purchasing to satisfy the procurement
needs after sufficiently considering the price, quality and safety of
the products and services.

Environmentally preferable products are products or services
that have a lower impact on human health and the environment
than the competing products or services that serve the same
purpose. The Group continues to ensure that ESG considerations
are part of business decision-making processes.

The Group conducts an evaluation for key suppliers on a yearly
basis to assess their overall performance. If suppliers are found
to materially violate their agreed responsibilities and operating
procedures, the Group may terminate the cooperation with them
to ensure that the performance in terms of quality, environment
and safety along the supply chain is in line with the Group’s policy.

During the reporting period, we engaged with 74 suppliers all
over the world. Currently, there are 35 key suppliers selected
under the above requirements.

B5.1 The distribution of suppliers by geographical region are as
follows:
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RIE-HERELRHRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Product Responsibility

As an investment company focusing on bio-pharmaceutical, the
Group’s core value is to prioritize and assure quality and safety
of the Group’s products. The Group has regularly and closely
monitored the safety of all its medicine products, including
reviewing safety data from clinical studies and reviewing reports
on probable adverse drug reactions through its regulatory
consultant. The Group does not manufacture any pharmaceutical
products. However the Group monitors the manufacturers’
compliance with Good Manufacturing Practice, Good Distribution
Practice, Good Pharmacovigilance Practices and other relevant
regulations. Should there be any misconduct and product recall,
investigation will be conducted, and results will be reported to the
Management. During the reporting period, there were no product
recall, quality issues or adverse events reported and no products
and service-related complaints received.

The Group is devoted to protecting both internal and external
intellectual property and patent rights. IT Department is
responsible for obtaining proper licenses and permits for
using the software, hardware and information in the business
operation.

In case of any identified acquisition opportunity, the Group
conducts due diligence process to ensure the acquiree has
measures in place to protect its confidential information, trade
secrets, know-how, inventions or other propriety information.
The access to the documents related to intellectual property are
restricted to authorized personnel only.
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)

The Group also emphasizes the importance of data privacy. It
strives to protect the privacy of its customers, business partners
and employees in processing their business or personal data
and the data collected is restricted to the intended use. Any
information related to customers or suppliers, including contact,
quotation or working terms, are kept confidential in accordance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the
Data Protection Act 2018 in the United Kingdom, and other
applicable laws and regulations on data protection. It is the
individual and collective responsibility of the employees and
business partners to report privacy incidents/concerns promptly
following the whistle-blowing mechanism detailed in the section
below. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify
any material non-compliance on data privacy issues. In case of a
breach, a zero-tolerance policy is adopted.

Anti-Corruption

Honesty, integrity and fairness are our core values which have
been communicated to all directors and employees through the
Code of Conduct, employee handbook and internal policies. The
Group requests our employees to follow the Code of Conduct to
eliminate corruption such as bribery, extortion, fraud and anti-
money laundering in any circumstance. On a bi-annual basis,
all directors and employees are required to attend training on
business ethics to reinforce the awareness of anti-corruption. In
the fourth quarter of 2022, training on ethics was provided to the
Directors and Senior Management.

The Group strives to maintain a system with moral integrity and
an anti-corruption mechanism, which is the cornerstone for
sustainable and healthy development. To effectively strengthen
the Group integrity, it continues to improve the internal
supervision and anti-corruption management in accordance with
local and national legislation strictly, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, Bribery Act 2010 of the United
Kingdom as well as other relevant regulations. During the
reporting period, there was no reported case of non-compliance.
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RIE-HERELRHRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Anti-Corruption (Continued)

In addition, a whistle-blowing mechanism has been established
to provide a confidential channel for employees to report any
concerns or malpractice in confidence and without fear of
recrimination. The whistle-blower has the option to contact the
Chairman/Chairlady of the Audit Committee by email. The Group
is committed to ensuring that any allegation is immediately
dealt with and followed up by Chairman/Chairlady of the Audit
Committee with due care. The mechanism is closely monitored
and reviewed on a regular basis to ensure its design and
operational efficiency. The Group is committed to conducting all
businesses in the absence of any undue influence and prohibits
any form of corruption or malpractice including bribery, money
laundering, extortion and fraud.

Community

The Group is committed to fulfilling its obligations and duties as
a responsible corporate citizen, ensuring that our behavior reflect
a genuine concern for our stakeholders, including shareholders,
employees, their families and the communities in which we live
and work. The Group’'s community investment strategy focuses
on healthcare in the community and science education. Over 30
hours of online courses (“Longevity Medicine 101" and “Longevity
Medicine 201°) was provided for free to the public who wish
to pursue continuing medical education. We also encourage
and support employees” volunteering for the benefit of the
community.

On Behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

29 March 2023
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RIF-ttERERERS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEH MR ERE

Governance Structure

Reporting Principles

HERR

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

(i) adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

[i] the board's ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to
the issuer’s businesses): and

lii) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-
related goals and targets with an explanation of how they
relate to the issuer’s businesses.
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E-BREIREEEENRIE - HEREAERER
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i) EFEWAHIRZ - HERECERBERBRANER T
BREMNPEETAESARE

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the
following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG
report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process
to identify and the criteria for the selection of material ESG
factors; [(ii] if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a
description of significant stakeholders identified, and the
process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of
conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable] should be disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant
factors affecting a meaningful comparison.
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEH MR ERE

Reporting Boundary

wEHE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG
report and describing the process used to identify which
entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is
a change in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference
and reason for the change.

BERIE S REARSHNERDE RHEAPEPLS
RUEBMARE HERELGRENBE - GEREES
Feg# » T AERERRZ B REFHRE -

Page 107 to 108

$£10721088

Subject Area A: Environment
TEHIBA IRIR

Aspect A1: Emissions

EAT : BER)

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b]  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

Page 108 to 109

—A i B8 BRBEREBEREHR MKk tHIES - AT RES H108E109HE
BEERYINELER !
(&) BR; &
b) BFHBFTABEAXZENERZRERROINEE

KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Page 109

RA SR AR B RALLT B e s AR R BRI B o B1098

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2] greenhouse gas Page 109
emissions [in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

RARENIETRAL.2 B (#EN) REREE EE2) A=ERBEIME U8 $1098

K QnER) Z2E WS EBEN - BIERKH)

KPI'A1.3

RESRAAWIEIEA1 3

Total hazardous waste produced [in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FREE R EEEYME CUIRE) &k WER) BE WUE
EEEN SBRMTH) o

Not applicable

R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-ttERERERS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEH MR ERE

KPIA1.4

B R RIEIRAL 4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FREEEZEEYRE UWEE) k NER) BE
ESEB BERMH)

WmiE %

Page 110

1108

KPI'A1.5

RSB AE IS IRA1S

Description of emissions target(s] set and steps taken to
achieve them.

BT MBI E B R R AER S L BRI T B o

Page 110 to 111

ERESIRREE!

KPI'A1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

Page 110 to 111

RA SR AE R FEIRAL6 HRIEREEREZERYN G % REMFFETIAEER F110E111E
B E DB B RPN D BR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : EIRfER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Page 110
water and other raw materials.

—AR IR ER BUEREIR (BIEEIR K REMERMED RIBER 1108

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Page 110

RESR A WIEIZA2.1

electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

RERE SN ERK SEZER WE - RI0H) 4
TETEFRHE) KEE IUSESEN - BERME) °

BFEEW %

1108

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of Not applicable
production volume, per facility).

A SRR IEIRA2.2 MIEKEBREE WIUSEREN BERMKH) ° NER

KPI'A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps Page 110 to 111

R A IE1RA2.3

taken to achieve them.
?EE?LFFFDTLB/J b/}_@ﬁﬁ)& E*E&zj | =
B

5L B RFTEREAY

£10E1E

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that Page 110 to 111
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
RS IEIRA2 4 HHUREGEAKIR LRI A ERRE LUK LR AKE @ H110E118
BEREKRAEDELEB R REBI TR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ #§
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-HERELIRS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEH MR ERE

KPI'A2.5

RIS IEIRA25

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

N mPrAEEMERRE QISR k NEBER) BL£EE 5

IfE&-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 | IRIFRRAER

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

Page 108 to 112

— AR ER REETABIRBERRARE RGN EATENEER F108E112E
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Page 108 to 112

B SR A R FE1RAS

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
B ER RS HIRREARABRNEATEREHRNEERER
R EMITH -

$108E1128

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BEAL  RIEEE

General Disclosure

—BHE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

A RN BRI EEHETAEEFENERREER
FHERBER

Page 108 to 112

$£108E1128

KPI A4

B SR R FEIRALN

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
HREEKRAIEEHRETAEERENEARGHBEE
K EEI1TE)

Page 108 to 112

$£108E 1128
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-ttERERERS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEH MR ERE

Subject Area B : Social

TEHEB: HE

Employment and Labour Practices

EBRERFLER

Aspect B1: Employment

BB . &%

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b]  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Page 112 to 113

—ARINER ERAFMRRE BEREAN TERE B -FEHE - $11221138
Z b RIS E MA@ A
(a) BR; &
(b) BFHETABERZENHRBERROINER -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full Page 114
or part time), age group and geographical region.

RS AR FEIRB11 R EREE WEREERE - FRENRMER DK H1148
EEMBR-

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Page 115
region.

R AR IE1EBT.2 IR FhER AR E B DRI EE R LR o 1158

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[BEB?2 : BEHELZ S

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b]  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

Page 116 to 117

—RRIREE ERREMLE2TFREAGEREERZBELEEEN BN6ENTE
(a) HR; R
(b) BFHEHETABERZENHRBERRROINER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of Page 117
the past three years including the reporting year.
RSB AE IS 1EB2.1 BEZF (BREERTE) SFETTHMIABKLER. ENTE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Page 117
BRI IE1EB2.2 RAITEERITIFRE- B8
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Page 117
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
RASRAEIS1EB2.3 AP RN BR R RR L 2 URERATRERS $1178
ko
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-HERELIRS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SABIMIRERE

Aspect B3: Development and Training
JEHEB3 : R

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

Page 117 to 118

—AR IR ER BRAR A EB BT TIFR SR R i SRRV BUR - # it iE 5l $B117E 1188
mH e

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Page 117
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

A SR AE R FE1RB3.1 BMRkESER WMehEEE PREERE 80NZI F1782
EBERDLL-

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender Page 118
and employee category.

B SR AE R FE1RB3.2 BRI REEERE D BRES AN FIREH - %1188

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEBL - ¥ T 28]

Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b]  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing

General Disclosure

child and forced labour.
BRAM IEE T8I T -
(&) B &
(b) BEFHBTABEAFZEZNMHEREZRERRANER -

—ARINER

Page 113to 115

$£1138 1158

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

B AR IEIEBA.T HEHRsT IR A RS B RE T KaaflsE T o

Page 113

$£1138

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

R AE R IE1EBA.2 M IRER B REHRA B RPN T B

No such practices
were identified.
R B IR L AR
& e

Operating Practices

ZEER

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
JEMEBS : HEREE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the

supply chain.

— AR ER EEMERNIRERAE BB

Page 118to 119

E118E1198

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-ttERERERS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

sEHI IR B RE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Page 119
B SR AE R FE1EB5.1 e s D HEEHE o $1198

KPI B5.2

B SR AE 518852

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

A ARMERMHEEREN > mHEATEREMNHERH
B URBERATRERG -

Page 119 to 120

$£1198 12082

KPI B5.3

B AR RWIE1EB5.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Hal A R B (R R G EIR BT RIRIE KAt & ERRYIE R > L
RABBIRAT R EE R 77k

Page 119 to 120

$£119812082

KPI B5.4

BRI IEIRB5 .4

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.
HEREREHEEREESBRFREDARBHED > LUk
HEARITRERT A

Page 119 to 120

Aspect Bé: Product Responsibility

E@EB6 : ERE(T

General Disclosure

—ARINER

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

ERFMRHERNBRBHNEREZE - BS - BEKLES

BT AR

(&) HR; &

(b) BTFHBITABEAZENREEZRRRGIBIEFR -

Page 120 to 121

$£1208 1218

KPI Bé.1

RSB AEI51EB6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons.
BENEEXEMBYTAZEEREERAMARWNED
EEe

Page 120

$£1208
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-HERELIRS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEH MR ERE

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received Page 120
and how they are dealt with.

R R AERIE1RB6.2 BRERRERMRBHRFEE UREE G X 51208

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Page 120
intellectual property rights.

BRI IE1EB6.3 T B i 5 e R PR K s EE R B BBV 1B A1 581208

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Page 120
procedures.

R SRAERIEIRB6 4 HHEERTEBRERERLOIERER- 251208

KPI' B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Page 121
and how they are implemented and monitored.

BRI IE1EB6.5 HACHEZEERRERMLBEER  UREBATRERR 1218

&Ko

Aspect B7: Anticorruption
BEB7: RES

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a)  the policies; and

(b]  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Page 121 to 122

—ARINER BERPILERRRS ~ B BRFE RO AR ERAY ¢ CAVAEIVYI=]
(a) BER; &
(bl BTFHETABEARTENBRERRRGIBER

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Page 121 to 122

RSB AE IS 1EBT 1

brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RRERAHNETANE EERE T EEENEISFHFARN
GSESUEEENGEES

E121E1228

KPI B7.2

RERAEWISIERT 2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BB REF  URBARTRERS A

Page 121 to 122

EI121E 1228

KPI B7.3

RS AE R FEIRBT.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.
BEAMEERETRHENRESEC

Page 121 to 122

E121E1228

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-ttERERERS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEH MR ERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[BEBS : HtEB K E

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of Page 122
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

—ARINER BRUE2ERTHREEFEHERENBREEXRES H1228
TEBMLEF mMATEER

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Page 122
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

R R AB R HE1RB8.1 SEEEMER WHE REFE-FIFR BE XE B B128
A) e

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time] to the focus area.  Page 122

BRI RIE1EB8 2 A EBBABAER W ERERE) F1228
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i

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB ENRS

|IBDO

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ENDURANCE RP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Endurance RP Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”] set out on pages 139
to 265, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"] and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs"] issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

HNSEREEARAR
FHRESEEEMMILZERAR)

ER

AZYAMEBZFI139E265BFFHSREERS
Ras (TBERB) REKRBAR (R THEE
E DI T 3= N E T o= R ) N —_—
TZR=FT—HZGEUBRRER - BEE
EFEZEEE2ERmR GEEaBBRK
RERERER URGEHMBERERWE &
BEREFEREE-

BEERA REVERREBRESBGHAL
g ((ERAGHMAAT)) BEHR 2BV BERS
BEEER_Z

+TZA=t—HZEREMBRRUE BEE
REEZEEHLEEZGEEMBEREREGEEI
ERE TERBREBRIRAZIEERTEL

ERE#

EZEREEBESMAEEMZEBES
R (EREHER) ETEZ - EFEZT
ZR T EAEZEEEERRS IZHEMLEZ
REMBERERAENSTI BT FE—TE
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BEsA) (R - EF\FUN SEE I
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EESZERRERRERBEMRES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately US$36,427,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 and, as at that date, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately US$16,004,000. Together with other matters set
forth in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, these
events or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and, in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
“Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF INTANGIBLE
ASSET - PATENT (FORTACIN™)

Refer to notes 3.12, 4.1 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 December 2022, the net carrying amount of Patent
(Fortacin™) was approximately US$21,804,000 (net of impairment
loss), and accounted for approximately 83% of the Group's total
assets. Further details of this intangible asset are set out in note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management has carried out impairment assessment in
accordance with the Group's accounting policies and concluded
that there was no impairment loss in respect of the cash
generating unit to which this intangible asset was allocated. This
conclusion was based on a value in use calculation that required
significant management judgment with respect to the discount
rates, exchange rates, growth rates, royalty rates and launch
dates in each of seven major regions identified in management’s
valuation model as well as the premature ejaculation prevalence
rates.

B 2R S

BFRFBREZERTHRERR

EEHE BTEIRSHBHREWES
5 SEERBE_E__£+"-A=+—H
IEFEREBEIEA36,427,0005 7T Biez A
REBZREAEFREL 16,004,000 7T °
BERFREMBPRRM SIS E BB
EEEERBEREREFEEAFAEBRZE A
ARl BEEFERCEZENEREARREM-
EEHIEEEZER U BT -

FREZEIR

HREZFHERBEES ZEEAE InY
Kﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁkiﬁﬁzgﬁ%%EEZ%IﬁOE
LEEREESERERGOMBRRKY
E%ﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁ&%@ MESTEHELERRIRE
T#%?%Z%‘\Eoﬁﬁrﬁéﬁ%?ﬁ‘ﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁZ%ﬁT\
BERZ —HFAEEN EFER TR
MEREERTREFECHARELER-

Eﬁﬁé%ﬂ (FORTACIN™) Z i {&:F
f

2RV FHRRMEES 12 4.15K13°

\

W _E__F#+_B=Z+—H>57
(Fortacin™) Z BREF1EA) 221,804,000 7T

(GOBRRERE) " hAEBEEELS% B
ZETEENE—THBENRGEEMBER
E L EARE

EEECRE SEENSSERETREN
TE?S’Z?'@%E’S%E%@&MR;&E PEFIEZR

TEEBMRBRERE ZERLENER
BESE EZ#%EEEEE?(*EE#UEEH (B2

BEEEAM#BNZtATEMERIMZE
RAERE EX VREEX -FHNEREK HMA
MR RBRE) o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
| S

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF INTANGIBLE
ASSET - PATENT (FORTACIN™) (conTiNUED)

We consider this as a key audit matter because the estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which
intangible asset allocated involves significant judgments and
assumptions.

Our procedures in relation to management’'s impairment
assessment of intangible asset - Patent (Fortacin™] at 31
December 2022 included:

- assessing the valuation methodology used and ensuring
this was consistent with the methodology used in prior
periods including when the intangible asset - Patent
(Fortacin™) was initially valued on acquisition;

- challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
adopted by management including discount rates, growth
rates, royalty rates and launch dates in each of seven
major regions based on our knowledge of the business and
industry;

- reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such
as correspondence with key licencees to support key
developments in major markets, management’s budgets
and considering the reasonableness of these budgets;

- comparing the market capitalisation of the Group to the net
assets of the Group at 31 December 2022 to assess whether
there were any external impairment triggers as regards the
carrying value of the intangible asset - Patent (Fortacin™);

- considering the sensitivity of the valuation model to changes
in key assumptions;

- engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist
in evaluating management’s impairment assessment
methodology, the key assumptions applied and calculations
contained with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards; and

- assessing the independent valuer’'s qualification’s

experience and expertise and considered their objectivity
and independence.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

| EEEF (FORTACIN™) ZiFi{E:F
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

B 2R S

FEHRSZHMEH

EFaFHMEMN -HthEHEE BSRAF
EHRESFHER EXSEGREMBRSE K
HIZBENRS -
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#

SHIRAMBRERZEZ EEZEE
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ESMGSMBRRAREZRE

EXZREEREEBEAMAGRHZER
MBRESERREBABRG 2 WERE R
BEEMPEZGEMHRE THARAS
EHREMBRER BB N FEBENIREFNEE
RMENEARERRAMAEZABIEFE

R
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EFEEEZE UAEBRBER MREAR
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BEREZEERMESETILTESEE.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ #

135



136

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
| S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

e  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[CONTINUED)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
| S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[CONTINUED)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Jonathan Russell Leong
Practising Certificate no. P03246

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FaEERmR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE_ZE"_"F+"A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
St 5 %
Notes US$°000 Us$'000
MisE T FE7T
Revenue: Weas 5
Milestone and royalty income BREMRENERE
WA 35 3,254
Other income HAWA 188 476
223 3,730
Exchange losses, net FEREE (109) (288)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial THMITARINEE
instruments (&518) Wz 6 (4,134) 14,793
Total income and fair value (losses)/  #BWAKRERIEARD
gains on financial instruments BE (B8 & (4,020) 18,235
Expenses: <l
Employee benefit expenses EERMER 7 (3,227) (4,165)
Rental and office expenses MERRAEER (119) (117)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets A EEITE (468) (471)
Information and technology Bl B EA
expenses (161) (162
Marketing costs mSEEER (50) (82)
Professional and consulting fees BEXKAHER (652) (683)
Research and development IRz
expenses (1,221) (2,404)
Amortisation of intangible assets mLEE S 13 (24,951) (23,762)
Other operating expenses HEE H (126) (262)
Operating loss EERE 6 (34,995) (13,873)
Finance costs B R 8 (1,013) (1,218)
Loss before taxation FRF2 ARS8 (36,008) (15,091)
(Taxation)/Tax credit (fRIE) /MIEE R 9 (419) 2,493
Loss for the year FAEE (36,427) (12,598)
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 F #§
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEZEBmR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &E_ZE-__"HF+_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
bt 2 B —F
Notes US$°000 Us$'000
MisE T FE7T
Other comprehensive income HitZEEA
Item that will not be reclassified HEfrTgEmDEERR
subsequently to profit or loss: - ]= N
Change in fair value of financial BAREBES AEM
assets at fair value through other PHBAZEMEEZ
comprehensive income R EEEE) S 166
Item that may be reclassified HigrEMIEERETE
subsequently to profit or loss: Z1EH:
Exchange gains on translation of MBEINEBIFEIRE
financial statements of foreign Z ER WS
operations 25 368
Other comprehensive income for the FRHMEEULA »
year, before and net of tax Nk IER K& 25 534
Total comprehensive income FRNEEUALKEE
for the year (36,402) (12,064)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTREEEREIE !
Shareholders of the Company PI/NTE 3 (36,427) (12,598)
Total comprehensive income UTEGEERALL:
attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company KATIGER (36,402) (12,064)
Loss per share attributable to FRAFATIREREEZ
shareholders of the Company during  &iZE518 US cents US cents
the year " eIl E1l
- Basic —&K (1.52) (0.53)
- Diluted — 58 (1.52) (0.53)
HK cents HK cents
AL p=xfil
- Basic —&K (11.90) (4.12)
- Diluted —#E (11.90) (4.12)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBERRE

As at 31 December 2022 MN-_ZE_-__F+_H=+—H

2022 2021
—EZCHF B —F
Notes us$'000 US$'000
Kiat FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment MR B R 12 303 784
Intangible assets mEEE 13 23,702 48,654
Interest in an associate R—EEE NG 2 Em 1 1
Financial assets at fair value B nBEST AEM
through other comprehensive PHBAZEHMEE
income 14 - _
24,006 49,439
Current assets MENEE
Financial assets at fair value HRBEmEEANEE
through profit or loss BRIEZ EMEE 15 1,097 10,514
Trade receivables BN E 5 ERFR 17 13 =
Prepayments, deposits and other TARRIE & R HAth
receivables FEWERIB 18 861 461
Derivative financial instruments TTEERMIT A 36 - 1,202
Cash and bank balances RE MBI TAEER 16 341 613
2,312 12,790
Current liabilities Bt =N
Trade payables, deposits received, FE(T B Z R~
accruals and other payables B EEHIRW
REMENRIE 19 (4,604) (4,496)
Bank borrowings R1TEE 22 (8) (9)
Lease liabilities HEa’ 23 (302) (483)
Convertible notes ARG =i 24 - (2,338
Shareholder’s loans AGERE™R 25 (13,402) (3,597)
(18,316) (10,923)
Net current (liabilities)/assets TREN (BfR) BERE (16,004) 1,867
Total assets less current liabilities EELERRSERE 8,002 51,306
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBIKRR

As at 31 December 2022 W_ZE__F+_F=+—H

2022 2021
k- Julan - 2 5
Notes US$'000 UsS$'000
Kiat FET FET
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Bank borrowings R1TEE 22 (18) (29)
Lease liabilities HEald 23 - (301)
Shareholder’s loans R E 25 - (7,253)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEE S 26 (5,387) (4,954)
(5,405) (12,537)
NET ASSETS BEEZE 2,597 38,749
EQUITY W
Capital and reserves attributable to ~ AT RRELE K
shareholders of the Company B
Share capital [N 20 24,004 23,994
Reserves Eic] 21 (21,407) 14,775
TOTAL EQUITY e 4E%E 2,597 38,769

The consolidated financial statements on pages 139 to 265 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29

March 2023.

James Mellon
Chairman

ZE
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Jamie Gibson
Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RaEmEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ"_"HF+"HA=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

NS
Foreign
Convertible Investment  Share-based Capital Statutory currency
Share  Accumulated Share  notesequity  revaluation payment  redemption and other exchange
capital losses* premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve® reserves* reserve*  Total equity
Migfp
TRRER ®E AERN [z EER b
[z RiBE ROEE  EEfE EfER REE BEEEE HtHEE EREE #EeE
2022 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
k- St TR TET TET TET FER FER TET TET TET RE
At 1 January 2022 RIZZZE-F-H 2399 (291,716) 294,326 1,092 (1,500) 617 8,228 215 3513 38,769
Loss for the year FREH - (36,427) - - - - - - - (38,427)
Other comprehensive income Ht2ERA
Foreign currency translation adjustment SNEREER - - - - - - - - 2% 2%
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ EAZEWALE - (36,427) - - - - - - 25 36,402)
Equity-settled share-based payment NigREENRAAIRRS (EE0)
transactions (note 35(1)) - - - - - 210 - - - 210
Equity-settled share-based payment BEBEHNEREENRAAERL
transactions to consultants (note 35(2) RS (E35(2) - - - - - 2 - - - 2
New Shares issued for share awards RO RE R THRSR 10 5 5 o o (20 o o S S
Share options lapsed FER BRI o 13 S S S (113) S S S S
Repayment of convertible notes note 24) IR ATHRBREER (H15E24) - 1,092 - (1,092) - - - - - -
10 1,210 5 (1,092) o 97 o S S 230
At 31 December 2022 RIZZZE+ZA=+-H 24,004 (326,933) 294,331 o (1,500) n 8,228 215 3,538 2,597
* As at 31 December 2022, the total of these reserves amount  * RIE-__F+"A=+—8 Z%5HE
to a deficit of approximately US$21,407,000 (2021: a surplus of SEEEHE4N4921,407,000E T (B —
approximately US$14,775,000). F ! BERAY14,775,000%7T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SAEDEEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE_ZT_—_

F+-A=1+—HLEE

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

FAFRREE
Foreign
Convertible Investment  Share-based Capital Statutory currency
Share  Accumulated Share  notes equity revaluation payment  redemption and other exchange
capital losses* premium* reserve® reserve® reserve® reserve® reserves* reserve*  Total equity
DR
TRERE ®E Pkt iz EER Mg
[z Rt ROEE RnHE  ERER TR BEEE  EtEE  EREE #aes
202 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000
IET-F AT A T T T T T5n e RE Fxn
At 31 December 2020 as previously reported  RZE-FE+-FA=1+-H
(GHmBREARZR) BI% (276,818) 292081 1092 (1,707) % 8228 215 3165 50,305
Reallocation® R - (2.265) 2,265 S S S S S S S
Restated balance at 1 January 2021 RZB_—F—F—ANEB5IEH 2399% 279,083) 294326 1,092 (1.707) 9% 8228 215 3145 50,305
Loss for the year FREE - 12,5%) - - - - - - - (12.59)
Other comprehensive income Hth2EHRA
Foreign currency translation adjustment SRR = = = S S = S & 368 368
Change in fair value of financial assets at ~ BRAMEBSAEMBERAL
fair value through other comprehensive SRMEEZALBESE (1)
income [note) - - - - 166 - - - - 166
Total comprehensive income for theyear ~ ERZEWALE - 1259 - - 166 - - - 348 12,064)
Equity-settled share-based payment NEREENRAATRS (H53501)
transactions (note 35(1)) - - - - - 519 - - - 519
Equity-settled share-based payment AR NEREREURAAER
transactions to consultants (note 35(2) fIRR5 (E3s() - - - - - 9 - - - 9
Share options lapsed FER R S 6 S S S 6] S = S S
Transfer of cumulative loss on disposal of ~ SEHERAABEF AEHZAKAZ
equity investment at fair value through BARE2 Rt (63)
other comprehensive income (note] - (1) - - Al - - - - -
= (35) = - 4 522 - - - 528
At 31 December 2021 RIEZ-F+°A=+-H 23.9% (291,7116) 294,326 1,092 (1,500) 617 8228 215 3513 38,769
Note: Bt

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group sold its equity
interest in one of its listed securities with a FV of approximately
US$166,000 for a cash consideration of approximately US$166,000, as
the Directors considered it was non-core and it would continue focusing
on investing in operating businesses that had a potential to generate
near term cashflow in the Biopharma sector and accordingly, disposed of
this investment. The cumulative losses of approximately US$41,000 was
recognised under other comprehensive income, which was transferred

to accumulated losses.

i Reallocation arising from error in calculation of profit on
disposal of subsidiaries in prior period [occurred before 1997).
Goodwill relating to these subsidiaries, which was offset against
share premium at the time, was not included in calculation
of gain on disposal of these subsidiaries in error resulting
in an overstatement of gain on disposal of subsidiaries and
understatement of share premium of US$2,265,000.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEBERE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ"_"HF+"HA=+—HILFE

2022 2021
k- T —fF
Notes USs$'000 US$'000
i+ FEx F=7T
Cash flows from operating activities: —~ &EEEIZIRERE !
Loss before taxation PRIRAIES 1R (36,008) (15,091)
Adjustments for: NS IEFHARE
Depreciation of property, plantand Y% -MEKRREITE
equipment 12 17 19
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {EFAEEEITE 12 468 471
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E#H 13 24,951 23,762
Finance costs R E R 8 1,013 1,218
Equity-settled share-based payment IR 45 EBIIR (D 1T =R
expenses (52 35(1) 210 519
Equity-settled share-based payment EEEBEHIUERAEE
expenses to consultants MR B 2 AR
s 35(2) 20 9
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME -BEREE
and equipment Z 518 6 1 2
Unrealised gain on derivative TTEEMIT A REIR
financial instruments & 6,36 - (1,202)
Realised loss/(gain) on financial FBEMEREANEBE
assets at fair value through profit RIEZEMBEEZBE
or loss ZIRESE 7 () 6 3,781 (4,852)
Unrealised loss/(gain) on financial FERBEmREANEE
assets at fair value through profit BRIEZ EMBEZ R
or loss BIREE, () 6,15 353 (8,739)
Change in working capital EEESEE (5,194) (3,884)
(Increase)/decrease in trade FEYEE 5 BRAR (G D)
receivables VRS (13) 434
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FE{JRIE ~ %<& K H
deposits and other receivables FEWRIE (1810
e (386) 580
Decrease in financial assets at fair BB BHRBERAEE
value through profit or loss BRI ERMEE/M/D 6,485 5,586
Decrease in trade payables, deposits FE{T B Z R~ BEW
received, accruals and other B& - EEHIRIUR
payables HAhFE R IR (347) (656)
Cash generated from operations (B EMRRE 545 2,060
Income tax paid BIFTER - (3,763)
Net cash generated from/(used in) & EEFRR, FTA)
operating activities RE /P48 545 (1,703)
Cash flows from investing activities: ~ REFZHZIRERE :
Purchase of property, plant BAME BB RSE
and equipment 12 (12) (43)
Proceeds from disposal of property,  HEYIE RE KRR E
plant and equipment FrS7RIA 5 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial ~ HERAARBESTA
assets at fair value through other HthemEmlA
comprehensive income EREESHIE = 166
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEES PR PR
investing activities RE /P48 (7) 123
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SAaREHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E_ZE""F+"_HB=+—HILFE

2022 2021
ke —ZT_—F
Notes US$'000 US$'000
i+ FEx F=7T
Cash flow from financing activities: MEGFZIRERE ! 34
Proceeds from shareholders loans  JGERERZ FAEIA 2,520 =
Repayment of bank borrowings BERIRTEE (9) (6)
Interest paid on bank borrowings BEMIRITEEZHE
(Note] (Pt 5E) N -
Repayment of convertible notes BIERAR R (2,650) S
Interest paid on convertible notes BN HMRERZ R (175) (253)
Principal element of lease payments THERIBZ KEZ 72 (481) (451)
Interest element of lease payments ~ FAERIBZ | E &0 (39] (72)
Net cash used in from REEBPTAZ
financing activities RE P4 (834) (782)
Net decrease in cash and HEMREEEBYRLD
cash equivalents RER (296) (2,362)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHZRERREEFEY
beginning of the year 613 2,699
Effects of foreign currency fluctuations JMNE R EY > 228 24 276
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FHEZIRERIREEEY
of the year 341 613
Analysis of balances of cash and ReEckREEBYZ
cash equivalent: FEERDAT
Cash and bank balances & RIRITEEER 16 341 613

M  HEZZ - -_F+-A=+—HLEFE B
SRITEEZFE DM 000ET(CE—F b
$21,000 E7T) ©

Note: Interest paid on bank borrowings for the year ended 31 December
2022 is less than US$1,000 (2021: less than US$1,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands
with limited liability. Its registered office is at P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.
The Company's shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
and are also traded on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
US$, which is also the functional currency of the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand ("US$°000")
except when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRS(s) (which include
individual HKFRSs, HKAS(s] and interpretations) issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Listing Rules.

The Company is engaged in investment holding, and the
principal activities of the Group consist of investments in
biopharma companies and other corporate investments.
The principal place of business of the Group is 8th Floor,
Henley Building, 5 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 29 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS

2.1

Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs - effective on
1 January 2022

In the current year, the Group has applied for the
first time the following new amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to and
effective for the Group's financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 January 2022:

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts -
Cost of a Fulfilling a
Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual
Framework
Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts - Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the “cost of fulfilling”
a contract comprises the “costs that relate directly to
the contract™. Costs that relate directly to a contract
can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g. direct labour and materials) or an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
contracts (e.g. the allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract).

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers
to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010.
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement
that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result
of past events. For a levy that would be within the
scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies
HKI(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating
event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has
occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments
also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT
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METHANEST B RMBHRS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS

(CONTINUED)

2.1

Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs - effective on
1 January 2022 (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amend a number of
standards, including:

o HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, which permits
a subsidiary that applies paragraph D1é(a) of
HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation
differences using the amounts reported by its
parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to
HKFRSs.

° HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarifies
the fees included in the “10 per cent” test in
paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability,
explaining that only fees paid or received between
the entity and the lender; including fees paid or
received by either the entity or the lender on
other’s behalf are included.

° HKFRS 16, Leases, which amends Illustrative
Example 13 to remove the illustration of
reimbursement of leasehold improvements
by the lessor in order to resolve any potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives that might arise because of how lease
incentives are illustrated in that example.

The adoption of the above amendments did not have
any significant impact on the financial performance
and financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS

(CONTINUED)

2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

RIS BT ERMERS
8 @

BB R RERZ T RAEIERT

are not yet effective

The following new or revised HKFRSs potentially
relevant to the consolidated financial statements, that
have been published but are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group:

Amendments Classification of Liabilities as
to HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and
and HK HK Interpretation 5 (2022),
Interpretation Presentation of Financial
5 (2022) Statements - Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause'
Amendments Disclosure of Accounting Policies'
to HKAS 1
and HKFRS
Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to

HKAS 8

Amendments to

HKAS 12

Amendments to

HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

3 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to

the sale or contribution of assets occurring in annual
periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS 2. 4T REKEITEAMBRE
(CONTINUED) A8 @
2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 22 BHEREHFEMZHHITHLZELT

are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation
5(2022) Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is unaffected by expectations
about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of
the reporting period. The amendments also introduce
a definition of “settlement” to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of
cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK Interpretation 5 (2022) was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 issued
in August 2020. The revision to HK Interpretation 5
(2022) updated the wordings in the interpretation
to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 with no
change in conclusion and do not change the existing
requirements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
Policies were issued following feedback that more
guidance was needed to help companies decide what
accounting policy information should be disclosed.
The amendments to HKAS 1 require companies to
disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. The
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS
(CONTINUED)

2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments introduce a new definition for
accounting estimates: clarifying that they are
monetary amounts in the financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify their relationship between
accounting policies and accounting estimates by
specifying that a company develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objectives set out by an
accounting policy.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemptions so that it does not apply to
transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

The amendments deal with the classification of
long-term loan arrangements with covenants by
specifying that covenants to be complied with after
the reporting date do not affect the classification of
loan arrangements as current or non-current at the
reporting date. Instead, companies are required to
disclose information about these covenants in the
notes to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS
(CONTINUED)

2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where
there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. When
the transaction with an associate or joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of
a subsidiary that does not contain a business are
recognised in profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from
the remeasurement of retained interest in any former
subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture] to FV are recognised in profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the
new associate or joint venture.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of
the above new or amendments in the future will have a
material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation and going concern assumption

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for derivative financial
instruments, financial assets fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") and at fair value
through profit or loss ["FVTPL"), which are stated at
FV. The measurement bases are fully described in the
accounting policies below.
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3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNUED)

3.1

Basis of preparation and going concern assumption
(Continued)

The Group has incurred a loss of approximately
US$36,427,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 and, as at that date, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately US$16,004,000. In addition,
as at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
the Group’'s shareholder’s loans due to Galloway
amounted to approximately US$13,402,000 which
is repayable within the next 12 months from the
reporting date (note 25) despite that its cash and bank
balances only amounted to approximately US$341,000.
These conditions cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.

In assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, the Directors of the Company have prepared
a cash flow projection covering a period of fifteen
months from the end of the reporting period, after
taking the following key elements into consideration:

e The completion of the US$21.67 million
Rights Issue, which resulted in net cash of
approximately US$6.83 million (before expenses
of approximately US$0.80 million) received from
Shareholders and an underwriter (Galloway)
on 12 January 2023. At the same time, all
outstanding principal and accrued interests of
shareholder’s loans due to Galloway were set off
pursuant to the Rights Issue.

o Full disposal of the Group’s interest in DVP.

Having regard to the cash flow projection referred
to above, the Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations
for at least the next twelve months from the date of
the reporting period notwithstanding that there is
a material uncertainty related to the above events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNUED)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation and going concern assumption
(Continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to reclassify all non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively, to reduce the carrying amounts of assets
to their estimated net realisable amounts, and to
provide for any further liabilities which may arise. The
effect of these potential adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the financial
statements. Although these estimates are based
on management’'s best knowledge and judgment
of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in
note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their FV,
except that the deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
“Income Taxes”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the FV of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i} the aggregate of the FV of the
consideration received and the FV of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwilll and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount
of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interest’'s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to owners
of the Company. Profit or loss and each component
of other comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to such non-controlling interests even if this results
in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.3

3.4

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure or rights
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control
is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint
control over those policies.

Assaciates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for
the Group's share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group's interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses. The Group's investment in an associate
includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

Goodwill is calculated at each stage of the acquisition
based on the consideration paid and share of FV of net
assets acquired at the date of each acquisition. If the
sum of this consideration is lower than the FV of the
net assets acquired, the difference is recognised in
profit or loss as a gain from bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.4 Associate (Continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognised the amount adjacent
to “share of results of an associate” in profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associate are recognised in the Group’s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's
interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of the associate have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investment in an
associate are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHHERHBE®
POLICIES (conTiNUED)
3.5 Foreign currency 3.5 4hig

Transactions entered into by group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which they operate (the
“functional currency’) are recorded at the rates
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-
monetary items carried at FV that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the FV was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
FV are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income,
in which case, the exchange differences are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.5 Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. US dollars] at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity as foreign currency exchange reserve
(attributed to minority interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of
group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign currency
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign
currency exchange reserve relating to that operation
up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or
loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and FV adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
foreign currency exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHHERHBE®
POLICIES (conTiNUED)
3.6 Property, plant and equipment 3.6 ME- -BERZE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is recognised. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance, are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on assets is provided to write off their
cost less the expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives used for this purpose are as
follows:

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Computer and other equipment 3-5 years
The assets’ expected residual values, depreciation
methods and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.6

3.7

3.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher
than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready
for their intended use or sale, are recognised as
part of the cost of those assets. Income earned on
temporary investments of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on those assets is deducted from
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Leases

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist
for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i} leases which
are short-term leases and/or [ii] leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHHEHNE®W

POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.8 Leases (Continued) 3.8 HE®

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i} the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii] any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and [iv)
an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use
assets applying the cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable; (ii] variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at
commencement date; (i) amounts expected to be
payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
(iv] the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v)
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.8 Leases (Continued)

3.9

Lease liability (Continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group

measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the

carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (i} reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and [(iii) remeasuring the

carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease

modifications, or to reflect revised in-substance fixed

lease payments.

Financial instruments

li]

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at FV plus, for an item not
at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

li)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments are as follows:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment

interest method. Interest income,

are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVTOCI:
cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely

Assets that are held of contractual

payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVTOCI. Debt investments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at FV. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other
net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

li)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at FV.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective of
the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria
for debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at FVTPL on initial recognition
if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

3.

BEESHHEHE »

39 EMTE®

(i)

EHEE @

EBIERE®

BRBRRBANBERE !
FEBARRBEANEBERE
ZEMEECEFFEEEZ
TRMEE RSP RREEE
FEBARRBEANEBERE
ZEMEE WREEXREA
REEFEZERNEE -/
BEEMNEHELNERA
BENMBEE MOBRRFEEE
B-METR 8FEBIRA
ATETRATDERFEE
B ERIEEFRBERE T
BERD-FHERBLIFER
SNEERMENEREE
TmHAEHEANM - HER
BafRBAnNBEREDE
KEt 8- BEW EXFrtET
TEURBHENEAREAR
BEFAREMEZEWADE
BRI F HEsT B > 5 B 505 FR
HREE R E5HEE AIER
THEAUEEABBERERRE
NREERE-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

li)

i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in the investment's FV in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are
measured at FV. Dividend income are recognised
in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost
of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other
equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in FV, dividends and interest
income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances
for expected credit loss ("ECLs") on trade
receivables and financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12 months
ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and (2] lifetime ECLs:
these are ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

MR

3. BEECHHBEHERE®

39 EMTE®

(i)

(ii)

EHEE @)
HETH

MPERBLIFFIFEEZR
KR ER > AEEET A HE
EZEREMERBATZ
JBRBEBRABENRESS -
ZIRBEEDRKEZRREGH -
BARBESFAHMEERK
ABRERER R DEEF
£ REWANREBRARES
FrIF AR B WL A B B R R Uk [E]
BORE A o H U et K &
BFERAEMEE W AR
BregEMoBERT -FIA
HttkAXTHENEREBE
miREARBERE AP
AREEZFH RERFAEWA
PRiBm SR

EHEEZRELSR
REBEMBNE SRR
BIERAHAEBZEMEEDN
AREERE ((RREES
) EREEEE -RIEE
BREDEUTHA-—BEE
& (1) 12EBREMES
B EARERS A% 12E
BREZEENEBEEENEHE
HNEREERE, X () &F
RATREIEEREE | I RE
MIAERFEHRMARRE
MENEHELENTEHREE
1R - RSt FRHAE B A 1R R
FRERNERABARER
HERFEHEBRNERSHH
fi

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ #

167



168

i

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

il

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” ("HKFRS 9] simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12 months ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since origination, the allowance will be based
on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

il

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract such as a default or
past due event; or

- It is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

S the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days
past due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

il

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full] to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. However, financial assets
that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance] of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
initially measured at FV and financial liabilities at
amortised cost are initially measured at FV, net of
directly attributable costs incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

liii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade payables, bank borrowings, deposits
received, accruals and other payables, debt
element of convertible notes issued by
the Company and shareholder’s loans are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are recognised as well as
through the recognised process.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Group that
contain both the liability and conversion option
components are classified separately into
their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified
as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the FV of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts.
The difference between the proceeds of the issue
of the convertible notes and the FV assigned
to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the
convertible notes into equity, is included in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv] Convertible notes (continued)

vl

In subsequent periods, the liability component of
the convertible notes is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible notes equity
reserve until the embedded option is exercised
(in which case the balance stated in convertible
notes equity reserve and the relevant portion
of the liability component will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. Where
the option remains unexercised at the expiry
dates, the balance stated in convertible notes
equity reserve will be released to the retained
profits/accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible notes using the effective
interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHHEHNE®W

POLICIES (conTiNuED)

39 EMTE®
(vi) 1##m=TH

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

vi] Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

vii] Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid
and are recognised initially and measured at
their FV on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the FV of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect
the FV of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.10 Impairment of other assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists

or may have decreased:

J property, plant and equipment (including right-of-

use assets); and

o interests in subsidiaries and an associate

J intangible assets.

If the recoverable amount [i.e. the greater of the
FVLCOD and value in use) of an asset or CGU is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows

from other assets or groups of assets.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to
the extent that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

FVLCOD is the amount that a market participant would

pay for the asset or CGU, less the costs of sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and

in hand, demand deposits with banks and short-term

highly liquid investments with original maturities of

three months or less that are readily convertible into

known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.12 Intangible assets

(i)

lii)

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is its FV
at the date of acquisition. Subsequent to initial
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation of intangible assets with
finite useful lives is provided on the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Patent (Fortacin™)
IP (Deep Longevity)

8 years
7 years

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that
an asset may be impaired. Intangible assets
are tested for impairment by comparing their
carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts
(see note 3.10).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.12 Intangible assets (Continued)

lii]  Impairment (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount;
however, the carrying amount should not be
increased above the lower of its recoverable
amount and the carrying amount that would
have resulted had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. All
reversals are recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

3.13 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowable for income tax purposes and is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be recognised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected
manner in which the carrying amount of the asset
or liability is realised or settled and that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHHEHNE®W

POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.13 Income taxes (Continued) 3.13 FRIEM ®

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and an associate, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in

equity.

3.14 Employee benefits

(il  Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short-term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

liil  Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of
its Hong Kong employees who are eligible to
participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)  Retirement benefits (Continued)

In the UK, pensions to certain employees are
provided through contributions to individual
personal pension plans. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the
subsidiaries operating in the UK pays fixed
contributions into an independent entity.
The subsidiaries operating in the UK have
no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions after payment of the fixed
contribution.

Contributions are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as employees render services
during the year. The Group's obligations under
these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contributions payable.

(iii) Share-based employee compensation

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation
are measured at their FV. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the (i) share options
awarded; and (i) ordinary shares expected to vest
respectively. Their value is appraised at the grant
date and excludes the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BEECHHBEHERE®
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

314 EEEH @
(i) KR 17ABRIIESZHHN &

3.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

liii)] Share-based employee compensation (Continued)

All share-based compensation is recognised
as an expense in profit or loss over the vesting
period if vesting conditions apply, or recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when
equity instruments granted vest immediately
unless the compensation qualifies for recognition
as asset, with a corresponding increase in the
share-based payment reserve in equity if the
grant is equity-settled share-based payment
transaction. In respect of cash-settled share-
based payment transaction, the corresponding
increase is recognised as a liability. If vesting
conditions apply, the expense is recognised over
the vesting period, based on the best available
estimate of the number of (i} share options and
(i) ordinary shares expected to vest respectively.
Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of [i] options;
and (i) ordinary shares that are expected to vest.
Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any
indication that the number of (i) share options;
and (i) ordinary shares expected to vest differs
from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share-
based payment reserve will be transferred to
share premium. After vesting date, if the vested
share options are later forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment
reserve will be transferred to retained profits/
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.15

3.16

3.17

Non-employee share-based payments

Non-employee share-based payments are accounted
for in the same way as employee share-based
payment except that the cost of equity-settled
transactions with parties other than employees is
measured by reference to the FV of the goods or
services provided, or if the FV cannot be reliably
in which case the goods or services
received are measured by reference to the FV of the

measured,

equity instruments granted. The FV of the goods or
services received are recognised as expenses on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with
a corresponding increase in equity [share-based
payment reserve).

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

probably result in an outflow of

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
Is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the licencing
partners. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfers control over a product or service to the
counterparty (licencing partner).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHHEHNE®W

POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.17 Revenue recognition (Continued] 3.17 WakEs? @)

The Group enters into licence agreements for
development, supply and commercialisation services.
The terms of these arrangements typically include
payments to the Group of one or more of the
following: signature payment, milestone payments for
development and regulatory application and royalty on
net sales of licenced products. A milestone payment
is a variable consideration which is constrained until it
is probable that the revenue is not at a significant risk
of reversal in a future period when the uncertainty is
resolved. The contracts into which the Group enters do
not include significant financing components.

As part of the accounting for these arrangements, the
Group must use significant judgment to determine: (a)
the performance obligations; (b) the transaction price;
and (c] the timing of revenue recognition, including the
appropriate measure of progress.

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised within each contract and
determines those that are performance obligations,
and assesses whether each promised good or service
is distinct.

The Group uses judgment to determine whether
milestones or other variable consideration, (except for
royalty), should be included in the transaction price.
The transaction price is allocated to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis,
for which the Group recognises revenue as or when
the performance obligations under the contract are
satisfied. If a milestone or other variable consideration
relates specifically to the Group’s efforts to satisfy a
single performance obligation or to a specific outcome
from satisfying the performance obligation, the Group
generally allocates that milestone amount entirely to
that performance obligation once it is probable that a
significant revenue reversal would not occur.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue only when it satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring control
of the promised goods or services. The transfer of
control can occur over time or at a point in time. A
performance obligation is satisfied over time if it
meets one of the following criteria:

e The counterparty simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

e The Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the counterparty controls as the asset
is created or enhanced.

e The Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

The portion of the transaction price that is allocated
to performance obligations satisfied at a point in
time is recognised as revenue when control of the
goods or services transfers to the counterparty. If
the performance obligation is satisfied over time,
the portion of the transaction price allocated to that
performance obligation is recognised as revenue
as the performance obligation is satisfied. The
Group adopts an appropriate method of measuring
progress for purposes of recognised revenue. The
Group evaluates the measure of progress at the end
of the reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts
the measure of performance and related revenue
recognition.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

3.

BEESHHEHE »

317 Wa kg (@

FEBERHBITEEAGEEY N
RFBFIEFEHNBEO S ERER K
i o IR A BEE R ] B2
WNEEFRBERELE - BOSER
HE G THNEF-—BERFRER

—

17

s XRBHERUIMKFERASE
B FE % T #5 2R A9 R 2t o

s HERUNMAR > FEEE
BRI MBI 5 75 HEHIHY
BE-

s FEBEBENITERUHNAEE
EEEARAENEERTE
EHEZSERRBHONNRE
SR RITHER)

PEEBRTERNEENZZERL
PR AR5 75 82 G Y S RFE S
EHEEREESRm HENE
EREERBNEBERT BIDE
EZRNBEENBORZEBRINE
TROSEREI S WD ~EE
RHEDBREMERNSEAEEET
Ao REEN SR EEES
8k (NEE BEEBENFTERE
R U xRS o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHHEHNE®W

POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.17 Revenue recognition (Continued] 3.17 WakEs? @)

Signature payment

The Group provides licence of its patented IP to
customers and revenue is recognised when the
customers obtain rights to use the underlying IP. The
consideration for licence comprises a fixed element
(the signature payment] and variable elements
(including but not limited to development milestones
and royalties). The signature payment is recognised
as revenue when customers have ability to use the
underlying IP of the licence. The Group recognises
signature payment at a point in time, upon the transfer
of rights to use of licence to customers.

Milestone payments

At the inception of each arrangement that includes
milestone payments, the Group evaluates whether
the milestones are considered probable of being
achieved and estimates the amount to be included
in the transaction price using the most likely amount
method. If it is probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue would not occur, the associated
milestone value is included in the transaction price.
Milestone payments that are not within the control
of the Group, such as regulatory approvals, are not
considered probable of being achieved until those
approvals are received. The Group evaluates factors
such as the scientific, clinical, regulatory, commercial,
and other risks that must be overcome to achieve the
particular milestone in making this assessment. There
is considerable judgment involved in determining
whether it is probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue would not occur. At the end of the
subsequent reporting period, the Group re-evaluates
the probability of achievement of all milestones
subject to constraint and, if necessary, adjusts its
estimate of the overall transaction price. Any such
adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up
basis, which would affect revenues and earnings in the
period of adjustment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

3.18

Royalty income

A sales-based royalty promised in exchange for a
licence of IP is recognised as revenue only when (or
as) the later of the following events occurs: (a) the
subsequent sale occurs; and [b] the performance
obligation to which some or all of the sales-based
royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or
partially satisfied).

Any unconditional rights to consideration are
presented separately as trade receivables.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-proportion basis
on the principal outstanding at the applicable interest
rate.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Research and development expenses

Expenditure on research (or the research phase of an
internal project] is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project] is recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use

or sale;

e theintention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

J how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHHEHNE®W

POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.18 Research and development expenses (Continued) 3.18 MRz @)

e the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

J the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses |if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

3.19 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognised as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets are recognised as
deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.19 Government grants (Continued)

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

3.20 Related parties
(al A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.20 Related parties (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (alli] has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below:

4.1 Determining whether an intangible asset is impaired

As explained in accounting policy note 3.10, where
there are any indications that an intangible asset has
been impaired, the Group is required to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset or the CGU to
which it relates. An asset/CGU is impaired where its
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
FVLCOD. In the case of the Group's intangible assets,
both value in use and FVLCOD have been determined
by management based on an estimate of the future
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset/
CGU, discounted to present value using a suitable
discount rate. A number of critical assumptions
underlie the present value of these estimated future
cash flows, which are subject to a high degree of
management judgement and estimation based on
the latest circumstances and information available to
them. Further details of these critical assumptions
and the basis of how the recoverable amounts were
determined are set out in note 13.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

4.2

4.3

4.4

Provision for income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in different
Jjurisdictions and significant judgment is required in
determining the tax liabilities to be recognised and the
impact of the UK Patent Box Regime. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
provisions for tax based on estimates of the taxes
that are likely to become due. The Group believes
that its provision for tax is adequate for the reporting
periods based on its assessment of many factors
including past experience and interpretations of tax
law. Where the final tax outcome is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Directors use their judgment in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners
are applied. The estimation of FV of unlisted financial
instruments may include some assumptions not
supported by observable market prices and rates.
Further details are set out in notes 30 and 36.

Valuation of share options granted

The FV of share options granted was calculated using
the Binomial Model which requires the input of highly
subjective assumptions, including the volatility of the
share price. Continuous estimation is required for the
calculation of cumulative share-based payment cost
at the reporting date until vesting, including estimate
of the number that will vest. Details of the key
assumptions underlying the FV of the share options
granted are set out in note 35.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

Revenue of the Group consists of milestone and royalty
income, corporate investment income and other income. An

Waas B 3 BR B Y

FERZRHOREERMAENERE
WA EEREWAKREMIEA - ERZE

analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: EEZWEHEDRIT -
2022 2021
—E=—— —m—
US$°000 US$°000
T FE7T
Milestone and royalty income BREMEENERAERA 35 3,254
Other income HAA
Over-provision of interest on tax FEIIRIEH B 2 HBER R
payable (note (a)) (Fy5E(a)) - 379
Over-provision of long-service REARF I HBERH#EE
payment 85 80
Government grants (note (b)) BT #EED (fEE(b) 22 8
Sundry income MU A 81 9
188 476
223 3,730

Notes:

(a)

(b)

As announced on 18 March 2019, the Company entered into
a settlement agreement with the ATO in respect of a dispute
arising from the capital gains tax payable on the disposal
in 2013 of an investment in BC Iron Limited by the Group
for an amount of A$9.50 million (or approximately US$6.67
million), payable within 90 days of the date of the settlement
agreement.

On 3 May 2021, the ATO confirmed acceptance of A$5 million
(or approximately US$3.75 million] as full and final payment
of the outstanding tax debts. Therefore, the Company
reversed an over-provided interest expense accrual of
approximately A$491,000 (or approximately US$379,000),
which was booked as other income, for the year ended 31
December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a Hong Kong
government grant of HK$176,000 (or approximately
US$22,000) was received by the Group under the
“Employment Support Scheme” launched from second
round of the “Anti-epidemic Fund”.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a UK government
grant of GBP 6,000 (or approximately US$8,000] was received
by the Group as financial support to its wholly-owned UK
based subsidiary during COVID-19.

There were no unfulfilled conditions relating to these grants.
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5.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the CEO for his decision about
resources allocation to the Group’s business components
and for his review of the performance of those components.
The business components in the internal financial
information reported to the CEO are determined following
the Group’s major product and service lines.

For management’'s purpose, the Group’s two product
and service lines are identified as operating segments as

follows:

Biopharma Research, development,
manufacturing, marketing and
sale of pharmaceutical products
and the development of Al
systems for the field of biological
aging clocks

Corporate Investment in corporate entities,

Investment both listed and unlisted

These operating segments are monitored and strategic
decisions are made on the basis of segment operating
results. There are no sales between the reportable
segments.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs,
except that:

e Taxation/tax credit

is not included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets except for interest in an
associate.

Segment liabilities exclude convertible notes, shareholder’s
loans and deferred tax liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmKkaEPER @
(CONTINUED)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is ERTEEZR DB ZERESNNT ¢

set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_ZT-_—F+ZH=+—HLEE
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
SR E TERE “aEt
Us$’000 Us$'000 USs$'000
FE7T F=T FET
Revenue from external REIMER R Z W
customers 35 - 35
Segment results and DEBEB R IRIRRTZ
consolidated loss before REE1E
taxation (26,607) (9,401) (36,008)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E_—_F+-"A=+—HILEE
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
SR E TERE 4t
Us$’000 Us$'000 US$'000
FE7T FET FE7T
ltems included in arriving at STADEEENEE
segment results or assets: HIEE !
Depreciation ree —* (485) (485)
Amortisation i (24,951) - (24,951)
Finance costs =N —* (1,013) (1,013)
Fair value loss on FAFVPL EBBmREANE
EREZEMEE
ZARBERE - (4,134) (4,134)
* Amount is less than US$1,000. * FEB/DH 1,000 5T 0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W=ERPEBER @

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-H=+—H

Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
=y TERE “aEt
Us$'000 us$'000 Us$’000
FE7T F=ET FET
Segment assets DEREE 23,900 2,417 26,317
Interest in an associate R—EBRE Rz
B 1
Total assets EEEE 26,318
Segment liabilities pan= 1=K 234 4,698 4,932
Shareholder’s loans REER 13,402
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEE 5,387
Total liabilities =NEpcks 23,721
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ZT-_—F+-"H=+—HILEE
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
G/l ¥ TERE KaEt
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
=T FE7T TET
Revenue from external REIIMERR Z W Em
customers 3,254 - 3,254
Segment results and DEPEBERIRINIE
consolidated loss before tax eI 2 ir e EE
credit (23,646) 8,555 (15,091)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WHERSEER @
(CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ZT-—F+ZH=+—HLEE

Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
kYL TERE wast
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TFET FE7T FE7T
ltems included in arriving at STADBIEENEE
segment results or assets: MNIER :
Depreciation e (4) (486) (490)
Amortisation B (23,762) - (23,762)
Finance costs B R A — (1,218) (1,218)
Fair value gain on FAFVPL FHEEmREANE
BEREZEMEE
ZRAAEEWD - 13,591 13,591
Unrealised gain on derivative TESRM T EREIR
financial instruments & - 1,202 1,202
* Amount is less than US$1,000. * %8/ F,0005 7T 0
As at 31 December 2021 R-2_—%+”"HB=+—H
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
Gty £ TERSE Ha 5t
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FE7T FET T
Segment assets DEREE 49,013 13,215 62,228
Interest in an associate R—EBERTZ
HE 1
Total assets BEMAE 62,229
Segment liabilities pan= =K 482 4,836 5,318
Convertible notes IR E S 2,338
Shareholder’s loans KRERER 10,850
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 4,954
Total liabilities B{E8% 23,460
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5.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

The Group’s revenues from external customers and its non-
current assets (other than financial instruments) are divided
into the following geographical areas:

5.

WERAEER @

FEERBINEE R ZWmRIFRENEE
(ERIT ARSI BUTHER S :

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets

ShEE P UL E ERBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
- g ZFTZZ BT —F
US$'000 Us$'000 US$°000 us$'000
FE7T FE F=ET TE7T
China FAE] - 3,200 1 1
Europe BN 11 54 21,815 46,377
Hong Kong (domicile) B (PR H) - - 2,190 3,061
Taiwan = 24 = = =
35 3,254 24,006 49,439

The geographical location of revenue from external
customers is based on the location of customers of the
Group’s Biopharma segment. The geographical location of
the non-current assets is based on the physical location of
the assets.

SMEER RSz BT ERAEREY
BEOMERAEHE - FRBEEZ
wENHENEEBRAEME -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION Wz R 53 BB E L )
(CONTINUED)
Disaggregation of revenue Y 2 40 53
Disaggregation of revenue from the Group's Biopharma AEELEYEE WG 2 D ERES
segment and timing of revenue recognition are as follows: W B0 T
2022 2021
US$'000 US$'000
FE51 FE7T
Timing of revenue recognition o W 2 s
At a point in time T E T
Milestone income SR EEI N - 3,200
Royalty income B2 FEREWRA 35 54
35 3,254
Information about major customers EREEERZEH
Revenue from customers of the Group's Biopharma REFEBEMBES S RAIEEBTE
segment contributing 10% or more of the Group's revenue is WER10% A L2 BER 2RI !
as follows:
2022 2021
kS —ZT_—fF
us$'000 US$'000
FE TFE7T
Customer A ZHA - 3,200
Customer B =FB 11 N/ATE B
Customer C =RC 24 N/ATE B

Note:N/A represents those customers had revenue that

contributes less than 10% of the Group's revenue.
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OPERATING LOSS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MR

6. EiEE5IE

loss on FAFVPL of approximately US$4,134,000 (2021:
gain on FAFVPL and derivative financial instruments of
approximately US$14,793,000) in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.

2022 2021
kS - 3 —EBT
US$'000 US$°000
F=r FE7T
Operating loss is arrived at after SEBEENR:
charging:
Auditors” remuneration BB &

- audit services —IZERT 204 262

- other services —H AR5 95 o7
Depreciation of [note 12): BB ITE (H5E12)

- property, plant and equipment o/ EN =Y 17 19

- right-of-use assets —ERAEE 468 471
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEN (EE13)

(note 13) 24,951 23,762
Short-term lease expenses FRHATEES W 13 14
Low-value assets lease expenses REEEEHEESZY 3 3
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME -BERKEZ

and equipment fE518 1 2
Unrealised loss on FAFVPL® EBERMEREANEE

(note 15) BIEZEMEEY

REREE (HEE15) 353 -
Realised loss on FAFVPL® EREmREANER

BRI EMBEEY

BEIREE 3,781 -
Equity-settled share-based MR AR E A AR 7

payment to consultants E RV RAR TR

(note 35(2)) (B5E35(2)) 20 9
Exchange losses, net FEREE 109 288

and crediting: WEEA:
Unrealised gain on FAFVPL® ZiBEmREANEE
(note 15) BIEZEMEEZ
KRR W (HFE15) - 8,739
Realised gain on FAFVPL® ZiBEmREANEE
BIEZEMBEEZ
BRI e - 4,852
Unrealised gain on derivative TEEMIT A REIR
financial instruments® (note 36) Weaa© (FsE36) - 1,202
These amounts constitute the marked-to-market FV e ZERBEERGEEERERAET

Bt BEEAERREEAAEBEREY
SREENABERELL 134,000 7T

TEC—F  EBERRERAAEE
BEZSMEERTESMTREREDN
14,793,000 7T) ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ #

197



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7.

EEEAER BEEERTET

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S B A SiE)
EMOLUMENTS)
2022 2021
ZEICHF TR —F
US$’000 Us$'000
FET FE7T
Salaries and benefits in kind rekBYH @ 2,984 3,609
Contributions to defined contribution TE R ETEIH R BEE27)
plans (note 27) 33 37
Share-based payment expenses MR Hh #mER 2 Rz H
(note 35 (1)) (MF5E35(1)) 210 519
3,227 4,165
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments (@) EERTEITHAEME

BREERTBTHAEREEC
E__F+_A=+—HLIEEFEZ
ME&FUWT :

The remuneration of every Director and Chief
Executive for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set
out below:

Contribution

Salaries and to defined Share-based
benefits Discretionary contribution payment
Fees in kind bonus plans expenses Total
HER EEMR BARg 1R
ik BYFG BBTEA BE G AEREZ st
Name of director Us$'000 Us$'000 us$'ooo US$'000 us$'000 Us$'000
EEfS TERw TER TER TER FTEx TERw
Executive Director HTESE
Jamie Gibson Jamie Gibson - 1,075 - - 51 1,126
Non-Executive EHITESR
Directors
James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 - - 5 133
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 - - - 5 19
Independent Non- B IERITESE
Executive
Directors
David Comba David Comba 28 - - - - 28
Julie Oates Julie Oates 28 - - - 5 33
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 - - - 5 33
Total st 116 1,185 - - 7 1,372
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS) (conTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

The remuneration of every Director and Chief
Executive for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set

out below:

MR

7. EEEMNER (BIEEERTET
BASM®E) @

(@) EFRFETHASHME @

BRESEREIBTHRABREBET
T —F+_A=+—HLEFEZ
Bl &HHNT -

Contribution

Salaries and to defined Share-based
benefits Discretionary contribution payment
Fees in kind bonus plans expenses Total
ek EEMR ey
ik YRR HIETEAL SR AERES 5t
Name of director US$'000 Us$:000 Us$'000 Us$:000 Us$:000 US$'000
Bt TEn T TEn TE7n TEn TEn
Executive Director H{TEE
Jamie Gibson Jamie Gibson - 1,652 - - m 1,763
Non-Executive EHTER
Directors
James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 - - 11 139
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 - - - 11 25
Independent Non- B FRITES
Executive
Directors
David Comba David Comba 28 - - - - 28
Julie Oates Julie Oates 28 - - - 11 39
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 - - - 11 39
Total st 116 1,762 - - 155 2,033

No Directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments in respect of the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

BMEEENHEE S _FLK-F
T+ _B=t+—HLEEERE
NEERETAME-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7. EEEMNER BRESFREET
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S BASHME) @
EMOLUMENTS) (coNTINUED)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five highest paid individuals, one (2021: one)
was Director of the Company and the remuneration
has been included in the Directors’” remuneration.
The total emoluments payable to the five highest paid

(b) EBRESHFMAL

RESEaeHFMALTER —%
TT—F ) BRERFESH
HHMEStAEZEEMEAN - EREN
IxESHMATZEBMEWT

individuals for the year are as follows:

2022 2021
bt 2 B —fF
US$'000 US$°000
F=r FET
Fees W - -
Salaries and other emoluments  #rs & EHMENE 2,180 2.766
Discretionary bonus EYIETEAL - -
Contributions to defined TE BRHRRETEHR
contribution plans 3 4
Share-based payment expenses MR AERES 133 312
2,316 3,082
The above remuneration of the top five individuals fell Nt EEHMALZHNE T5]8
within the following bands: :
Number of individuals
A
2022 2021
ZEICHE BT —F
HK$1,500,001- HK$2,000,000 (US$191,559-US$255,412) 2 1
1,500,00178 75— 2,000,000/ 75 (191,5593% 75— 255,412% 75)
HK$2,000,001- HK$2,500,000 (US$255,412-US$319,264) 1 2
2,000,001787t—2,500,000%8 75 (255,412 75—319,2643 7T)
HK$4,000,001- HK$4,500,000 (US$510,823-US$574,676) 1 1
4,000,0017875—4,500,00078 7T (510,823%= 75— 574,676 TT)
HK$8,500,001- HK$9,000,000 (US$1,085,499-US$1,149,352) 1# -
8,500,00178 7t —9,000,00078 7T (1,085,4993 75— 1,149 3523&7T)
HK$13,500,001- HK$ 14,000,000 (US$1,724,028-US$1,787,881) - i

13,500,001 75— 14,000,000 7T

(1,724,028%75—1,787,881%7T)

i Emoluments relate to a Director

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7.
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS) (conTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No emolument was paid by the Group to the Directors

or any of the five highest paid individuals as an

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office in respect of the years

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Senior management

(c)

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior

management were within the following bands:

MR

EEENER BEEERIEST
BAESM®) @

(b) ERBEIFHMAL @®

BE_ T KRB —F+Z
A=+—HLEE xEELTER
EXYEMLRREHFMALZM
Bl < - LAPER IR 510 A 2= S B SR 0
AFTEBBRZMS  SHFESBERE

-
&e

SREEE

BENHENSREIRRE NS Z
BTYEE :

Number of individuals
A¥
2022 2021
—E-CHF BT —F

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Z 21,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,001- HK$1,500,000
1,000,0017&75—1,500,000% 7T
HK$1,500,001- HK$2,000,000
1,500,001 75 —2,000,000% 7T
HK$2,000,001- HK$2,500,000
2,000,00177%—2,500,000# 7T
HK$4,000,001- HK$4,500,000
4,000,001 75— 4,500,000 70

(Nil to US$127,706)
(BZE127,706%7T)
(US$127,706-US$191,559)
(127,706 75— 191,5593 7T)
(US$191,559-US$255,412)
(191,559 75— 255,412 7T)
(US$255,412-US$319,264)
(255,4123575—319,26437T)
(US$510,823-US$574,676)
(510,823E 75— 574,676 7T)

*

31 December 2022.

One senior management has resigned with effect on

2 1
1 2
1* 1
5 5

* —heREEEERE B-F

T THETZA=T—HEEN-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. FABEMZ
2022 2021
k- St 2 T —fF
us$'000 US$'000
FE7r Tt
Imputed interest expense on interest-  FEFERREMZIEEF] S
free shareholder’s loan (note 25) FAsz (Md5E25) 32 43
Interest expense on bank borrowings  RITEEZFEMZ (&)
(note) - _
Interest expense on shareholder’s loans FREREZF| BRI
(note 25) (P5E25) 561 508
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaGZMEMAX
(note 23) (Fg5E23) 39 72
Interest expense on tax payable BAREZ MR S 98
Implicit interest expense on Convertible AJIAR IR ESF B
Notes [note 24) (fg5E24) 381 497
1,013 1,218

Note: Interest expense on bank borrowings for the year ended
31 December 2022 is less than US$1,000 (2021: less than

Wi BEzE_—_E - _—HF#+_A=+—HI#EF
EZIRTEEZFEMAZ/DINM,0005%E7T

US1,000). (ZEBEZ—4F /D, 000%E7T) ©
9. (TAXATION)/TAX CREDIT 9. (R1\) RHEESR
The amount of (taxation)/tax credit in the consolidated REEXEW@ERMY (RE) RIEER
statement of comprehensive income represents: 5
2022 2021
k- S B
US$'000 US$'000
FErx TFE7T
Outside Hong Kong BHAREIN
- Current year credit —ARFEERR 14 102
Deferred tax credit/(expense) (note 26) RIEFRIEE R, (I
(P=E26)
- In respect of amortisation of — B\ EEEHE)
intangible assets (i) 4,722 2,391
- In respect of change in tax rates (i) —HBRAIREE (i) (5,155) -
(433) 2,391
(Taxation)/Tax credit (fR1\) /MIEE R (419) 2,493
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

(fR18) IR GR @

ZEE O BRRIEARAREBFERIE
HEGE BRREE _S_ £k _F
T+ -HA=+—HLEEE -A£H
FIBAHMIEREBEZ ATMRMEN
G E IR BN RIBERERAEHER

(TAXATION)/TAX CREDIT (conTINUED) 9.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in
these consolidated financial statements as all the Group's
companies which are subject to such tax have sustained
losses for taxation purposes for the years ended 3
December 2022 and 2021. Overseas taxes are calculated at

the rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions. RZzMEHE-

() A tax credit of approximately US$4,722,000 for the () B2 -_—_#+-_HB=+—H
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately IEFEZRIEIR R 494,722,000 7T
US$2,391,000) represents the deferred tax credit (ZZZ—4F 1 %92,391,000%7T) 5

FEREERN Fortacin™E & E & A
HEM (Deep Longevity) BRI
HYHEEZRERIBIRSE

arising on the amortisation charge for the year relating
to the intangible assets of the patent Fortacin™ and IP
(Deep Longevity).

FRo AEERERHEREZHNE
SIE EBRBEBHEZERMFortacin™
HEMWANKREBEEN 252
MERIOBIEE_ZT - _FM19%
BR_E_=FM235% BREF
Fortacin™RYiRIEAR I8 & (E 8 FE1E
075,155,000 7T > W R AR IEF &
ATHEBEEE U Rz EE (M
26) ©

(i) During the year, the Group elected out of the UK Patent (ii)

Box Regime, which has the effect of increasing the tax
earned on any income from its patent Fortacin™ from
the Patent Box tax rate of 10% to 19% in 2022 and
23.5% in 2023. The deferred tax liability related to the
patent Fortacin™ has accordingly been increased by
US$5,155,000 and a charge for same amount has been
made to taxation to reflect this election (note 26).

rEEZ (RE) MEEREESHER

Reconciliation between the Group's (taxation)/tax credit and

accounting loss at applicable tax rates are as follows: RBAMIRZHIRINT
2022 2021
—B_—F 22—
us$'000 US$'000
FE7r FE7T
Loss before taxation PRI ARS8 (36,008) (15,091)
Nominal tax on loss before taxation, PRI AT RS IR R ERINIE
calculated at the rate applicable BERRBEAEEES
to profits in the tax jurisdictions wAEANREHE
concerned 5,423 2,310
Change of tax rates eSS L) (5,155] -
Income not subject to taxation AR Z A 5 2
Expenses not deductible for taxation AENiR M
purposes (706) (103
Utilisation of tax losses previously not ~ ENFAZ iR Z RFEE1E
recognised - 182
Tax credit on prior year's research and  FFfEMAZ 2 RIEE R
development expenses 14 422
Withholding tax on milestone income BB ABITEINR - (320)
(Taxation)/Tax credit R\ MI|EHE R (419) 2,493
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

10. DIVIDENDS

11.

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
December 2022 nor since the end of the reporting period
(2021: nill.

10.

iRE

HE_S__F+_HA=+—HLlEE
B EREMARLK EDIRMTES
KRR E (T -—F | ) o

LOSS PER SHARE 1. SkEE
The following calculation of basic loss per share is based on BREXGIERBFAIARRBILBIER
the loss attributable to the shareholders for the year and on FRNEETEBERZMETIHE -
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.
2022 2021
g F —ET %
us$'000 US$'000
FE7r T%=7T
Loss attributable to shareholders of the Z</AE] IR R FE(LES1E
Company (36,427) (12,598)
Weighted average number of ordinary B2 17E @R 2 MNEFHE
shares in issue 2,399,855,352 2.399,421,215
Basic loss per share (US cents) SREXREGE GEW) (1.52) (0.53)

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2022 does not assume the conversion
of the outstanding share options as they are anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, diluted loss per share is the same as the basic
loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2021 did not assume the conversion
of the Company’'s outstanding Convertible Notes and the
outstanding share options as their exercise would result in a
decrease in loss per share for the year. Accordingly, diluted
loss per share was the same as the basic loss per share for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company completed the US$21.67 million Rights
Issue to its existing shareholders on 12 January 2023. The
subscription price was higher than its market price at the
date of the Rights Issue, and accordingly, there were no
bonus element in the Rights Issue. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares has therefore not been adjusted
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT
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EE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. W% -BER®ZE

Computer and
Right-of- Furniture other
use assets and fixtures equipment Total
Ehak
EREEE  RRREE Hithi s st
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$’000
TEn TER =1 =1
At 1 January 2021 RZ2Z—%—F—H
Cost A 398 332 263 1,993
Accumulated depreciation REE (2006 (332) (247) (785)
Net book amount REFE 1,192 = 16 1,208
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE"T"—F1+ZR
=+—HUEEE
Opening net book amount FAREFE 1,192 - 16 1,208
Additions e 30 - 43 73
Disposals HE (29) - (20) (49)
Depreciation charge for the year ~ FERITEEH (471) - (19) (490)
Depreciation written back on HEZNERE
disposals 29 - 18 47
Foreign currency translation SN R
adjustment (5] - - (5]
Closing net book amount FREREFE 746 - 38 784
At 31 December 2021 R-E_—F+-AH
=+—H
Cost A 1,3% 332 288 2,014
Accumulated depreciation R5tiTE (648) (332) (250) (1,230)
Net book amount REZE 746 - 38 784
Year ended 31 December 2022 ~ HE_ZF_"F+_H
=+—HERE
Opening net book amount FENEREFE 746 - 38 784
Additions E - - 12 12
Disposals HE - - (12) (12)
Depreciation charge for the year ~ FRITEER (468) - (17) (485)
Depreciation written back on HE 2 HrEmH
disposals - - 6 6
Foreign currency translation INEBERR
adjustment (2) - - (2)
Closing net book amount FREEEPE 276 - 27 303
At 31 December 2022 A
=+-H
Cost A 1,394 332 288 2,014
Accumulated depreciation [EHTE (1,118) (332) (261) (1,711
Net book amount BRERE 276 - 27 303
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continuen)  12.

Right-of-use assets

The Group entered into a number of lease agreements for
the use of office premise and warehouse in Hong Kong with
lease terms ranging from two to three years (2021: two to

e

— 5= —

ME- -BERSEE @

EREEE

FEBNEREBMAEMERBEL]
YETHERZ BRNIMEE=F
F MEE=F) - EHARE

three years). The right-of-use assets comprise: EBETIER
2022 2021
US$'0[£] US$'UO_O
FE =T
Buildings BF 276 746
13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. BRCEE
Patent IP (Deep
(Fortacin™) Longevity) Total
oA E R
=7 (Deep
(Fortacin™) Longevity) st
US$'000 USs$°000 Us$°000
FE1 FE=7 FE7T
At 1 January 2021 N2 —%—F—H
Cost R A 216,000 2,660 218,660
Accumulated amortisation Rt EHEORE
and impairment (146,242) = (146,242)
Net carrying amount IREVFE 69,758 2,660 72,418
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE_Z-_—F+_H8
=+—HIEEE
Opening net carrying amount FYEREEE 69,758 2,660 72,418
Amortisation charge for the year FREHEREY (23,382) (380) (23,762)
Foreign currency adjustment SMERREE - (2) (2)
Closing net carrying amount FRREFE 46,376 2,278 48,654
At 31 December 2021 R _E_—F+"H=+—H
Cost D% 216,000 2,660 218,660
Accumulated amortisation Rt BIERRE
and impairment (169,624) (382) (170,006)
Net carrying amount REDFE 46,376 2,278 48,654
Year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE-_"F+°8
—+—HILEEFE
Opening net carrying amount FEYEREFE 46,376 2,278 48,654
Amortisation charge for the year FEREIHRY (24,572) (379) (24,951)
Foreign currency adjustment SMERREE - (1) (1)
Closing net carrying amount FRREFE 21,804 1,898 23,702
At 31 December 2022 RN _E__F+"RA=+—H
Cost A 216,000 2,660 218,660
Accumulated amortisation Rt #HERE
and impairment (194,196) (762) (194,958)
Net carrying amount REDVFE 21,804 1,898 23,702
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTiNUED)

As at 31 December 2022, the intangible asset of
approximately US$23,702,000 (2021: approximately
US$48,654,000) represented the patent Fortacin™> the
principal asset of Plethora, which was acquired by the
Group in 2016, amounting to approximately US$21,804,000
(2021: approximately US$46,376,000) and the IP (Deep
Longevity], the principal asset of DLI, which was acquired
in 2020, amounting to approximately US$1,898,000 (2021:
approximately US$2,278,000).

Patent (Fortacin™)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
determined that there was no impairment loss on the
intangible asset, Fortacin™, in respect of the CGU, Plethora,
as the value in use figure determined as at 31 December
2022 was higher than the carrying value of the CGU. The
recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation with reference to a professional
valuation performed by Grant Sherman, an independent
expert valuation firm. The calculation was essentially the
same basis/model as used to determine the value in use of
the intangible asset/CGU for the year ended 31 December
2021 and on its initial recognition at 9 March 2016 and
covered the licensing period of Fortacin™ based on the best
estimation by management. Additional information about
the valuation are disclosed below:

13.

MR

E|EEE®

R_EBE-_—_#+-"B=+—8"’%&
23,702,000 (Z&2Z—F 1 &
48,654,000E ) 2 | EETRAERR
B RNEFFUNEEPlethoraz TEEER
HFortacin™#921,804,000& 75 (Z &~ —
1 #946,376,000E7T) P URRZZEZE
FPRWEDLIEEEE 2 M#MER (Deep
Longevity) 91,898,000 5 (&~ —4&:
#92,278,000% 7T) ©

= F (Fortacin™)

BHE_S "+ _-_B=+—HIL=H
E-BAR-_ZE__F+ZR=+—HE
EzHREBERFERREEELB UL
REE WAEREE MRETELSBN
Plethorafl & » &2 & ZEFortacin ™k
EEE - ZATELBAUZIWEIEE
EREABESE (K2EZHBLEM
HERBFHEEHCEEME) BEE ° &
HEEAINETEFEE ReEE
BAREE_S_—&F+"A=+—H
IFFEZFREBEMRBZEE BR
URBERZE—RE=ZBNB YT RER
FERE THEREBEEEREMGTZ
Fortacin™Z ZFr] #AfE - B RAHEN E M
BERHEEWT ¢

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
RIEZZH R —F
+=ZA=+—B +ZA=t+—H
Note Us$’000 US$'000
Krat FErx FET
Value-in-use FHEEE 47,230 57,834
Carrying value REME 21,804 46,376
Surplus BER 25,426 11,458
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTINUED)

Patent (Fortacin™) (Continued)

3. EREE®

E# (Fortacin™) (&)

2022 2021
- ot ZBC—F
USA PRC Others USA PRC Others
e FE Hth X ] Hith
Pre-tax discount rates ~ HRATAEIRE 35% 32% From 36% 29% From
30% to 42% 27% to 34%
T H30% 2%
E42% E34%
Prevalence of pre- FRERE 25% 20% 30% 25% 20% 30%
mature ejaculation
Expected launch date  TBHAHEH A January 2026 January 2025 From November July 2024 From
July 2023 to 2023 July 2023 to
January 2024 January 2024
ZEZRE ZEC-hE BIEIZE "B=E C"E_NE BE=F
—A —A tRE +—A th tAE
b a1 3 “BImE
—A —R
Exchange rate [to US$)  ER (RE7T) N/A 6.9517 Various N/A 6.3734 Various
TEH £2! TER Es!

IP (Deep Longevity)

The Group acquired Deep Longevity in December 2020
and was part of the Group’s expansion into the health and
wellness sector, namely the emerging field of longevity
medicine. The primary asset of Deep Longevity Limited
("DLL"), a “wholly owned subsidiary of DLI," was its
intangible asset, IP (Deep Longevity) represented by several
patents including Deep Transcriptome Aging clock and
Deep Haematological Aging clocks amongst others. DLL
is developing explainable and user-friendly Al systems to
track the rate of ageing at the molecular, cellular, tissue,
organ, system, physiological and psychological levels. At the
time of its acquisition, one of DLL's main objectives were to
develop its B2C business through its Yong.Al mobile app, as
well as provision of its AgeMetric™ biological age reports
to clinics/doctors, age prediction services via software as a
service (SaaS])® and developing its MindAge® offering.

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT

%038 ZHE (Deep Longevity)

KEEBRZ-ZZZZ2F+Z AW HEDeep
LongevityE HEBRBEEEF (B
REEBEHMEEE) 2—BR RES
HFHAMRAS (TDLL) ' DLINE BB A
B NEZEEAHBTEE  MHMERE
(Deep Longevity) I5 B ENREBHEHIZAE
{ERFEE) K RE MR 2L RFE S518
HF)DLIEHEBEBEREZERZA
TEERG  LUBH D 74~ E48
BE R EEBERLOEKFEZELE
RUWER  DLLNEEZEE —ABEAH
Young ALRENE B2 NS B EHB2CEF
MK @z BEiRHEEAgeMetric™4E
MFRRE  BBEARIARTS (SaaS) °f2
TR TR AR 75 K B SEMindAge® & fh o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTiNUED)

IP (Deep Longevity) (Continued)

In April 2022, DLL hired a new CEQ, Deepankar (Deep)
Nayak to take the company forward. Since coming on board,
Deep has taken DLL in a different direction and for example
has decided not to continue with its B2C and Young.Al
mobile app but rather concentrate on B2B sector and put
more focus on other areas, such as its SaaS® platform that
hosts all of its ageing clocks, SenoClock® and its MindAge®
offering.

DLL has made losses since its acquisition, including the
current year. The directors have accordingly undertaken an
impairment assessment of IP (Deep Longevity) as required
under HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether
the recoverable amount of IP (Deep Longevity) was greater
than its carrying value.

Under HKAS 36, the recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and FVLCOD. Due to the new direction taken
by Deep in 2022 as explained above, the Group has used
FVLCOD to determine the recoverable amount of IP (Deep
Longevity) for the year ended 31 December 2022, whereas
the value in use basis was used in the previous year. This
is because under HKAS 36, the value in use method can
only be used to assess the IP in its current state and no
future enhancements/improvements can be factored into
the valuation. However, under Deep it is expected that DLLs
IP will be continuously modified, updated, enhanced and
improved to cope with a very challenging and fast-changing
sector in which DLL operates. The core underlying Ageing
Clock software patents which were acquired as part of the
DLI acquisition in December 2020, although since enhanced
and modified, are present in all the products offered by DLL
both currently and projected into the future. As IP (Deep
Longevity) does not of itself generate standalone cash flows,
for the purposes of the FVLCOD determination, the CGU for
this purpose was DLI as a whole.

13.

MR

BEEE @

HN3% ZE#E (Deep Longevity) (@)
MRIEZZHFMNAB > DLLME—UITE
#8%Deepankar (Deep) NayakAH#EEBIAQ
Bl A RTEE  EELIKR > DeepfdDLLEIA
TRAEA FIMREFNBEEEBCK
Young AURENFERRER X MEHE T
X B2BeEE > I BN E R EL MRS > Bl
HEEPPABEZICEE SenoClock® & E
MindAge®ZE fhfYSaaSOF & ©

DLLEHWEU R—BREHE 81F
rEE-FAt  EECREBEEBEHE
BUSE36SR /B E BB HHAHMERE (Deep
Longevity) #EITRIET G UEE A E
# (Deep Longevity) BBl EEE =
MREREE -

RIEEBGTERFE365E > Al Bl £
EeREREBERAABERMDLER
KoHRUW EXFriiDeep R ZEZZ
FEREINF AR ~EBEERRAAE
BERLENAUEBEBRE_T__F
+TZA=+—BLEFEMBEE (Deep
Longevity) BYPJ UK [El& %8 > Mk R
FREBEFAEE - WLHHNEBEGS
ZRIEIGRIEBET  EREEEEEARN
S E AR ST N ROR B E A o A BErS
KR E RFET A E o SR > Deep
HADLLA AN B E R FRER S E B &
WA R EOE ) UFEHDLLFTEE APk E

MREZEREBENTE- AR _FF

F+"HADLIKEN—E D > FriiE %
DIERAECRERG FF (BELBRA
RAER) > 1 BRI RFERAIM R R FER
DLLAFIREBIFR B E fa o RS AN 8 A=
(Deep Longevity) 55 it & & 4 B8 IRV
RERB REELAABEREERAE
PMUETMS  REEF B ADLIERE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTINUED)

IP (Deep Longevity) (Continued)

The Group engaged professional independent valuer
Armanino to help determine the FVLCOD of IP (Deep
Longevity], which was determined using the discounted
cash flow method based on a ten year forecast prepared by
management. The key assumptions underlying the valuation
was a post-tax discount rate of 55% (which was based
on venture capital rates of return used for new start-ups
and early stage growth companies) and a terminal growth
rate of 4% based on the consideration of both inflationary
and overall economic growth factors taking into condition
that the Company cannot outpace total economic growth
into perpetuity. The forecast also assumed a dedicated
information technology (IT) R&D team would be present
throughout the forecast period because as explained above,
it is expected the underlying software developed by DLL
will be continuously updated, enhanced and improved. As a
result of this exercise, the recoverable amount of IP (Deep
Longevity] was determined to be greater than its carrying
value and accordingly the Group concluded no impairment
provision was necessary at 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
determined there was no impairment loss on IP (Deep
Longevity] as its recoverable amount exceeded its carrying
value. The recoverable amount was determined using
the value in use method (as explained above) using the
discounted cash flow method. Armanino were engaged
to help determine the value in use. Key assumptions
underlying the valuation were a pre-tax discount rate of 65%
(equivalent to a post-tax discount rate of 48%) and useful
life of IP of 7 years.

At the end of each reporting period, the management
believes that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of
the above key assumptions would not cause the carrying
amounts of the CGUs to exceed the recoverable amounts of
the respective CGUs.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

13.

BIEE®
HN3% E#E (Deep Longevity) (@)

AEBBCEZEFEEBEIEERMArmanino
EEETEFMER (Deep Longevity) BY
NABEREERDS  HEAREER
EBHRENTFRAEAMIRBESREE
T o ST P RIE BB SR (RER T555% B9 R
BARIRE (LB ER ARV A B & FH
MEHEATNREBE AR FHRE) Ki%HY
REEBRE WHERHBEERERE
BREESERZNTE  TEEIEAA
Bl R RE KR BB AR I & o FEAITRE
RAERERUAHEE —EZEFMNEFAR
FEEPB - RaM R FEEDLLET
EIERAE A T ER BT N IR R DU ©
ERER MM ERE (Deep Longevity)
He el EEEAE RN EREE
AR EERAEENR S - _F+_A
=+—BEHBEREE-

HE_Z-_—F+°“HA=+—HILEF
> BN Z# (Deep Longevity) B9A]
WElcEBEEREE AEEETH
W R EEIE e R ElE2E KA FE R
BIRRESREEZNEREEE W EXFR
i) EEE o ArmaninoBERENEBET
ERBE - HEMKRIENEERRT65%
M ATAEIRE (R 48%HI R & G IR =)
RTFERNAHERERFR-

REHREMR > EERBRE > LA ERR
BRINEMNEJRREHHIETE
RREELTEUNKRAEBERETE
EEBURFTIREIEER



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

14. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  14. BARABEFARMZERAZ

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ERMEE
2022 2021
bt - 5 ==
USs$'000 US$'000
Fx=r T=7T
Unlisted equity securities JE LR AE S - -
Movements in FAFVOCI are summarised as follows: BRAnBESIAHEMEZARAZEME
ESEPFMMT
2022 2021
S B —fF
Us$’000 US$000
F=r F=7T
At 1 January n—HA—H - -
Fair value change recognised in other FPHEMZERARERZ
comprehensive income R EEEE - 166
Disposal HE - (166)
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H - -
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group sold BE_Z_—F+°-B=+—HLHF
its equity interest in one of its listed securities with a FV B> REBUREREL166,000ETH
of approximately US$166,000 for a cash consideration of EHR—ELtHHESHNRE HARE
approximately US$166,000, as the Directors considered BHI 21660000 RRAEEE EiE
to continue focusing on investing in operating businesses BEINKRERTEYREEREEN
that had a potential to generate near term cashflow in EXERRERENCEES it
the Biopharma sector and accordingly, disposed of this EZIRE - RETEEA41,000E= TR EAM
investment. The cumulative losses of approximately SHEIWATES  LERERsTEHE

US$41,000 was recognised under other comprehensive
income, which was transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 15. EBRHEHRIEARBEREZE

PROFIT OR LOSS A =
2022 2021
ZEITHF —E=—
USs$'000 US$'000
Fx=r FE7T
Held for trading - overseas HIFEE -85
Listed equities, at fair value ImgE BAREE 1,078 10,495
Unlisted club debenture, at fair value JE_ETEFFES >

BAnER 19 19

1,097 10,514
Movements in FAFVPL are as follows: ZEiEmRRANBERIECSMEE

2EUT :
2022 2021
—EHF —F—

US$'000 Us$'000

Fx=r FE7T

As at 1 January »—A—H 10,514 2,509

Additions NE 1,626 300

Disposals HE (10,490) (1,034)

Change in fair value (note 4) RABEEES (ists) (353) 8,739

As at 31 December R+ZR=+—H 1,097 10,514
The FV of listed equity investments was based on last IR AKEZ A ABEENRSHEH
quoted market prices at the reporting date. The FV of PR ETmGE -FLTEMRESZA

unlisted club debenture was determined by reference to the AEBESEZREHMANCHAHEETE -

recent market price at the reporting date.
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15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (conTINUED)

16.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

Particulars of the Group’s principal investment in listed

equities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

15.

BRRmREARBEEEZE

MREE®

AEBR-EFRK
B=T—HRETESFZTEREZ

—=—

e

4=

BWT
Issued and Carryingvalue  Carrying value
Country of fully paid share Percentage of equity interest  at 31 December  at 31 December
Name of company incorporation  capital attributable to the Company 2022 2021
RIBZZE RIZT-F
BERTR +-A=+—-H +ZA=t+-H
YNGESL: AMRIER SERE FABREGRAEEE DL ZIRmEfE ZKEE
2022 2021
“B--f CZ”-F
DVP Australia 164,930,420 0.30% 267%  US$1,075,000  US$10,490,000
ordinary
shares
DVP Dl 164,930,4208% 0.30% 2.67%  1,075,000%7c  10,490,000% 7T
BBk
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 16. REKRIRITLHEER
2022 2021
ZEICHF TR —F
Us$’000 Us$'000
Fx7x FET
Cash and balances with banks RE MIBITHEER 181 603
Money at call and short notice yE TR R HRTE R 160 10
341 613
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. FEWE SRR

2022 2021

—T_—fF T —fF

us$'000 US$'000

FErx TFE7T

Trade receivables FEUN B 2 AR 13 -

Less: Impairment loss allowance AR EEEE A - -

13 -
The Group applies credit policies appropriate to the FEBHHBFEEBBERAHEAEEN
particular business circumstances concerned generally FEEHRR —mREARZERFALE-_+E
requires outstanding amounts to be paid within 20 to 30 =tHCEZI—F:“+E=1+THRAX

days (2021: 20 to 30 days) of invoice. IREEMRIE

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of R-ZBE-__ER-_F-—+2H8
trade receivables, based on invoice dates, was as follows: =+—H EWEZERF ZHEZEEZEHE

S8 BRE DI :

2022 2021
—g-— —m——
US$'000 Us$'000
Fx=r T=7T
Within 1 month i (EVERN 13 -
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of R_B__FR-B_—F+°ZHA
trade receivables which are past due but not impaired is as =+t—HB BAaERRENEWES
follows: SRAEREC DT ¢
2022 2021
us$'000 US$'000
T TE7T
Not past due FRIE1HR 13 -
The Group recognises impairment loss based on the NEBEBREMEES.9 (i) PR EHBUER
accounting policy as set in note 3.9(ii). FER R ERE
The Group does not hold any collateral over trade A EE B MR R UL B 2 AR RFF A IR

receivables. o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18. FA(IRIA RS R H M EWKRIA

RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
k-t 2 T
USs$'000 US$'000
FErx FE7T
Prepayments, deposits and other FETFRIE ~ & R H A FEUL
receivables FIE 861 461

The FV of deposits and other receivables approximates their
respective carrying amounts at the reporting date.

BEhHEMBERBRZ ARBEDHH
EfNES HARNREEES -

The balance outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
were neither past due nor impaired.

BE_ZE__ K- FE-_—F+"H
=+—H REEHEEREE KA
Bo

19. TRADE PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED, 19. FE{IE SR Bh%E « TR
ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES TR HEfhRERIE
2022 2021
ket -
US$°000 US$°000
FE TFE7T
Trade payables FEAT 8 Z RN 75 216
Deposits received, accruals and other ~ BUYI%E « FESTAR U Efth
payables* AN 4,529 4,280
4,604 4,496
* Other payables included accrued interests on shareholder’s * HMENFIEBEGCallowayRIBREE R

loans from Galloway of US$1,417,000 (2021: US$856,000) FEEFI BN 417,000E T (B - —F ©

856,0003% 7T)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of
the trade payables, based on invoice dates, was as follows:

R_F__FR_F_—5+_A
=1 —B RS RN (LR B
) BB AT

2022 2021

—EZF TR —F

US$’000 Us$'000

FE7T FE=7T

Within 1 month or on demand R—{EB R EE K 43 209
After 1 month but within 3 months R—EBEBENR=EEXN 2 =
After 3 months but within 6 months R=EBEBENRMERXN 30 7
75 216

The FV of trade payables, deposits received, accruals and
other payables approximates their respective carrying
amounts at the reporting date.

B E RN Bl E Bt ERMAH
MEMARBEZ AABERAAEZSBNRKRS
HEZ BREIERE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

20. SHARE CAPITAL 20. fR7s
Number of
ordinary
shares of Number of Total
US$0.01 unclassified number Total
each Us$'000 shares* Us$'000 of shares Us$'000
SRER
0.01%7TZ *NE
LERHA FER O EN FER fRip4AE gt
Authorised: EE .
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—ER
and 2022 _E_"F+°R
=1+-A 14,300,000,000 143,000 55,000,000 550 14,355,000,000 143550
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At 1 January 2021, RZBZ-%-B—-B:
31 December 2021 and Z--F
1 January 2022 +ZA=t-Hk
“ECTE-B-H 2399421215 23994 - - 2399421215 23994
Issue of shares under share  1RIEIR{N BN 1TIRAD
awards [note (al) (M¥5E(a) 926,666 10 - - 926,666 10
At 31 Decemnber 2022 WIEZZ#%+ZH
=1+-H 2,400,347 881 24,004 - - 2400347881 24,004

(a)

(b)

(c]

(d)

These are unclassified shares of US$0.01 each, which may
be issued as ordinary shares or as non-voting convertible
deferred shares of US$0.01 each.

On 14 July 2022, the Company issued and allotted 926,666
shares for the share award granted to Dr. Eric Verdin, MD
and Dr. Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD under the then general
mandate pursuant to the relevant consulting agreements.
Further details are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 14 July 2021 and 26 July 2021 and note 35(2) to the
financial statements. Save as disclosed above, during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022,
there were no changes in the authorised share capital and
issued share capital of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the total issued ordinary share
capital of the Company consisted of 2,400,347,881 shares
(2021: 2,399,421,215 shares).

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at the date
of this report, no shares were repurchased by the Company.

On 12 January 2023, the Company issued and allotted
2,166,571,194 new Shares under the Rights Issue.
Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at
the date of this report, the total issued ordinary share capital
of the Company consisted of 4,566,919,075 Shares. Save as
disclosed above, no new Shares were issued and allotted by
the Company.

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT

BREMEETZRDERD  FIET
HEBREBEIVETZEERIERE
TEBJHARIESE AR 1

RIZZ_FtB+WA > ARFRE
EREE R ER—RIZETLAErc
Verdinf@+ > MD&Vadim N. Gladyshev
Bt PhOR AR BB 1T R AL &
926,666 B < EE—FFBENARE
HBA-E_—FtRA+MOAKZZE
——FtAZHRHZAMURMBR
RITEEIE (2) PR EXFRIBEE SN 1Y
BE_Z-_—&#+-B=+—AR_-F
T THE+ZRA=+—HLEFE ARH
HEER AR BEITRARES -

WZEZ__E#+ZBA=+—H =K
NBEBHTZERREIEBESE
2,400,347,881RBMH (ZE = —4F:
2,399,421,2158% B&15) °

BE_E-__#+°-_A=+—RHLtEE
B AIRE HEE AR TG EEEIIR D o

RIEZ=F—RB+IH > ARaRE
R 3E1T R AL 322,166,571, 1943 IR 15 o
REE_ZE-__F+-_B=+—HIHF
ERERABREAH AR B TE
BIRRRAS4BEE 61 4E4,566,919,07508 B2 1% ©
bR EXXFTIRE RN AT EEITR
BRI o



21. RESERVES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. f#fE

MR

Convertible Share- Foreign
notes  Investment based Capital Statutory currency
Accumulated Share equity revaluation payment  redemption and other exchange
Group losses premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve Total
LRt
TRREE  REEf  AERW && tEk  MHER
5£@ FiBRE  ROEE  EGEE fe fREE EERE  HbEe L1 szt
US§000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§000 US§000 US§000 US$000 US$000
F£7 F£7 57 57 57 57 £7 F£7 SEI
At31 December 2020 as previously reported RIBZEE+"AZ+-H
(nEaf2H) (276818) 292,081 1092 (1,707 % 8228 15 316 2631
Reallocation® EOE! (2265) 2265 -
Restated balance at 1 January 2021 RIBC-F-P-ONERSE o 3 1" (1707 % 88 205 W %3N
Foreign currency translation adjustment SMengEE 38 38
Change n fa value of financial assets at fairvalue AL BEF AR MRENANER
through other comprehensive income [note 14) BEZALBELE (H514) 166 - 166
Transfer of cumulative loss on disposal of BRUERNABEIARMEEMA
equity investment at fair value through other ZIRARE 25t ()
comprehensive income [note 14] (1) i - - - -
Share options lapsed BREEN 6 (6] =
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions ~ LUEREENRMAHRRS (55(1)
(note 35(1) 519 = 519
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions to ~ FERRE N BREENRN AER
consultants note 35(2) fimss (H3s0) 9 - - 9
Loss for the year EREAE (125%) [1259%)
At 31 December 2021 RIE--£+ZF=1-H (291,716 24326 1092 (1,500 617 8228 215 313 14775
Foreign currency translation adjustment SNBBERR % B
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions ~ LUEREENRAHRRS (H5s(1)
(note 35(1) 20 = 20
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions to BRIV BREENRNAER
consultants [note 35(2]) 7R (EH(2) - 0 - - il
New Shares issuied for share awards BLGECEGEL ) 5 5 (20 S S [10)
Share options lapsed BREEN 13 - (113) -
Repayment of convertible notes (note 24) BRTAREE () 1092 (1,092 =
Loss for the year ERBE (38.427) - - [36.427)
At 31 December 2022 RIEZIE+IAZ+-H (326,933) 294331 o (1,5000 Tk 8,228 215 3,538 [21,40)
# #

Reallocation arising from error in calculation of profit on

disposal of subsidiaries in prior period [(occurred before
1997). Goodwill relating to these subsidiaries, which was
offset against share premium at the time, was not included
in calculation of gain on disposal of these subsidiaries in
error resulting in an overstatement of gain on disposal
of subsidiaries and understatement of share premium of

US$2,265,000.

SAERBERE CANEERIES B
EWBABMNENMNEREENERRD
E-BRZEMBRARNEE HWHER
BRI B E) WARF ARG BREZS
MEARNKG ERNEAHEWBR
B Ui Ae DR B A9 8 /852,265,00055 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

21. RESERVES (conTiNuED)

21. #E @

Convertible Share- Foreign
notes  Investment based Capital Statutory currency
Accumulated Share equity revaluation payment  redemption and other exchange
Company (Note 38) losses premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Teserves reserve Total
LRt
ThRRE  REER  AERN Bx EER  SHHESR
FAT () FiMER O RMEE  RGHE fe fREE EERE  HbEe e st
US§000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§000 US§000 US§000 US$000 US$000
F£7 F£7 57 57 57 57 £7 F£7 FER
At 1 January 2021 RIZZ-5-A-H (278 343) 294328 1092 (1,707 % 8228 kil 1 AWK
Change n fai value of financial assets at fairvalue ~ HAAEEF AR MRERANER
through other comprehensive income (note 14) BEZAnEEES (H21) 166 166
Transfer of cumulative loss on disposal of ERHERARBET AEM2ENA
equily investment at fair value through other 2R 258 (i)
comprehensive income [note 1] (&) 4 - - - -
Share options lapsed ERERN 6 (6] S S
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions ~ LUEREENRAHRRS (H55(1)
(note 35(1) 519 519
Fouity-settled share-based payment transactions o~ BRI E M EREE MR AER Y
consultants note 35(2) ERGIGER) 9 - - §
Loss for the year EREE (10417) - (10817
At 31 December 2021 RZB--£+ZF=1-A (288 995 24326 1092 (1,500 617 8228 kil 1 13808
New shares issued for share awards BL OB EGEL ) 5 5 20 S S [10)
Share options lapsed BREEN 113 (113) =
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions ~ LUEREENRMAHFRIS (H55(1)
(note 35(1) 20 - 20
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions to BRIV BREENRN AER
consultants note 35(2) RERGIGES) - - il - - 0
Repayment of convertible notes (note 24) BETRRER (3t 1092 (109 S S =
Loss for the year EREE (37,646) (37.646)
At 31 December 2022 RIZ-ZF+ZR=1-H (325,431) 296,331 - (1,500] Tk 8,228 ki 1 (23,618)
The following describes the nature and purpose of each TXHRPEREETASER#EBE I MER
reserve within shareholders’ equity: BHY:
(a) Accumulated losses (a) EsthsiE
This represents cumulative net gains and losses REtEBEEN BT AR 2 Rt it
recognised in profit or loss. RS IRPRE
(b) Share premium (b) RRIRHE

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received

over the nominal value of the shares of the Company

issued at a premium, less the amount of expenses

incurred in connection with the issue of the shares.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. RESERVES (conTiNuED)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h]

Convertible notes equity reserve

The convertible notes equity reserve comprises the
carrying value of equity component of unconverted
Convertible Notes issued by the Company which are
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for Convertible Notes as disclosed in note
3.9(iv).

Investment revaluation reserve

This represents accumulated gains and losses arising
on the revaluation of FAFVOCI.

Share-based payment reserve

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting
of share options and share awards over the vesting
period.

Capital redemption reserve

This represents the repurchase of shares of the
Company listed on the HK Stock Exchange. These
repurchased shares were cancelled upon repurchase
and, accordingly, the nominal value of the cancelled
shares was credited to capital redemption reserve and
the aggregate consideration paid was debited to the
accumulated losses and share premium accounts.

Statutory and other reserves

This represents statutory reserve of approximately
US$176,000 (2021: approximately US$176,000) and
other reserve of approximately US$39,000 (2021:
approximately US$39,000) as at 31 December 2022.
An interest-free one year US$800,000 loan from
a Shareholder was measured at FV on inception
resulting in a deemed capital contribution of
US$39,000 which was credited to the other reserve
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Company in
the PRC are required to maintain a statutory reserve
which is non-distributable. Transfer to this reserve is
made out of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries’
PRC statutory financial statements which are prepared
in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the PRC.

Foreign currency exchange reserve

This represents gains/losses arising on retranslating
the net assets of foreign operations into presentation
currency.

MR

21. f#FE @

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g9)

(h)

QEES T4y

Pl AR SRR R ot e £ B FE AR IR PAY 5
3.9 (iv) A EZ PR BHEHRAZ
SRS ZAARREITZ
RERPI R EER A ) ZIRE
Be

RESEMFHAE

REEHREBEELGRANEES
AHMEEBAZERMEEZ R
Wy ot K &5 48 o

KRR R BREB IR B

2 BRI B P9 (R 3%t BB AR 1 R AR 1 2%
Ehm SRR Rt Fs< o

B A< EE [l 1

BRRAASEETBMXMETZ
BRAD o % F BB AR 10 11 1S B8 [0l By 5
o RN EETRMBRE
AR BR[Ol s > T 2B ER
WREHEE KRR B ERPOMR-

EEREMHRE

AEREMBEBEER_Z -
FE+_"_B=+—HZEEREBE
#9176 000ET(ZEZ_—F 1 &
176,000 70) K H A4 4939,000
FETT(TEZ—HF 1 4939,000FE7T) ©
BE_S—-HAEFE+-A=+—AH1L
FE At E—FH 800,000 7T
BEEANHIBERAAEE
e B ESRETESR9.000ET
(Bt AHfhEEE) ©

BEBEPEARZERAERZRE
FABETURPREZEBATR
REZERME TR AR DIk %
RRERGEERBENBARDRETEL
BEFARAUBRZFEEEMBHR
wZFFME I o

SMESEER (R
INEERREIERBINERFEE
MEREIEREEZWE B

Ho
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

22. BANK BORROWINGS 22. R{TEH

In May 2020, the Group’s wholly-owned UK based subsidiary
borrowed bank borrowings through the Bounce Back
Loan Scheme launched by the Government of the UK,
which was designed to support small and medium-sized
businesses affected by COVID-19. The Government of the
UK guarantees 100% of the bank borrowings. There is no
repayments and interest charges in the first twelve months
of the bank borrowings. The bank borrowings, which is
denominated in GBP, is unsecured, interest bearing at 2.5%
per annum for the following five years and repayable in May
2026.

The amounts payable based on the maturity terms of the
bank loan is analysed as follows:

RIEZEFHRA  AEBMUNEEMN
TENBLAEBAREBNELPEE
#EFstE (Bounce Back Loan Scheme)
BEARITENR TR EELFZ2019H
BEARmE R ZH AN B b2 o T
AZEETIRMI00%MWER - ETETH
BEHZEARN AFREEARIZMAH -
ZEDRBEABMUNIRTERILEIE
O EREAFRFER25%E WAR
TECRERBERE

RIBFRITERN B HAPR B RIB D AR
LI

2022 2021
k- 2 5
Us$’000 Us$000
FET FE7T
Within one year —FRN 8 9
More than one year, but not exceeding R —FERBBME
two years 8 9
More than two years, but not exceeding ZHRMEBFBARE
five years 10 20
Balance at 31 December R+ZBE=+—HZ &8 26 38
Less: Amount due within one year B RBAaBE TTEN—F
shown under current liabilities NEHE %8 (8) (9)
Amount shown under non-current JERHBBEE NERNEEE
liabilities 18 29

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT
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=
B 5 ER R MfIEE
23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. fHEA&R
2022 2021
ZEIZHE B
us$'000 US$'000
FE7r Tt
Current liabilities mENEE 302 483
Non-current liabilities FERBERE S 301
302 784
Minimum
lease
Present value Interest payments
RE S REHEERE

us$'000 us$'o00 us$'000
FE7 FE7 FE7r

At 31 December 2022 N_E__F+_H

=+—H

Within one year —FR 302 6 308
Minimum
lease
Present value Interest payments
US$'000 US$°000 US$ 000
FE7 Fx=7 FE7

At 31 December 2021 A B —F+_"4

=+—H
Within one year —FR 483 39 522
After one year but within —FREMFEA

two years 301 6 307
784 45 829
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

23.

24,

LEASE LIABILITIES (conTinuED)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total cash
payments for the Group’s lease arrangements amounted
to approximately US$520,000 (2021: approximately
US$523,000), which comprised repayment of principal
and interest elements of lease payments of approximately
US$481,000 (2021: approximately US$451,000) and
approximately US$39,000 (2021: approximately US$72,000)
respectively.

Interest expenses on lease liabilities of approximately
US$39,000 (2021: approximately US$72,000) has been
recognised in finance costs during the year ended 31
December 2022 (note 8).

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

(a] As detailed in the announcement and circular issued
by the Company on 29 May 2019 and 11 July 2019
respectively, the announcement issued on 23 August
2019 on the updates and this note 24, on 23 August
2019, the Company issued and allotted the Convertible
Notes, pursuant to two conditional subscription
agreements entered into by the Company on 29 May
2019 with various subscribers (including certain
Directors) (the “Subscription Agreement(s)”).

On 28 December 2020, two noteholders converted
the Convertible Notes with a principal amount of
US$3,800,000 into 139,482,353 ordinary shares of the
Company at a conversion price of HK$0.2125 per share
with the carrying amount of the liability and equity
components of the Convertible Notes of approximately
US$2,778,000 and US$1,565,000 respectively at the
date of conversion.

During the current year at maturity date of the
Convertible Notes on 23 August 2022, all the
remaining outstanding Convertible Notes were fully
repaid by cash on that date. Details of the Subscription
Agreements and the principal terms of the Convertible
Notes are set out in the circular issued by the
Company on 11 July 2019.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

23.

24,

HEAaE @

HE_ZT_—_F+ZHA=+—HILEF
ErA&EEEE %EHFEGEE%HTJM@%E%
#520,000% 7t (ZZ Z—4 | 49523,000
Em)  HEPREED Eu E3E49481,000%
7T (ZTZEZ—4  #9451,000%=7T) R&
39,000&T (ZEZ— ﬁ£ : 2’372,0005‘57_5)
WEENRAE RS

BE_ZE__F+°-HB=+—HIHF
B oAEaEZMEZHEA39,000E T
(CB-—4%F 472,000 7T) BRRE
R ASHERR (MIEES) o

A e R

(@) BUWERBPARZE—NERR
“t+hBERZE-AFtA+—H
FENAMRER s —T—NEN
BZ+=HTIENEREMN LM
R K sE24 P8 R ZE— N4
NBZ+=B > RBREBEARANZE
—NFREAZ+NBHEZZREA
(BEAETESR) STUNMMDER
R ERE (RBIHE) A28
BT R AT HR E -

W_EZEF+ZBEZ+N\H"
MEEBERFEARELEEES
3,800,000 T B A A fR 4R 4%
FRO2125B TN BREERS
139,482,353 ARNE)EER > R8T
BHB TR EENaENER

B2 BREEXE D R1%9732,778,000
37T % 1,565,0005E 7T ©

REFEE sJRREBEZIHAS
“ECFENRBZ+=H FIAERK
T*ﬁ@?#%EFHFEE%%
URESEE - BBHRZFBERA
ﬁ%%%ziyﬁﬂEﬁ%$@E
R_E—-NAFtRA+—HTEZE

BRI ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (conTinuED)

(b)

As at 31 December 2021, the maximum number of
conversion shares to be issued and allotted upon
full conversion of the Convertible Notes [assuming
that all Convertible Notes were converted on the
maturity date and that any and all interest that would
accrue was capitalised for the remaining period
from 1 January 2022 to 23 August 2022] remained/
remains at 99,786,335 conversion shares, representing
approximately 4.16% of the then/existing issued share
capital of the Company and approximately 3.99% of the
enlarged issued share capital of the Company after the
issue and allotment of the said maximum number of
conversion shares.

The FV of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were determined at the
issuance of the Convertible Notes based on the
valuation conducted by Grant Sherman on the
Convertible Notes as at 23 August 2019. The FV of the
liability component, included in financial liabilities,
was calculated using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-Convertible Notes. The residual
amount, represented the value of the equity conversion
component, is included in equity as Convertible Notes
equity reserve. The redemption option of the Company
is not separated from the host debt because its
economic characteristics and risks are closely related
to those of the host debt and accordingly, is included in
the liability component of the Convertible Notes.

MR

24, TR ERE

W_EB_—F+_A=+—H'1
O E R ERHEREB R T
REZEZHBERERNMESHE (BR
FrE AR IREH NI A SR
BR-_E-_—_F—B—HE_Z
TTENBZ+=HZHTHEZ
FRRFBESF EHETER)
5,/ #EFEH99,786,335 % 1 IR A&
B REREAATER BEDER
TTIRAAT4 6% Fe 7R 8517 R i 2%
FlEEHEZRRRDEBEAT
RIBABEITIRAL3.99%

BEMOMETERIED 2 ANE
BEIRRERER _2—NF/N\A
=B BRRERETZAE
RETUHMREBRET -8B
DZzAnBE GASFRBERE
B DHEARFEFTBRREE S
BHEREE R (FRaE R
DZEBE) B ARDIERTHREK
RREEDEHER A RBZEEIEE
BRI ELETEE B RESHE
EREkRERRZEEEHRENE
B EUIEEF AR MRERZ 8F

B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

24. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (conTinuED)

The Convertible Notes recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position is calculated as follows:

24, IR ERE @

RN GEHBRRRAZARERR
ZEEWT

2022 2021
ket T
US$'000 US$'000
FErx TFE7T
Equity conversion component: R EAER 7
At 1 January n—A—H 1,092 1,092
Reclassified to accumulated losses on  BEFEMNDIEERTER
repayment (1,092) -
At 31 December n+-A=+—H - 1,092
Liability component: = Ri=§:155 g
At 1 January »—A—H 2,338 1,947
Implicit interest expense FRERZEIT B
recognised for the year (note 8} (PF5E8) 381 497
Interest payable FETF] R (69) (106)
Repayment &g (2,650) =
At 31 December R+-B=+—H = 2,338
Categories as: RS THER
Current liabilities mEmaE N 2,338

The interest expense on the Convertible Notes is calculated
using the effective interest method by applying the effective
interest rate of 25.16% (2021: 25.16%) per annum to the
liability component.

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. SHAREHOLDER’S LOANS

MR

25. lRERE™

2022 2021

k-t 2 T

US$'000 US$'000

FErx TFE7T

Loans from Galloway (unsecured) K BGallowayz Bt (EIEH) 13,402 10,850
Shareholder’s loans are repayable as ~ IRERERHVERHUT :

follows:

Within one year —FR 13,402 3,597
More than one year but not exceeding ~—HF L _EERBBME
two years - 7,253
13,402 10,850
The movements in shareholder’s loans during the year are RERERFERNESHIEHWT -
set out below:
2022 2021
Note US$'000 USs$'000
b+ FEx TE7T
At 1 January »—B—Hd 10,850 10,807
Loan advanced from shareholder F&ERZTE (i) 2,520 -
Imputed interest expenses on FEtERREMRZESR

interest-free shareholder’s loan #2585 (FI5E8)

(note 8) 32 43
Interest expense (note 8 M B (f15E8) 561 508
Interest payable* FETFI 2> (561) (508)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 13,402 10,850
* included in other payables * St A AR E B
Notes: Miz:

(i)

(ii)

The loan borrowed from Galloway in 2022 amounting to
US$2,520,000 was unsecured, interest bearing at 5.50% per
annum and repayable on 18 February 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the effective
interest rates of the loans were in the range of 5.000% to
6.457% (2021: 5.000% to 6.457%) per annum.

Subsequent to the year end, the shareholder’s loans were
fully offset by issuing new Shares to Galloway under the
Rights Issue on 12 January 2023. Further details are set out
in note 39.

— T~ —F R HGalloway 2,520,0003 7T
ZEMBEIRT B EN 5 50%E 8
BR-_ZE_=F"_RA+/N\RBEE-

BHE_ S _F#+-_A=+—HLtHE
B BERZEBREMNENFL5.000%E
6.457% (Z B _—% 1 5.000%F6.457%) °

REXRE RREFRBER T _=F—

A+ZAREHRKRAGCallowayH# THT IR
DR BRIEE o E— D HBHICIIFEIY
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26.

Deferred taxation is calculated on temporary differences
under liability method using the rates of taxation prevailing
in the countries in which the Group’s subsidiaries operate.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities

EERIFRR

SRR IE T 5 3 A S B A B BB R
ERRBIREREMAREBESE
st

UTRREFEREFERIBZEIEE

recognised and movements thereon during the current and EMEBEEEREEH !
prior years:

Fair value adjustments on
recognition of intangible asset
arising from the acquisition of

subsidiaries:
R B ABIFREEZ
BREEZANBERAE !
2022 2021
—B_CF B —fF
US$°000 US$°000
T FE7T
At 1 January w—B—H 4,954 7.345
Credit in respect of amortisation of MM E E 2 HiH 2 K2 ()
intangible assets i) (4,722) (2,391)
Effect of change in tax rates (note 9) MESHHZE (WH:E9) 5,155 -
Debit/(Credit) to profit or loss BEmNE Gt AR 433 (2,391)
At 31 December W+-_B=+—H 5,387 4,954

() The amount credited to profit or loss relates to
the amortisation of intangible assets of the patent
(Fortacin™) and the IP (Deep Longevity) for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group [excluding Plethora and its subsidiaries] has
operated a defined contribution staff retirement scheme
in Hong Kong which has complied with all the respective
requirements of the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance ("ORSQ") since April 1991. On 1 December 2000,
the above scheme was terminated and transferred to a new
mandatory provident fund scheme [the "MPF Scheme”)
which complies with all the respective requirements
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance (the
"MPF Ordinance”). All assets under the schemes are
held separately from the Group under independently
administered funds. The MPF Scheme has two plans. Plan
A is available to those employees who were transferred
from the ORSO scheme and contributions are based on
a specific percentage of the basic salary of the eligible
employees. Plan B is available to all other employees
in Hong Kong and contributions follow the minimum
requirements of the MPF Ordinance.

Contributions are expensed as incurred and may be
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees
under Plan A who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group’s contributions [excluding Plethora) were
approximately US$21,000 (2021: approximately US$24,000)
(note 7). There were no forfeited contributions during the
year (2021: nil).

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the UK, pensions
to certain employees are provided through contributions to
individual personal pension plans. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the UK subsidiaries
pay fixed contributions into an independent entity. The UK
subsidiaries have no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

The contributions recognised in respect of personal pension
plans are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities and assets
may be recognised if underpayment or prepayment has
occurred and are included in current liabilities or current
assets as they are normally of a short-term nature. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, Plethora’s contributions
were approximately US$12,000 (2021: approximately
US$13,000) (note 7).

217.

MR

BAENRE

B-—hAN—FOAE x&E (T8
Plethora R ENBAE) EEBREB T
BHMREERAE  ZSB DTSR
RS ERD) (TR RS BIRG)
ZFAEERBBRE ZtERN -T2 THF
+ZA—B#&L AR 2R
MATEEEE (TEREEE) - BB E5
R Emb It AT BIRE (T8
IR ZFAEBERRTE - ZtBIZPRA
EERAERZEENR HBIES
A -miEEstE oA mBEHMEE 5t
AR BB ERASHEIRAIET 25188
AZStBIZBEMR  HRMBEERRE
BZEAHEERBBEZA DL -518B
mATBERHMZ BB EEMR  HRUZ®
TR E R BIFTIR 2 RIEERME °

R REST AR WA SER T2
AZBEFAERESZIHAATRHZ
SRR HAMEN R - BHEZS
T IHE+ZB=+—HUIEFE K&EH
Z HFEE (R EEPlethora) £9721,000
ET (TET—5F 1 4924,000%7T) (B
7) cFANMMBP B IHER (TR —
F |-

AAEEERNRAZEZNBARMES >
METEREXNZRAESHEBBEA
BNEFEIHREEM - ERMREE R
—IHEAREFE BRI RENB AT M
BIUBRXTEEMHRR REMRELQT
P S A B RE (AR R I 5 57 ) 3 — D R
ZAERREES E

BRABARKESFE ZHARN AR
STARS  WELEBSM A BB
MtEREEREE TREBEBR
HEEmMstARBEENRTEE H
EIRIFF+ZRA=F+—HIEFE-
Plethoraft X 49%412,000% 7t (& - —
£ 1 13,000%7T) (MIzE7) ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ #

227



i

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (conTiNUED)

No forfeited contributions available for offset against
existing contributions during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: nil).

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has no material capital commitments as at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which
result from both its operating and investing activities. The
Group’s management closely monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner. The most significant financial risks to
which the Group is exposed to are described below:

Foreign currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the FV of future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need
arise.

The Group has exposure to currency risk as some of
its financial assets and liabilities are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the group
companies.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. MBRAREEEEREE @

AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Sh IS RS ()

DSNEESIEZ EMEBEERARRITHE
RrERET AT

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and
liabilities, translated into US$ at the closing rate, are as

follows:

At 31 December 2022 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
RZZE__#+”"RA=+—H FE7 FE7 FE7
GBP AUD CAD
HiE Rt s
Cash and bank balances REMIRITHEER 45 2 -
FAFVPL PEBERREANEE
BEZEHEE - 1,077 1
Trade receivables FEUS B 5 BRX 1 = =
Prepayments, deposits and other  FB{TFIB 2& R HMFE
receivables e N 26 - -
Accruals and other payables FESTER AU LM (T RUIA (136) S S
Bank borrowings RITHE (26) - -
Current net exposures BPERE R B (80) 1,079 1
At 31 December 2021 us$'000 Us$'000 us$'000
KRB —F+"A=+—H FEx FET FET
GBP AUD CAD
% BT mrc
Cash and bank balances REMBITHEER 120 4 =
FAFVPL PBEnREANERE
RIEZTHMEE - 10,493 2
Prepayments, deposits and other  FB{TFIE & K
receivables HhEWRIE 25 - -
Derivative financial instruments TESBMIA = 1,202 =
Accruals and other payables FESTER AU EL B 7R IB (396) - =
Bank borrowings RITIEE (38) - -
Current net exposures BER S = B (289) 11,699 2
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AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
reporting date to a reasonably possible change in the GBP,
AUD and CAD exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s net loss (due to changes in the FV
of monetary assets and liabilities).

i

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

ShEE RS ()

. BERREREERBE @

TRIRAEEBRFER RS AHE
FREHMRARFRFAZE R THRE
BT kMTEXRSEOEEE 2 BRE
(HNEREERBRZAREBESE

) ©

Increase/

(decrease) Increase/
in exchange (decrease)
rate in net profit
EXLH waRsg
(&) GRZL)
% US$'000
Bt F=r

At 31 December 2022 N ZEHF+"A=+—H
If US$ weaken against GBP METTHEEEE 5 5
If US$ strengthen against GBP i E T H BIEHE (5) (5)
If US$ weaken against AUD WETHBRTERE 5 54
If US$ strengthen against AUD fHETERITAE (5) (54)
If US$ weaken against CAD WETHMTEE 5 -
If US$ strengthen against CAD fHETTHMTHE (5) -

At 31 December 2021 N _E_—F+_"_F=+—H
If US$ weaken against GBP e ETTHEFEEE 5 13
If US$ strengthen against GBP il ETH REFFHE (5) (13)
If US$ weaken against AUD WETHRTEE 5 585
If US$ strengthen against AUD WETHRTHE (5) (585)
If US$ weaken against CAD HETHEMTEE 5 -
If US$ strengthen against CAD WETHMTHE (5) =

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, balances with

banks and investments in listed and unlisted securities.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures

to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

i)

(i)

(iii)

Balances with banks

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with cash deposits at banks as they
are substantially deposited at reputable banks.
Management does not expect that there will be any
significant losses from non-performance by these
counterparties.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The expected credit losses also
incorporate forward-looking information.

Deposits and other receivables

The Group makes periodic collective assessments as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability
of deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The Directors
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent
in the Group's outstanding balances of deposits and
other receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Investments in listed and unlisted securities

The Group's investments are normally only in liquid
securities quoted on a recognised stock exchange,
except where entered into for long-term strategic
purposes. Transactions involving derivative financial
instruments are with counterparties of sound
credit standing. Given their high credit standing,
management does not expect any investment
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and expected credit loss. The Group considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information and especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° internal credit rating;
° external credit rating;

J actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;

e actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on the debtor;
and

e significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the debtor, including changes in
the payment status of debtors in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Credit risk (Continued)
liv] Investments in listed and unlisted securities (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no
loss allowance provision recognised in profit or loss
(2021: nill. As at 31 December 2022, the loss allowance
provision is nil (2021: nil.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no trade
receivable and accordingly, there was no concentration
of credit risk on trade receivables.

The Group’s other receivables are actively monitored to
avoid significant concentrations of credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position after
deducting any impairment allowance, if any.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in note 17.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Liquidity risk

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the reporting date of the Group’'s non-

derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

30. HERGEEEEREER @

MENE & E

TRV AEBEZIFTESHEBENR
SRMBEESAOEIHE ZFEREE TS
BESORMRRSRE (BEEAEY
MERFEZAENAR hEEBRFAE

payments computed using contractual rates] and the HZtZ BEAfGE ¢
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or on but less but less After
At 31 December 2022 amounts cash flows demand  than2years  thanbyears 5years
CEES —EAg SR-F SRME
RZEZZ&+ZRA=1+-H REE RERELE REXE EIRWE  EORLE ik
US§'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FEn FEr FEn FER FET FEn
Trade payables R BRRN 75 75 7 - - -
Accruals and other payables SRR E IR 4529 4529 4529 - - -
Bank borrowings TS 2 21 8 8 11 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 302 308 308 - - -
Convertible Notes RRER - - - - - -
Shareholder’s loans EEN 13,402 14,819 14,819 - - -
18,334 19,758 19,739 8 (i -
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or on but less but less After
At 31 December 2021 amounts cash flows demand  than2years  thanbyears 5 years
alRER —ER5 SR-F SIRWE
RZB_-F+"A=+-H REE RoRELE RBXE BORWE  BOREE L%
US$ 000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000 US$ 000 US$000
TE7 T%7 T%7n TEn T%En T%7
Trade payables SRECEEA 216 26 216 = = =
Accruals and other payables st TR AN E 4,280 4,280 4280 = = =
Bank borrowings RITEE 38 41 10 9 2 =
Lease liabilities HEER 784 829 522 307 - -
Convertible Notes RRER 2338 2719 2719 - - -
Shareholder’s loans RREM 10,850 12,380 4,039 8,341 - -
18,506 20,465 11,786 8,657 2 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group finances its operations and investment activities
with internally generated cash flow, balanced with proceeds
from the issue of new shares where necessary.

The Group's policy is to monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and long-term. As disclosed in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company’s Directors
have taken steps to ensure the Group has sufficient liquidity
to meet its obligations. Based on these actions, the Group
believes it will have sufficient working capital and financial
resources to satisfy its future working capital for the
foreseeable future to continue as a going concern.

Interest rate risk

The Group has no long-term external borrowings which
bear floating interest rates. The Group's exposure to interest
rate risk relates primarily to its bank loan and shareholder’s
loans which are denominated in GBP and US$ respectively.
The interest rate and terms of repayments of bank
borrowings and shareholder’s loans are disclosed in notes
22 and 25, respectively. The Group did not use any financial
instruments to hedge potential fluctuations in interest rate.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rate,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
losses by approximately US$139,000 (2021: approximately
US$138,000). The general increase/decrease in interest rate
would have no significant impact on other components of
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Fair value estimation

The FV of the Group’s current financial assets and liabilities
are not materially different from their carrying amounts
because of the immediate or short-term maturity.

The FV measurement of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities utilised market observable inputs and data as far
as possible. Inputs used in determining FV measurement
are categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique (the
“Fair Value Hierarchy’) are:

S Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

- Level 2: observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level T inputs; and

- Level 3: unobservable inputs [i.e. not derived from
market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based
on the lowest level of inputs used that has a significant
effect on the FV measurement of the item. Transfers of
items between levels are recognised in the period they
occur.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The financial assets measured at FV in the consolidated
statement of financial position are grouped into the Fair
Value Hierarchy as follows:

30.

ARBEEMS @

MR

HERAMEEEEREE @

REEMBRARNERANBEFEZS
MEESPEELAABEERUT

At 31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RZEZZH&+ZHA=+—H F—BR FEBR BZEX et
Notes US$'000 US$'000 US$000 US$H000
KiaE FEr FEr FErx FErx
Financial assets RRAREEE
measured at FV ZEMEE
Unlisted club debenture JEETEMES (a) - 19 - 19
Listed equity investments tHRAKRE (b 1,078 - - 1,078
1,078 19 - 1,097
At 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AN B —F+”"A=1+—H F—BRX F_BRX FZEBX 1ast
Notes US$000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
ioE=3 FET FET FET FET
Financial assets BRAREEE
measured at FV ZEMEE
Unlisted club debenture JEETEMES (a) - 19 - 19
Listed equity investments tHRELE (b) 10,495 - - 10,495
Derivative financial instruments THEERTA (c) = = 1,202 1,202
10,495 19 1,202 11,716

There were no significant transfers among levels of the Fair
Value Hierarchy during the reporting period.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose
of measuring FV were unchanged compared to the previous
reporting periods.

REHRBE KAABEERZEILE

BEREBZ

Rt BAABEEENFAS N RGHER
BB 2 R R E -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a]

(b

(c]

Unlisted club debenture

The unlisted club debenture is denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The FV was determined by reference to
the recent market price at the reporting date and was
translated using the spot foreign currency rate at the
end of the reporting period where appropriate.

Listed equity investments

The listed equity securities are denominated in
Canadian and Australian dollars. FV were determined
by reference to the last quoted market prices at the
reporting date and were translated using the spot
foreign currency rates at the end of the reporting
period where appropriate.

Derivative financial instruments

The derivative financial instruments at 31 December
2021 are denominated in Australian dollars. As the
derivative financial instruments were not traded on
exchanges or liquid over-the-counter markets, the
FV was determined by reference to the market price
of equity shares to which the derivative financial
instruments were linked and valued using the Black-
Scholes Option Pricing Model. The value determined
was translated using the spot foreign currency rates at
31 December 2021.

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The movements in FV measurement within Level 3 during
the year are as follows:

FAFVOCI (unlisted equity investments)

30.

MR

HERAMEEEEREE @

DAREEMLE @
FREZBRAANBEFELHNT -

BRARBESAEtMEERAZEREE
GELTRERKRE)

2022 2021
ZEITHF —ET—F
USs$'000 Us$'000
FE51 FE7T
At 1 January m—HA—H - S
FV change recognised in other REMEER A2
comprehensive income RAEEES - 166
Disposal HE - (166)
At 31 December R+ZR=+—H - S
Derivative financial instruments TEEmIT A
2022 2021
US$'000 US$'000
FErx TFE7T
At 1 January »—A—H 1,202 =
Additions (day 1 gain included in FV gain 10 ((5—XAIUREET A
on financial instruments) M T ENANEERT) S 958
Transfer to FAFVPL (listed equity BEFHRADBES A
investments) HteEWAZ E/MEE
(EHRAERE) (1,202) -
FV change recognised in profit or loss ~ RIBmMER A NEEEE)
(included in FV gain on financial GtAZRIANRAAEE
instruments) W ) - 244
At 31 December n+ZRA=+—H - 1,202
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Price risk

The Group’s price risk exposure relates to financial assets
whose values will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or
foreign currency risk], which mainly include listed equity
classified as FAFVPL and derivative financial instruments
amounting to approximately US$1,078,000 (2021:
approximately US$10,495,000) and nil (2021: approximately
US$1,202,000) respectively.

The above investments are exposed to price risk because
of change in market price, whether changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its
issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments
traded in the market.

The Group's listed investments are primarily listed on
the stock exchanges of Australia and Canada. Listed
investments held in the portfolio have been chosen based
on their growth potential and are monitored regularly
for performance against expectations. The portfolio
is diversified in terms of industry distribution and in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.

At 31 December 2022, if equity prices had increased/
decreased by 20% and all other variables were held
constant, loss for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately US$215,000 (2021: approximately
US$2,339,000). The above analysis has been determined
assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the
stock market price or other relevant risk variables had
occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to the
exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date. The
stated changes represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables over the period until the
next annual reporting date.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

30. HERGEEEEREER @

B E R

rEERHCEREREEHEESR
B sMEEZEERTANSERE
(FEIERFERRNIERBEE S
gH) MES FTECESIBEABEER
REAAEEEEZSHEEN LR
AU iTEER T A#1,078,000% T (Z

—%F 1 £910,495,000%=70) KT (ZZ
——4 1 #91,202,000%7T) ©

TR ERTHERETMARERR
B EREHAEN TR T AT
AZBERZ IR EAETH LEEZ
FrEblEmITAEZERMES-

AEEZ FHREFETRNRMEKR
ZREZXGMB LM -REMHEGHZ L
MTEREBEEIERBEOYE I E 5
ERHEXRARTHERER -KEAS
iR AEBMREZ LR BITESD
HETZITIERE -

RZZE__F+ZRA=+—H > HKRE
J:ﬂ/—FE%ZO% ) ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁ_/ﬁ\%%%ﬁéﬁﬁx

%m (_g:—i ,02 339, ooo%c) ° I
MAMEEERHBRERETEZGE

AIAE BN EMAERRAREH N RS
BfTR TEEARZBEEZRE
et EisEEE HMEMIRTIS
HAEFRREHNEE T —FERS
HEEA I LBBAHIR B0 EEsEsHh s
Fdio



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. MBRAREEEEREE @

AND POLICIES (conTinuED)
BN TEREEREERE
RRSHIRIR 2 AERESRHEERE

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and

liabilities as recognised at the reporting date may also be BREERDEN T
categorised as follows.
2022 2021
—EZHF BT —F
US$'000 Us$'000
FE7T FE=7T
(i) Financial assets IIEMEE
Non-current assets ERBEE
FAFVOCI BAnBEFAEMEZE
WAZ ERIEE
-Equity instruments —KRATAR - -
Current assets MENEE
FAFVPL FAEMREANBEE
BrEMEE
-Equity investments —RAKE 1,078 10,495
~Unlisted club debentures —JELEMEMES 19 19
—Derivative financial instruments —TEEMIT A - 1,202
1,097 11,716
Financial assets measured at amortised IZEIEK At E 2 SRIE
cost: E
- Cash and bank balances —IB®& KMIRTT4 R 341 613
- Trade receivables —EWE F IR 13 =
- Deposits and other receivables* — & R H AR IR 707 287
1,061 900
2,158 12,616
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

30. HERGEEEEREER @

RENITEHEEREGERE @

(Continued)
2022 2021
—E-_F BT
US$’000 Us$'000
FE FE=7T
(i) Financial liabilities lilEmasE
Current liabilities mENaE
Financial liabilities measured at B ATEC EHEE:
amortised cost:
~Trade payables, accruals and other  —FE{J B Z 8RN~ FEsHER™X
payables REMERIE 4,604 4,496
—Convertible Notes — MR ERE - 2,338
-Shareholder’s loans —KREREXR 13,402 3,597
-Bank borrowings —iR1TEE 8 9
18,014 10,440
Lease liabilities MHEad 302 483
Non-current liabilities ERENER
Financial liabilities measured at B A E EREaE .
amortised cost:
~Shareholder’s loans —REE™ - 7,253
-Bank borrowings —iR1TEE 18 29
18 7,282
Lease liabilities GiEN=$=LE - 301
18,334 18,506
* Excluded from prepayments, deposits and other receivables * GREMBIRARMEEZBARIE

as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial & R H AU FRIEAI861,000% 7T (ZF
position of approximately US$861,000 (2021: approximately Z—1F 1 #9461,000% 70) T EIETANTRIE
US$461,000), an amount of approximately US$154,000 (2021: #9154,000 7 (ZEZ—4 © £9174,000%

approximately US$174,000) represented prepayments. 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND

PROCEDURES

The Group’s management objectives are:

- To ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders:

- To support the Group's stability and growth; and

- To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating
cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities. The Group has not
adopted any formal dividend policy.

Management regards equity attributable to the Company's
shareholders as capital, for capital management purpose.
The amount of capital as at 31 December 2022 amounted
to approximately US$2,597,000 (2021: approximately
US$38,769,000], which management considers as
satisfactory having considered the projected capital
expenditures and the projected strategic investment
opportunities.

31.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. EXMEALRS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
Group had the following material transactions with related
parties:

MRMBRREMMSPAMEE N K&
EREEALE FTIEARS

2022 2021
—B_"F —B_—F
USs$'000 US$'000
F=r T=7T
Implicit interest expenses on EGalloway>z (I ARG iR 2
Convertible Notes to Galloway Eaf SR 129 169
Implicit interest expenses on E)James Mellon3z 1 AT A%
Convertible Notes to James Mellon ERZESHEMX 72 94
Implicit interest expenses on [[lJamie GibsonXz {4 AT #A &
Convertible Notes to Jamie Gibson EHRZREN S 43 56
Interest expenses on shareholder’s MGallowayZ (M IRERERZ
loans to Galloway MBI 561 508
Imputed interest expense on interest-  [EGallowayWt B 5T 2 AR ER
free shareholder’s loan to Galloway EMZEBNEHX 32 43
Management service fee charge bya  BA%ZE/AB]Burnbrae Limited
related company, Burnbrae Limited* WE Z EIERFFE! 16 23

The above transactions were conducted on mutually agreed
terms.

u Mr. James Mellon, a NED and Chairman of the Company, has
beneficial interest in Burnbrae Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other material
related party transactions for the year.

All related party transactions disclosed above are
not connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

The Directors are of opinion that the key management
personnel were the Directors, details of whose emoluments
are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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33.

34.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, a bank deposit amounting to
US$32,000 is a deposit held by the bank as security for the
corporate credit cards provided to be a subsidiary of the
Company (2021: nill.

33.

MR
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R _—_F#+_-_B=+—H 1T HF
32,000 7T (B - —4F : ) JHRIR{T
REUEAERLAEWB AR EIRMEE
ERENIERZERC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 3. FEWERERME
OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing MEEEBEEaEZHIE
activities
Shareholder’s Convertible Lease Bank
loans notes liabilities borrowings Total
kREm  HRRE fEaRk RiTEE )
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEn TE£n TE£n TEn TR
(note 25) (note 24) (note 23) (note 22)
(Hf3E25) (HtzE24) (HzE23) (Fz:22)
At 1 January 2022 R-E-"&#—F—H 10,850 2,338 784 38 14,010
Changes from cash flows: ~ REREZEH)
Proceeds from a RREHNETE
shareholder’s loan 2,520 - - - 2,520
Repayment of Convertible BB RER
Notes - (2,650) - - (2,650)
Repayment of bank BERITEE
borrowings - - S (9) (9)
Interest paid on bank BRITEENE
borrowings - - s S =
Interest paid on Convertible B THRKREZERNE’
Notes' - (175) - - (175)
Payment of principal element HEFEZ AE I
of lease payments - - (481) - (481)
Payment of interest element  HEFIBZFI BB DT
of lease payments - - (39) - (39)
Total changes from financing  REREME 2 LEE)
cash flows 2,520 (2,825) (520) (9) (834)
Exchange differences ERESE - - (1) (3 (&)
* Amount is less than US$1,000. * EE/H01,000%E 7T 0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34 IZEBRERERMT @
OF CASH FLOWS (conTinuED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing MEFHMEEEGEZHE®
activities (Continued)
Shareholder’s Convertible Lease Bank
loans notes liabilities borrowings Total
KRER  HRREER fHEaf RTfEE st
US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
TR FEn TEn TEn FER
(note 25) (note 24) (note 23) (note 22)

(Hfz£25) (Mfz2s) (f&23) (Hf5£22)

Other changes: Hingg) .
e th

Imputed interest expense on - FEtEREERZ
interest-free shareholder's  #EFEHY

loan 32 = = - 32
Interest expenses on RRER 2RSS
shareholder’s loans’ 561 - - - 561
Interest payable on RARRERAE
shareholder’s loans’ (561) - - - (561)
Implicit interest expenses of  AIRREZZRE
Convertible Notes FSH% . 381 - - 381
Interest payable on SRk ES il
Convertible Notes' (B AFIR175,000
(net of interest paid of %7)
US$175,000) - 106 - - 106
Interest expenses of lease ~ HE&BZHERY
liabilities - - 3 - 3
Total other changes Hitle s 32 487 39 - 558
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_&E+_R
=+-8 13,402 - 302 26 13,730
A These items are included in trade payables, deposits 2 ZEIFHRH AL S BIRRERNEY
received, accruals and other payables as presented in the CHEMNBEES BiRd  EHESR
consolidated statement of financial position. H A RIS o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA %5 4R R P o

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34 IZEBRERERMTE @
OF CASH FLOWS (conTinuED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing MEFHMEEEGEZHE®
activities (Continued)
Shareholder's Convertible Lease Bank
loans notes liabilities borrowings Total
RkRER  THRER HEaRE RS 15t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$000 US$'000
TEn TEn TER TR TE7
(note 25) (note 24) note 23) (note 22)

(Hz£25) (MzE24) (M3£23) (M3£22)

At 1 January 2021 N ZE”_—&—f—H 10,807 1947 1,210 b 14,008
Changes from cash flows: ~ REREZEH :
Repayment of bank BERTEE

borrowings - - - (6) (6)
Interest paid on bank ENFTEERE

borrowings - - S - -
Interest paid on Convertible  BYTHRKREZERNE

Notes' - (253) - - (253)
Payment of principal element HEFBZ REH DU

of lease payments - - (451) - (451)
Payment of interest element  HEFBZ BB AT

of lease payments - - (72) - (72

Total changes from financing  MERERE 2 LEE

cash flows - (253) (523) (8] (782)
Exchange differences ERELH - - (5) - (5)
e Amount is less than US$1,000. & £RE/DF1,000FE T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (conTinuED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)

34.

FERERERMT @

RMETBEEREZHE @

Shareholder’s Convertible Lease Bank
loans notes liabilities borrowings Total
KREM HRER REERE RITEE st
US$'000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000 US$000
TEn TEn TE5x TEn TE5n
(note 25) (note 24) (note 23) (note 22)
(F5225) (Ft5E24) (5£23) (f5t22)
Other changes: Hit&#) .
Imputed interest expense on - A5t EREERZ

interest-free shareholder's ~ HEFSFHY

loan 43 = = = 43
Interest expenses on RREDZHEHS

shareholder's loans’ 508 - - - 508
Interest payable on ERREERAE

shareholder’s loans’ (508 - - - (508
Implicit interest expenses of AR EEZ BER

Convertible Notes FSRx - 497 - - 497
Interest payable on SRk E2 Y

Convertible Notes' (R 1 8.253,000

(net of interest paid of %)

US$253,000] = 147 = - 147
Addition of new lease HEMHE - - 30 - 30
Interest expenses of lease ~ HE&BZHERT

liabilities - - 72 - 72
Total other changes Hit#e &g 43 bkt 102 - 789
At 31 December 2021 RZF_—F+_R

=+-H 10,850 2338 784 38 14,010
Major non-cash transactions FEFRERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has no

major non-cash transactions.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group

had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of approximately US$30,000 and US$30,000
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for

warehouse.

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT

REBEE-ZT_"F+"FA=+—HLEF
B xEERETEIFRERS

RBEE_F_—F+_H=+—HL
FE - AEENEERNERHNERE
BERBEBERDHALI0,000%TR
30,000%%758735%@%%0



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(1)

Share Options

The Share Option Scheme (2016) provides the
Company with a flexible means of either retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to the eligible participants
(including Directors, executives, employees,
consultants and service providers of the Group).
The Scheme may, at the discretion of the Directors,
be used in conjunction with any cash-based
compensation, incentive compensation or bonus plan.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all Options to be granted under the
Scheme, when aggregated with any Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of Options to be granted
under other schemes of the Company, shall not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the commencement
date of the Scheme (or such proportion of the issued
share capital of the Company as from time to time
specified in the Listing Rules). Accordingly, the
maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all Options to be granted under the
Scheme shall not exceed 173,725,118 Shares, being:

(]  10% of the total issued Shares as at the
commencement date of the Scheme (being 10
June 2016);

MR

35. MiEmSHRRG RS

(1) ke

BRESE (TF—R) BELRT
BOR IR BB ZER B B
B/ RERHEFNTFEERDEE
(BREEF - AEEZTHRAE
EE BB RRFHER) 5817
REFNERESEMNREZEE
R EHTEALS B —HER -

ARG 2B R 2 FrE B R E
TEMAREZRTZRMOERE 24
RiREAABDEMtEFEH 2
BRERTEMAUREETZEM
RID AR FEBBNRTE A
HHZBETRHBZ10% (LS
RAFT AR EZ A QB BETR
K2z BRI o AL RIFF B
FTREZMEBRERTERERY
REETZRAOHE LRAFEE
173,725,118 A&7 > B :

(i) EABREERHBEEE EZ
T—RENRATRH BETR
PEREZ10%;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1)

Share Options (Continued)

(i) approximately 7.24% and 3.80% of the total
issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 and the
date of this report respectively; and

liii) approximately 6.75% of the enlarged issued
Shares.

The number of Shares issued or issuable upon
exercise of the Options granted to any individual
eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue, subject to the
restrictions on grants to the Directors, chief executive
or substantial shareholders of the Company as set out
in the Listing Rules.

Each grant of Options to any of the Directors,
chief executive or substantial shareholders of the
Company, or any of their respective associates,
under the Scheme must be approved by the INEDs
(excluding the INED(s) who is/are the grantee(s) of the
Option(s)). Where any grant of Options to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or an INED, or any of
their respective associates, would result in the Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options
already granted and to be granted (including Options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of the proposed offer of such grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue,
such further grant of Options must be subject to
Shareholders’ approval.

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open
for acceptance by the eligible participant concerned
for a period of 28 days inclusive of and from the date
on which such offer is made to that eligible participant
or such shorter period as the Directors may in their
absolute discretion determine. An offer which remains
capable of acceptance shall be deemed to have been
accepted upon the date when the duly completed and
signed form of acceptance together with a remittance
for HK$10, being the consideration for the grant
thereof, are received by the Company. The Option shall,
following such acceptance, be deemed to have been
granted and to have taken effect on the date of offer.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1)

Share Options (Continued)

The vesting period for Options shall not be less than
12 months. Options granted under the Scheme entitle
the Option holder to exercise one-third of the Options
at each of the first, second and third anniversary dates
after the date of grant, and subject to fulfilment of
the various targets as specified in the relevant offer
letter in relation to the grant of the individual Options,
provided that the Option holder remains as an eligible
participant. Any entitlements unexercised in any prior
period may be carried forward to the following periods
but, in any event, must be exercised within 10 years
from the date of offer of the relevant Options. All
entitlements of the Options then remain unexercised
will lapse.

The exercise price is to be determined by the Directors
at their absolute discretion when the Option is offered,
provided that in no event shall such price be less than
the highest of:

(i) the nominal amount of the Shares:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on
the date of offer, which must be a business day;
and

liii) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer.

All share options granted are not subject to fulfilment
of performance targets, except for the share options
granted to a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group on 17 December 2020, whose share options are
exercisable after one year but not exceeding 10 years
from the date of the grant and subject to fulfilment
of certain targets. The first exercise date of one-third
of the options granted is after the first anniversary
date of the date of grant, provided that the FDA has
approved the start of the Phase 3 clinical trial for
Fortacin™. The second exercise date of one-third of
the options granted is after an “out-licencing deal”
for the US has been signed and announced. The third
exercise date of one-third of the options granted is
on the successful completion of Study 008 (defined to
mean it meets its primary and secondary end points]
and the FDA has granted the NDA for Fortacin™.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 35. LUREEHENRMNERRES @
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued) (1) RBRRHE @
The FV of the Options granted on 14 October 2020, ’\ﬁ'JEA17_7$+ﬁ +mHEE -
17 December 2020 and 7 June 2021 respectively was BTEREL+T H—I—tEIEZ_v_
calculated by an external valuer using the Binomial FRETtHEENBRENAAE
Model. The assumptions used were as follows: BRI B ERR R A B TR B 5t

BoPmARRMT !

Granted on Granted on Granted on

14 October 17 December 7 June

2020 2020 2021

-I-ﬁ-l-lEl +Z-A+tH ~AtH
& g id

Grant date share price R BHEKRE HK$0.149 HK$0.179 HK$0.179
0.14987T 0.179%& 7 0.17987c

Exercise price 17158 HK$0.149 HK$0.183 HK$0.185
0.1498 7T 0.1838 7T 0.1858 7T

Expected volatility TRHK IS 64% 64% 64%
Contractual option life BRBKESS 10 years 10 years 10 years
104 104 106F

Risk-free rate R X 0.598% 0.754% 1.102%
Expected dividend yield EEEEISHERES 0% 0% 0%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinUED)

(1)

Share Options (Continued)

The expected volatility is based on historical price
volatility of the Company in the past few years. The
risk-free rate is the yields of Hong Kong interest rate
swap curve as extracted from Bloomberg or the yield
of HK$ Hong Kong Sovereign Curve from Bloomberg
as at the grant dates. The dividend yield of the
Company of 0% was adopted.

Based on the FV derived from the above pricing model,
the FV of the Options granted on 14 October 2020, 17
December 2020 and 7 June 2021 was approximately
HK$5,317,000 (or approximately US$686,000],
HK$1,890,000 (or approximately US$244,000) and
HK$276,000 (or approximately US$36,000) respectively.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
has recognised a share-based payment expense
of approximately HK$1,529,000 (or approximately
US$195,000) (2021: approximately HK$3,932,000
or US$507,000) for employees and approximately
HK$116,000 (or approximately US$15,000) (2021:
approximately HK$95,000 or US$12,000] for a
consultant in profit or loss.

The assumptions used in computing the FV of the
Options are based on management’s best estimate.
The valuation of Options is dependent upon a number
of variables using subjective assumptions. Any
changes in the variables may materially affect the
estimation of the FV of an Option.

There was no market vesting condition associated with
the Options granted.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 35. LUREEHENRMNERRES @
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued) (1) RBRRHE @

The movement in the number of Options under the FEIET ZEREHEEEUNT
Scheme are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E-_-_F+ZHA=+—HL
FE
Outstanding
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed at
price  at1January during during the during 31 December
Grantees Date of grantirt HK$ 2022 the year year™e?  the yearinted 2022
RZB_ZF
RZB_ZF +ZR
€ —-A-H =+-A
ERA Rt A8 v AT HA{T FRRE FRITEM FRRYEE W7
Directors 14.10.2020 0.149 25,718,000 - - - 25,718,000
g%
Employees 14.10.2020 0.149 27,000,000 - - (13,000,000 14,000,000
==
17.12.2020 0.183 18,000,000 - - - 18,000,000
Other eligible
participants "4 07.06.2021 0.185 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000
Hita &1
SEE W)
14.10.2020 0.149 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
79,218,000 - - (13,00,0000 66,218,000
Weighted average
exercise price HK$0.1579 - - HK$0.149  HK$0.1596
METHTEE 015797 016987 0.159%#7
For the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2022, BE_Z__F+__A=+—HH
the weighted average remaining contractual life was RITENBEREMS > METHETR
7.19 years (31 December 2021: 8.28 years). BRERBRTI9E (CEI—F+Z

B=+—H:8.28%) ¢
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinUED)

(1)

Share Options (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

MR

35. MmN HIRRES @

(1) BBRRHE @
BE_Z”-_—+-H=+—HL

FE
Outstanding
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed at
price  at1January during during the during 31 December
Grantees Date of grante HK$ 2021 the year year™e?  the yeariced 2021
s
RIBZ—% +ZA
kB8  —A-AH =t—-H
AR b=l AT HATE  FARL FAOEYY FREREEP EROR
Directors 14.10.2020 0.149 25,718,000 = = = 25,718,000
g%
Employees 14.10.2020 0.149 27,000,000 S = (4,000,000 33,000,000%
E&
17.12.2020 0.183 18,000,000 - = = 18,000,000
Other eligible
participant "4 07.06.2021 0.185 - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
Hth&E
SEE W
80,718,000 2,500,000 = (4,000,000 79,218,000
Weighted average
exercise price HK$0.1566 HK$0.185 - HK$0.149  HK$0.1579
EBITER 0156687 018587 014987 0157987

* One of the employees, who was granted 6,000,000
Options, resigned in May 2021. Further details are set

out in note 35(2)(a) to the Financial Statements.

e R F6,000,0000 BERENES
2R —FhBAF T E—
FEEIBEMN B B ERRMIFEI5(2)(a)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 4R R P 5

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

Notes:

1. The consideration for the grant of Options as disclosed
below was HK$10.

(a)

(b)

(c]

On 14 October 2020, the Company granted
62,718,000 Options to Directors and employees
with an exercise price of HK$0.149 per Share
(comprising 25,718,000 Options for Directors and
37,000,000 Options for employees). The closing
price immediately before the date on which the
Options were granted was HK$0.156 per Share.
Further details are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 15 October 2020 and 20
October 2020, respectively.

On 17 December 2020, the Company granted
18,000,000 Options to an employee (being a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group)
with an exercise price of HK$0.183 per Share.
The Options granted are exercisable after one
year but not exceeding 10 years from the date
of the grant and subject to fulfilment of various
targets. The closing price immediately before
the date on which the Options were granted was
HK$0.183 per Share. Further details are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated
18 December 2020 and 30 December 2020,
respectively.

On 7 June 2021, the Company granted 2,500,000
Options to a consultant of a subsidiary of the
Group, who is not a director of the Group, for
the services rendered pursuant to the terms
of the consulting agreement, with an exercise
price of HK$0.185 per Share. The closing price
immediately before the date on which the
Options were granted was HK$0.179 per Share.
Further details are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 8 June 2021 and 15 June
2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinUED)

Share Options (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

No Options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report.

Except for 1(b] above, the Options shall vest over
a period of three years starting from the date of
the grant, entitling the holders to exercise one-
third of the Options at each of the first, second and
third anniversary dates after the date of grant. The
Options granted are exercisable after one year but
not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant. Any
entitlements unexercised in any prior period may be
carried forward to the following periods but, in any
event, must be exercised within 10 years from the date
of grant of the Options. All entitlements then remain
unexercised will lapse.

(a)  On 1 May 2021, 6,000,000 Options were fully
vested upon retirement of an employee in
accordance with the rules of the Scheme and as
approved by the Board. The 6,000,000 Options
are exercisable at any time during the period
from 1 May 2021 to 30 April 2023, being the
expiration date of a three-year adjusted vesting
period for the Options. None of the above
Options were exercised during the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report.

(b)  On 7 June 2022, 833,333 Options granted to a
consultant of a subsidiary of the Group, who is
not a director of the Group, were fully vested
and exercisable in accordance with the rules of
the Scheme. None of the above Options were
exercised during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report.

(c)  On 14 October 2022, 14,572,664 Options granted
to Directors and employees were fully vested
and exercisable in accordance with the rules of
the Scheme. None of the above Options were
exercised during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report.
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1)

Share Options (Continued)

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were vested or
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2022
and up to the date of this report.

On 8 January 2021, 4,000,000 Options were lapsed
upon resignation of an employee in accordance with
the rules of the Scheme. On 17 January 2022, 7 June
2022 and 31 December 2022, 5,000,000 Options,
4,000,000 Options and 4,000,000 Options were
lapsed respectively upon resignation/termination of
three employees in accordance with the rules of the
Scheme.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were lapsed or
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2022
and up to the date of this report.

Besides Directors, executives and employees, other
eligible participants of the Scheme include consultants
and service providers of the Group.

On 11 January 2023, the Company announced the
adjustment to the Options under the Share Options
Scheme.

As a result of the Rights Issue, the Company has
calculated the necessary adjustments [the "Share
Options Adjustment”) to the exercise prices of, and the
number of Shares falling to be issued upon exercise
of, the outstanding Share Options in accordance with
the relevant terms of the Share Option Scheme, Rule
17.03(13) of the Listing Rules, the Supplementary
Guidance on Main Board Listing Rule 17.03(13) and
the Note Immediately After the Rule attached to the
Frequently Asked Question No. 072-2020 issued by
the Stock Exchange on 6 November 2020 (the “Stock
Exchange Supplementary Guidance”).

Immediate upon the Share Options Adjustment, there
were 66,006,441 Options outstanding, representing
approximately 1.45% of the then issued share capital
of the Company and approximately 1.42% of the issued
share capital of the Company as to be enlarged by the
issue and allotment of the said number of new shares
upon full exercise of the outstanding Options after
adjustment.

Details of the Share Options Adjustment, which took
effect from 12 January 2023, being the date on which
the fully-paid Rights Shares were allotted and issued,
are set out in the Directors’ Report of this report.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(2)

Share Awards

On 14 July 2021, the Company announced that, by
way of consideration for two consultants” (Dr Verdin
and Dr Gladyshev, the “Consultants’] entire term of
services, unless otherwise agreed both consultants
will not receive any cash (save for expenses], but
instead both consultants will receive an award of
1,670,000 and 1,110,000 ordinary shares, respectively,
with a nominal value of US$0.01 each to be issued
by the Company ("Consultant Shares”). Subject
to the continuation of the consultants” service for
the Company pursuant to the relevant consulting
agreement, one third of the Consultant Shares will
vest and become issuable on the first, second and
third anniversaries of the award date, being the date
of the relevant consulting agreement. In the event
that any of the consultants’ services cease and/or
the relevant consulting agreement is terminated for
whatever reason prior the satisfaction of any vesting
condition in respect of the Consultant Shares that may
be issued to the consultants, any unvested Consultant
Shares previously awarded shall become null and
void and any unvested Consultant Shares will not be
issued or remain issuable to the Consultants and
the Consultants will have no claim or entitlement
in respect of such Consultant Shares whatsoever.
Management used the share price of HK$0.166 (or
approximately US$0.021) at the grant date (14 July
2021) as the FV of the Share Awards.

On 14 July 2022, one-third of the Consultant Shares
were vested and accordingly 926,666 Shares were
issued to the Consultants (note 20(a)). The closing
price at the date on which the Consultant Shares were
vested was HK$0.122 per Share.

For the year ended 31 December 2022:

- 926,666 shares (2021: no shares) were vested to
the Consultants.

- No shares (2021: no shares] were lapsed or
cancelled.

- The Company has recognised total share-based
payment expenses arising from the share awards
of approximately HK$154,000 (or approximately
US$20,000) (2021: approximately HK$72,000 (or
approximately US$9,000) in profit or loss (note é).
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36. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. fTE:MIA
2022 2021
—EZCHF B —F
USs$’000 Us$'000
FE7T FE7T
Options BE NG - 1,202

The balance as at 31 December 20271 represented unlisted
derivative financial instruments for the right to subscribe
for 494,691 DVP shares, at an exercise price of A$0.675
per share. At 31 December 2021, there was unrealised
gain of approximately US$1,202,000 in respect of derivative
financial instruments (note 6).

As at 31 December 2021, the FV of derivative financial
instruments was calculated by using Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model which is determined by the Directors with the
following key assumptions:

135.78%
0.64% to 0.69%

Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate

An increase in the expected volatility would result in an
increase in the FV of derivative financial instruments,
and vice versa. A higher in the risk-free interest rate
would result in a decrease in the FV of derivative financial
instruments, and vice versa.

As at 31 December 2022, all the unlisted derivative financial
instruments have been exercised to DVP shares and
classified as FAFVPL. There were no additional derivative
financial instruments during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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37. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 37. XEMBARZEH

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

2022 are as follows:

RIE__F+_B=+—HXTEWES

NEZERT !

Country/ Place Percentage of equity interest
of incorporation/ Issued and fully paid attributable to the Company
Name of subsidiary continuation/ operation share capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
AL &R/ FREEMERARER DL
MEBLERE REER/ H BRITRARRS “BCCE TEC-F OIRER
Directly held:
BERA!
Deep Longevity, Inc Cayman Islands Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
US$0.0001
HERE ERRR0.0001% T REER
Regent Coal (Holdings| Limited Cayman Islands Ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
US$1
HEHE LERIET REZR
Regent Financial Services Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$5 million 100% 100%  Provision of
management
services
BRMBRRERAD &8 5,000,000 7T RATEERS
Regent Pacific Group Limited Hong Kong HK$5 million 100% 100%  Provision of
(formerly known as Regent Pacific management
Group (Hong Kong] Limited) services
BRATIEE BB ERAT &4 5,000,005 REBIERE
Plethora Solutions Holdings plc United Kingdom Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Development and
GBP 8,944,977 marketing of
products for the
treatment and
management of
urological disorders
i B8 9449775855 BRAEREELR
RRTRZ EmbE
KEH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M5 ERR M sE

37. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (conTiNuED)

37. FEMBATZEH @

Country/ Place Percentage of equity interest
of incorporation/ Issued and fully paid attributable to the Company
Name of subsidiary continuation/ operation  share capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
AL EE/ FAREERSEZEDL
MEBAERE REAR/ 4 BETRBERE ZEICEF CEC-F OIEEE
Indirectly held:
A .
Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited \ US$10,000 )
RERUES EERR10,000% 7 REER
Deep Longevity Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Developing Al systems
US$100 to track the rate
of aging at the
molecular, cellular,
tissue, organ, system,
physmlog\caland
) . \ cholog\cal evels
REEERRAT &8 EBRI0ET H TRRERS
iRt N ZE% %%
e N
EEEEHRENR
E
Plethora Solutions Limited United Kingdom Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Development and
0GBP 152 marketing of
products for the
treatment and
management of
\ urologma{ disorders
i EBR1505E BEREIZR
%ﬁrrZEquﬁ’%
KE#
Plethora Pharma Solutions Limited  Ireland Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Development and
EUR 100 marketing of
products for the
treatment and
management of
. \ B uro og|ca disorders
ERH ERR1008T VaBEREEMR
%fﬁ/rﬁZéuuﬁﬁ‘*
KREH
The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company RSN EEeRACHERNEEER
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected %j(%; T RERAEESERAaE Y

the results of the year or formed a substantial portion of the
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year or at the end of the year.
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  38. ZxAFIMFHRRR
COMPANY

2022 2021
—E-C BT —F
Notes US$’000 Us$'000
HaE FE7T T=7T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR R 13,450 44,450
Financial assets at fair value BAREEFAEMER
through other comprehensive WAZ ERHEE
income - -
13,450 44,450
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSR B B A B RRIE 4,759 4,289
Financial assets at fair value HRBEmRE AR N EERE
through profit or loss B EmMEE 1,097 10,514
Prepayments, deposits and other  FE{IRNIE ~ < R ELAthfE
receivables &R 594 184
Derivative financial instruments TEERIEA - 1,202
Cash and bank balances BEMIRITAEBR 208 305
6,658 16,494
Current liabilities mENAaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHI B A B FRIE (2,099) (6,158)
Trade payables, deposits received,  FEfTE ZIRR -~ BUIZE
accruals and other payables FESTHBR RN R ELAMFE (T 7R
5 (4,221) (3,796)
Convertible notes AR ERE - (2,338)
Shareholder’s loans REE™ (13,402) (3,597)
(19,722) (15,889)
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (AR EEFE (13,064) 605
Non-current liabilities JEREIARE
Shareholder’s loans REE™R - (7,253)
Net assets BEERE 386 37,802
EQUITY g
Capital and reserves BRR#EE
Share capital %N 20 24,004 23,994
Reserves = 21 (23,618) 13,808
Total equity RETRAREE 386 37,802
The statement of financial position of the Company was KA ERARKEESTEN 2=
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2023 and FZAZF+HAHEMETHUATALZRS
was signed on its behalf. BRE-
James Mellon Jamie Gibson
Chairman Executive Director
FE HITEE
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39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 26 September 2022, the Company announced the
proposed Rights Issue on the basis of one rights share for
every one issued share and the connected transaction in
relation to the underwriting agreement and the Set Off,
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 24 November
2022, the proposed Rights Issue, the underwriting
agreement and the Set Off were approved by the
Shareholders. The proposed Rights Issue was completed on
12 January 2023.

Details of the Rights Issue are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 26 September 2022, 17 October 2022,
31 October 2022, 24 November 2022, 3 January 2023 and
11 January 2023, the Company’s circular dated 31 October

2022 and the Company's prospectus dated 13 December
2022.

On 29 March 2023, the Board issued an announcement -
containing the following items:

Proposed change of Company name

al  to change the name of the Company from “Endurance
RP Limited” back to “Regent Pacific Group Limited”;
and

b)  to adopt a foreign name in Chinese of "BI& KX FF5%E
EAPRAT" to replace the existing Chinese name of
the Company, "EEREBAMRAE", which is currently
used for identification purposes only.

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(CONTINUED)

Proposed capital reorganisation

al

b)

c)

dJ

the Share Consolidation whereby every twenty (20)
issued and unissued Shares of par value of USs$0.01
each will be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated
Share of par value of US$0.20 each;

the Capital Reduction whereby the par value of each
issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from
US$0.20 to US$0.001 by cancelling the paid-up capital
to the extent of US$0.199 on each issued Consolidated
Share;

the Share Subdivision whereby immediately following
the Capital Reduction, each of the authorised but
unissued Consolidated Shares with par value of
US$0.20 each be subdivided into 200 Adjusted Shares
with par value of US$0.001 each; and

the credit arising from the Capital Reduction will be
applied towards offsetting the Accumulated Losses in
a manner as permitted by all applicable laws and the
existing Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company and as the Board considers appropriate.
The balance of the credit (if any) of the Share Premium
Account after offsetting the Accumulated Losses
will be applied by the Company in any manner as
permitted by all applicable laws and the existing
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company.

Capitalised terms herein refer to the context of the
announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2023 unless
expressed otherwise.

MR

39. EHEBEE @

BERAEH

b)
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DEFINITIONS
HE

In this final report, the following expressions shall have the
following meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

2021 Annual Report
—FFR

=

2022 Annual Report
TR FER

2022 AGM
TR CFRFBFRG

2023 AGM
TETFREBFEAE

Al
ATEBRE

ASX

/7" lj |

85525 Fi

ATO
BN

Armanino

Armanino

Audit Committee
EZEESY

Board or Board of Directors

o

CEO
THAB S

ceu
REEEEN

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT

BUTHEE:

the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021

ANDBE_E-—H+_A-+HLEECEERS

the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022

ARBBEE__F+A-t+HLEFEZFERS

the last annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 May 2022
ARBAR B _FRR -+ RHBRTZRIOBKRRBERS

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 1 June 2023

KABWWNR T EZ_ = B—HETZREBFAE

artificial intelligence
ATLEBE

Australian Securities Exchange

BRSSP

Australian Taxation Office

BN ES R

Armanino LLP
Armanino LLP

Audit Committee of the Company
TABDEREEG

Board of Directors of the Company

ARBEEG

Chief Executive Officer
THBAEE

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

i ERAIMER+ O EEERTR

cash generating unit
REELEN

REFHRA BFXEFBIEEIN TIHEEA



Companies Ordinance
NSIRES0

Company

/N

Convertible Note(s)

AR EIE

COVID-19
20198 KRS IR

DVP

DVP

Director(s)

5%

DLI or Deep Longevity
DLIZDeep Longevity

EMA
BMNEREER

+

s

FAFVOCI
BARBESAEM
EHBAZEHEE

FAFVPL
EERBEDREAANEE
RIEZTRMEE

DEFINITIONS
E

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong]
NEMRG (BB EGIE6225)

Endurance RP Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited Lliabilities, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and are also traded on the Open Market (Freiverkehr] of the
Frankfrut Stock Exchange

ERERFRAE —RINHSHESEMAILZARRE  HRM I
B £ MR AR e /858 55 X B P AR 5 (Freiverkehr) E B

the 4% coupon unlisted convertible notes due 2022 issued by the
Company on 23 August 2019 which are convertible into new Shares,
details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
23 August 2019
RARBEZE-—AFENBI+=ZHFT R T __FEHRZI%ER
FLEHAHMRER WERBAIRBAMKRO  FBHHNETRATHHRR
—E-NAFENAZH=HHAM

novel coronavirus disease of 2019
201937 B BN R S/

DEVELOP Global Limited, a public listed company incorporated in
Australia, whose shares are listed on ASX (ASX: DVP), formerly known
as Venturex Resources Limited

DEVELOP Global Limited» —ZRIBEMEMALZ ETHRF > ERMH I
ENESRZ P B CRNEE S Z PR (DVP) » BifBVenturex Resources
Limited

Director(s) of the Company
RRBZESE

Deep Longevity, Inc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Deep Longevity, Inc’ BARB Z—REEMBE LT

European Medicines Agency
BNEREER

financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
BARBEFAEMEARAZEHEE
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

ERBEmREANBEREZEHEE
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DEFINITIONS
(-

FDA
FERRKREREEEER

FV
NRBEE

FVLCOD
ARBERHERE

G&A
—RRRITE

Galloway
Galloway

Grant Sherman
ek

Group
AEHE

HKAS(s)
Bl

HKFRS(s)
EBPHEHREAER

HKICPA
EBGEMAE

Hong Kong
BH

Indigo

Indigo

INED(s)
BIUFATES

IP
R 8t E

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT

The Food and Drug Administration of the US
FEEmAEREEEER

fair value

NAREE

Fair value less costs of disposal

ARBERHERE

general and administrative

—RR AT

Galloway Limited, a private limited liability company which is indirectly
wholly-owned by James Mellon, a substantial shareholder who is also a
Non-Executive Director of the Company and Chairman of the Board
Galloway Limited> —RKHFERK R IJames Mellon ((FABAR QB IERITESE
REFGIFE BRE2EEEZMABRRF

Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited
FEMERRAT

the Company and its subsidiaries
KRB RENBAE

Hong Kong Accounting Standard(s)
BAGTEL

new or revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard(s)
eI HAREST BB BREER]

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
BAGHAE

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBFHTHE

Indigo Securities Limited, a private limited liability company which is
indirectly wholly-owned by James Mellon

Indigo Securities Limited > —ZKHJames MellonEZEE2E#HE ZAABR
NC]

Independent Non-Executive Director(s) of the Company
KRB ZEIIENITES

intellectual property

R ERE



Listing Rules
EMmRA

Macau

P

MHRA
MHRA

Model Code
1ZZESTHY

NDA
MEERR

NED(s)
EHMITEE

NMPA
EREREEEER

an

Option(s)

BERC

Orient EuroPharma
RELARBE
PEBEQ™
PREETHEE™
Plethora

Plethora

PRC or China
H

RCT
PE 1% 1E B PR3 BR

DEFINITIONS
E

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B3PR8 35 L AR A

Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEIRFISRIITHE

Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency
EokrEREEKE

The Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
HNRLEHRANE+2Z EHETAESTETESXZHRETH]

New Drug Application
WEEERR

Non-Executive Director(s) of the Company

ERBIIFPITES

the National Medical Products Administration
BEREREESER

option(s) granted and exercisable under the Share Option Scheme
(201¢6)
REBEBRESE (TN RUKAI FITHEZBRE

Orient EuroPharma Co., Ltd, the Group's commercial strategic partner
for Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macau and other selected countries in Asia
RELAKRBERMNBRRE RAEENGE B HF RPI R INEME
T Bl ZR AV FE R R 1

Premature Ejaculation Bothersome Evaluation Questionnaire
FREBFEEE

Plethora Solutions Holdings plc, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company

Plethora Solutions Holdings plc’ BARAB Z—KEEHB AT

The People’s Republic of China
FEARHEME

randomized clinical trial
P& C B PR 5 B
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DEFINITIONS
(-

R&D
b 2%

Rights Issue

it

Rights Share(s]
adicdican)

Securities Dealing Code

B 5 THI

Set Off

i ic)

SFO
B RHE RS

Share(s)

ah)

Shareholder(s)
R 2

ENDURANCE RPLIMITED SR &EB AR AT

research and development

IS Y

the rights issue on the basis of one rights share for every one existing
share held on the record date
BRaEnAReRA - RRERMELX —RERKRMH 2 BEEETHK

the new share(s) allotted and issued under the Rights Issue
R AR O 38 R B 1T 2 M IR 1D

the code governing securities transactions by Directors and employees
of the Group, which was adopted on no less exacting the terms and
required standard set out in the Model Code
EECEEESRERETESNZNTA DERBABRETRIFHE
PRI E R EE TR

the set off of the total amount of subscription monies payable by
Galloway as the underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo for the Rights
Shares to which they are entitled to and/or are required to subscribe
for (if any) under the Rights Issue and the underwriting agreement
respectively, against the equivalent amount of the shareholder’s
loans and accrued interest thereon on a dollar-to-dollar basis on the
completion date of the Rights Issue

REIESEA B ER > Galloway (fEZ B85 7) ~ James Mellon&zIndigoRh iR #R 1H
RREHEHED B, SBERHE (NFH) Z MR FTRE ([ R E IS
MR REREBEEMH S ERRENKESFE

The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)
BHEKRIERM (FEERBE)

ordinary share(s), with voting rights, of US$0.01 each in the capital
of the Company, which are listed on the Stock Exchange and are
also traded on the Open market (Freiverkehr] of the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange

ARBRAFEREELNIET MARREZEEBRD  ILFRMD N
R LT WHER R REF R Z M ART S Freiverkehr) E &

Holder(s) of the Share(s)
BRinziFEE A



Share Options Scheme (2016) or
Scheme

BRRETE (TZ—7X) HEtE

Stock Exchange

Bk 32 PR

UK
e

us
E[E

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical

BB B

A$

Us$
ETT

DEFINITIONS
E

the share option scheme of the Company named the “Share Option
Scheme (2016)" adopted on 10 June 2016, with Shareholders” approval
at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on 8 June 2016,
which was followed by the grant by the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange on 10 June 2016 of the listing of, and permission to deal in,
the Shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the Options to be
granted under the scheme

RABRZE—ARERATARM &5 BRESE C2—N12BR
#st 8 ZE BN ARAN ZE—REARNBNBETZREFI KRG L&
IRERAE MK —T—RENATHEBMIAA EHEE ] ERRES
R BREETEMS TETZRNMLELTRESE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BRMERZMAERAT

the United Kingdom
e

the United States
EHREREH

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a wholly controlled company of
Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co. Ltd.
BRI CBREEREREEIRF R LEEERE EE) RHBRA

B ZEERAT

Australian dollars, the lawful currency in Australia

BINEEGBRTT

European dollars, the lawful currency in the European regions
BUMNMh & % E G HEBRIT

Great British pounds, the lawful currency in the UK
REDEE SRR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency in Hong Kong
BHLAEEBHET

US dollars, the lawful currency in the US
EBAEEBET
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

2[FER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Jamie Gibson (Chief Executive Officer/

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

David Comba
Julie Oates
Mark Searle

COMPANY SECRETARY
Winnie Lui

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

BDO Limited

25th Floor, Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Citibank, N.A.

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104 Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

8th Floor, Henley Building
5 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Tengis Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

LBS Communications Consulting Limited

WEBSITE

www.endurancerp.com

STOCK CODE
575

ENDURANCERPLIMITED ERE&EEER AT

BITESR
Jamie Gibson (77 EC#E %)
JEHITESR

James Mellon (/%)
Jayne Sutcliffe

BIEMITESR

David Comba
Julie Oates
Mark Searle

FEEEHR11158
KL 02518

FEERIRT
TEIEIRTT
s SEE

P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman

KY1-1104 Cayman Islands

FRBER
FEERMES

&%
FRIE 2[5 A R59E
EHERNE L

RRfBREIRE
SEEENARAT

EBERBRE 165
BREEETOT7E

REERFRERMN
ERBEAENERAR
AL

WWW.endurancerp.com

R 1X5%
575



[Andurance

LONGEVITY

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED
SEEEEMRAF

8th Floor, Henley Building, 5 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong
FRAPIRER/KEPSREIGAESIE

Telephone |:% : (852) 2514 6111
Facsimile EISCfSEL :  (852) 2810 4792
Email EFIH : info@endurancerp.com

Website 481k : www.endurancerp.com
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